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FLORES, et al.,

V.

AUSTIN, et al.,

Case 3:20ac¢-:00656003 DR SIS I Ent 897 0Bitd 0BKB/22y: Rageiy & Z78f IHage 1 of 2

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Case No.: 20-CV-000656-JO-DEB

ORDER DISMISSING FIRST
AMENDED COMPLAINT AGAINST
DEFENDANTS JUDGE WOHLFEIL
AND F&B DEFENDANTS WITH
PREJUDICE AND FOR LACK OF
Defendants.| STANDING WITH LEAVE TO
AMEND

Plaintiffs,

//
//
//
//
//
//

Defendants Michael Weinstein, Scott H. Toothacre, Elyssa Kulas, Rachel M.
Prendergast, and Ferris & Britton, APC (collectively, “F&B Defendants”) and Defendant
Judge Joel R. Wohlfeil (“Judge Wohlfeil”) have filed motions to dismiss Plaintiffs’ First
Amended Complaint with prejudice. Dkts. 21, 27.

WohlfeilSER-4
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Case 3:20ac¢-:00656003 DR S I Ent 897 0Bitd 0BKB/22y: Rageiy & A/of IHage 2 of 2

The Court held oral argument on the motions on March 23, 2022. For the reasons
stated on the record during the oral argument, the motions to dismiss are GRANTED. The
First Amended Complaint is hereby DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE against Judge
Wohlfeil and F&B Defendants.

The Court DISMISSES the First Amended Complaint against the remaining
defendants without prejudice for lack of standing. Plaintiffs may file an amended

complaint by May 11, 2022.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: March 23, 2022

"

Hm(cy;bﬁ\ﬂnsmk Ohta
United States District Judge

WohlfeilSER-5
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SUSANNE C. KOSKI, State Bar No. 176555
CARMELA E. DUKE, State Bar No. 270348
Superior Court of California, County of San Diego
1100 Union Street

San Diego, California 92101

Telephone: (619) 844-2382

Attorneys for Defendant, The Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil,
Judge of the Superior Court of California, County of

San Diego
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
ANDREW FLORES, et al., Case No. 20-cv-0656-TWR-DEB
Plaintiffs, DEFENDANT JUDGE JOEL R.
WOHLFEIL’S REQUEST FOR
v, JUDICIAL NOTICE IN SUPPORT OF
MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST
GINA M. AUSTIN. et al. AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH
’ ’ PREJUDICE
Defendants.

Date: May 5, 2021

Time: 1:30 p.m.

Crtrm: 3A (Schwartz)

Judge: The Honorable Todd W. Robinson

[NO ORAL ARGUMENT
REQUESTED]

Defendant the Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil, Judge of the Superior Court of
California, County of San Diego, respectfully request the Court to take judicial notice

of the following documents pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 201:
Exhibit A: Complaint in Geraci v. Cotton (“Cotton I’’), San Diego

Superior Court (“SDSC”) Case No. 37-2017-00010073-
CU-BC-CTL;

REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE - 1

WohlfeilSER-6 20cv0656
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Exhibit B:

Exhibit C:

Exhibit D:

Exhibit E:

Exhibit F:

Exhibit G:

Exhibit H:

Exhibit I:

DATED:

January 13, 2021

Notice of Case Assignment for Cotton I, SDSC Case No.
37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL;

Judgment on Jury Verdict in Cotton I, SDSC Case No.
37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL;

Remittitur in Cotton I, SDSC Case No. 37-2017-
00010073-CU-BC-CTL;

Judgment After Order Denying Motion for Issuance of
Peremptory Writ of Mandate in Cotfon v. Geraci
(“Cotton II’), SDSC Case No. 37-2017-00037675-CU-
WM-CTL;

Remittitur in Cotton II, SDSC Case No. 37-2017-
00037675-CU-WM-CTL;

Case Summary of Parties in Cotton I and Cotton 11,
SDSC Case Nos. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL and
37-2017-00037675-CU-WM-CTL;

Minute Order dated June 27, 2019 in Cotton I, SDSC
Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL; and

Ex Parte Application in Cotton I, SDSC Case No. 37-
2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL.

SUSANNE C. KOSKI

Superior Court of California, County of San
Diego

By: s/ Carmela E. Duke

CARMELA E. DUKE
Attorneys for Defendant, The Honorable Joel
R. Wohlfeil, Judge of the Superior Court of
California, County of San Diego

REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE - 2

WohlfeilSER-7 20cv0656
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ELECTROHN ALL"I" FILED
Superior Court of California,
Courty of San Diego

032172017 at 10:11:00 A

Clerk of the Superior Court
By Cara Brennan,Deputy Clerk

FERRIS & BRITTON
A Professional Corporation
Michael R. Weinstein (SBN 106464)
Scott H. Toothacre (SBN 146530)
501 West Broadway, Suite 1450
San Diego, California 92101
Telephone: (619) 233-3131
Fax: (619) 232-9316
mweinstein@ferrisbritton.com
stoothacre@ferrisbritton.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
LARRY GERACI
SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION
LARRY GERAC]I, an individual, Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BE-CTL
Plaintiff, PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT FOR:
V. 1. BREACH OF CONTRACT;
2. BREACH OF THE COVENANT OF
DARRYL COTTON, an individual, and GOOD FAITH AND FAIR
DOES 1 through 10, inclusive, DEALING;
3. SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE; and
Defendants. 4. DECLARATORY RELIEF.

Plaintiff, LARRY GERACI, alleges as follows:

1. Plaintiff, LARRY GERACI (“GERACI”), is, and at all times mentioned was, an
individual residing within the County of San Diego, State of California.

2. Defendant, DARRYL COTTON (“COTTON?), is, and at all times mentioned was, an
individual residing within the County of San Diego, State of California.

3. The real estate purchase and sale agreement entered into between Plaintiff GERACI and
Defendant COTTON that is the subject of this action was entered into in San Diego County, California,
and concerns real property located at 6176 Federal Blvd., City of San Diego, San Diego County,
California (the “PROPERTY™).

4. Currently, and at all times since approximately 1998, Defendant COTTON owned the
PROPERTY.

5. Plaintiff GERACI does not know the true names or capacities of the defendants sued

herein as DOES 1 through 20 and therefore sue such defendants by their fictitious names. Plaintiff is

1
WohlfeilSER-9 Exhibit A

PLAINTIFF’ S COMPLAINT 1
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informed and believe and based thereon allege that each of the fictitiously-named defendants is in some
way and manner responsible for the wrongful acts and occurrences herein alleged, and that damages as
herein alleged were proximately caused by their conduct. Plaintiff will seek leave of Court to amend
this complaint to state the true names and/or capacities of such fictitiously-named defendants when the
same are ascertained.

6. Plaintiff alleges on information and belief that at all times mentioned herein, each and
every defendant was the agent, employee, joint venture, partner, principal, predecessor, or successor in
interest and/or the alter ego of each of the remaining defendants, and in doing the acts herein alleged,
were acting, whether individually or through their duly authorized agents and/or representatives, within
the scope and course of said agencies, service, employment, joint ventures, partnerships, corporate
structures and/or associations, whether actual or ostensible, with the express and/or implied knowledge,
permission, and consent of the remaining defendants, and each of them, and that said defendants
ratified and approved the acts of all of the other defendants.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
7. On November 2, 2016, Plaintiff GERACI and Defendant COTTON entered into a

written agreement for the purchase and sale of the PROPERTY on the terms and conditions stated
therein. A true and correct copy of said written agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

8. On or about November 2, 2016, GERACI paid to COTTON $10,000.00 good faith
earnest money to be applied to the sales price of $800,000.00 and to remain in effect until the license,
known as a Conditional Use Permit or CUP is approved, all in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the written agreement.

9. Based upon and in reliance on the written agreement, Plaintiff GERACI has engaged
and continues to engage in efforts to obtain a CUP for a medical marijuana dispensary at the
PROPERTY, as contemplated by the parties and their written agreement. The CUP process is a long,
time-consuming process, which can take many months if not years to navigate. Plaintiff GERACI’s
efforts include, but have not been limited to, hiring a consultant to coordinate the CUP efforts as well as
hiring an architect. Plaintiff GERACI estimates he has incurred expenses to date of more than

$300,000.00 on the CUP process, all in reliance on the written agreement for the purchase and sale of

2 .
WohlfeilSER-10 ... |
PLAINTIFF’ S COMPLAINT
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the PROPERTY to him by Defendant COTTON.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(For Breach of Contract against Defendant COTTON and DOES 1-5)

10.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 9 above.

11.  Defendant COTTON has anticipatorily breached the contract by stating that he will not
perform the written agreement according to its terms. Among other things, COTTON has stated that,
contrary to the written terms, the parties agreed to a down payment or earnest money in the amount of
$50,000.00 and that he will not perform unless GERACI makes a further down payment. COTTON
has also stated that, contrary to the written terms, he is entitled to a 10% ownership interest in the
PROPERTY and that he will not perform unless GERACI transfers to him a 10% ownership interest.
COTTON has also threatened to contact the City of San Diego to sabotage the CUP process by
withdrawing his acknowledgment that GERACI has a right to possession or control of the PROPERTY
if GERACI will not accede to his additional terms and conditions and, on March 21, 2017, COTTON
made good on his threat when he contacted the City of San Diego and attempted to withdraw the CUP
application.

12.  As result of Defendant COTTON’s anticipatory breach, Plaintiff GERACI will suffer
damages in an amount according to proof or, alternatively, for return of all sums expended by GERACI
in reliance on the agreement, including but not limited to the estimated $300,000.00 or more expended
to date on the CUP process for the PROPERTY.

- SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(For Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing
against Defendant COTTON and DOES 1-5)

13.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 12 above.

14.  Each contract has implied in it a covenant of good faith and fair dealing that neither
party will undertake actions that, even if not a material breach, will deprive the other of the benefits of

the agreement. By having threatened to contact the City of San Diego to sabotage the CUP process by

3
WohlfeilSER-11  Exhibit /

PLAINTIFF’ S COMPLAINT
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1 || withdrawing his acknowledgment that Plaintiff GERACI has a right to possession or control of the
2 ||PROPERTY if GERACI will not accede to his additional terms and conditions, Defendant COTTON
3 || has breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.
4 15.  Asresult of Defendant COTTON’s breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair
5 || dealing, Plaintiff GERACI will suffer damages in an amount according to proof or, alternatively, for
6 || return of all sums expended by GERACI in reliance on the agreement, including but not limited to the
7 || estimated $300,000.00 or more expended to date on the CUP process for the PROPERTY.
8 THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
9 (For Specific Performance against Defendants COTTON and DOES 1-5)
10 16.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations contained in
11 || paragraphs 1 through 15 above.
12 " 17.  The aforementioned written agreement for the sale of the PROPERTY is a valid and
13 || binding contract between Plaintiff GERACI and Defendant COTTON.
14 18.  The aforementioned written agreement for the sale of the PROPERTY states the terms
15 |[and conditions of the agreement with sufficient fullness and clarity so that the agreement is susceptible
16 || to specific performance.
17 19.  The aforementioned written agreement for the purchase and sale of the PROPERTY is a
18 || writing that satisfies the statute of frauds.
19 20.  The aforementioned written agreement for the purchase and sale of the PROPERTY is
20 || fair and equitable and is supported by adequate consideration.
21 21.  Plaintiff GERACI has duly performed all of his obligations for which performance has
22 || been required to date under the agreement. GERACI is ready and willing to perform his remaining
23 || obligations under the agreement, namely: a) to continue with his good faith efforts to obtain a CUP for
24 ||a medical marijuana dispensary; and b) if he obtains CUP approval for a medical marijuana dispensary
25 || thus satisfying that condition precedent, then to pay the remaining $790,000.00 balance of the purchase
26 || price.
27 22.  Defendant COTTON is able to specifically perform his obligations under the contract,
28 || namely: a) to not enter into any other contracts to sell or otherwise encumber the PROPERTY;; and b) if
4
WohlfeilSER-12  Exhibit
PLAINTIFF’ S COMPLAINT
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Plaintiff GERACI obtains CUP approval for a medical marijuana dispensary thus satisfying that
condition precedent, then to deliver title to the PROPERTY to GERACI or his assignee in exchange for
receipt of payment from GERACI or assignee of the remaining $790,000.00 balance of the purchase
price.

23.  Plaintiff GERACI has demanded that Defendant COTTON refrain from taking actions
that interfere with GERACI’s attempt to obtain approval of a CUP for a medical marijuana dispensary
and to specifically perform the contract upon satisfaction of the condition that such approval is in fact
obtained.

24.  Defendant COTTON has indicated that he has or will interfere with Plaintiff GERACI’s
attempt to obtain approval of a CUP for a medical marijuana dispensary and that COTTON does not
intend to satisfy his obligations under the written agreement to deliver title to the PROPERTY upon
satisfaction of the condition that GERACI obtain approval of a CUP for a medical marijuana
dispensary and tender the remaining balance of the purchase price.

25.  The aforementioned written agreement for the purchase and sale of the PROPERTY
constitutes a contract for the sale of real property and, thus, Plaintiff GERACI’s lack of a plain, speedy,
and adequate legal remedy is presumed.

26.  Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff GERACI is entitled to an order and judgment thereon
specifically enforcing the written agreement for the purchase and sale of the PROPERTY from
Defendant COTTON to GERACI or his assignee in accordance with its terms and conditions.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(For Declaratory Relief against Defendants COTTON and DOES 1-5)

27.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 14 above.

28.  An actual controversy has arisen and now exists between Defendant COTTON, on the
one hand, and Plaintiff GERACI, on the other hand, in that COTTON contends that the written
agreement contains terms and condition that conflict with or are in addition to the terms stated in the

written agreement. GERACI disputes those conflicting or additional contract terms.

WohlfeilSER-13  gyhibit
PLAINTIFF’ S COMPLAINT
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29.  Plaintiff GERACI desires a judicial determination of the terms and conditions of the
written agreement as well as of the rights, duties, and obligations of Plaintiff GERACI and defendants
thereunder in connection with the purchase and sale of the PROPERTY by COTTON to GERACI or
his assignee. Such a declaration is necessary and appropriate at this time so that each party may
ascertain their rights, duties, and obligations thereunder.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against Defendants as follows:

On the First and Second Causes of Action:

1. For compensatory damages in an amount in excess of $300,000.00 according to proof at
trial.

On the Third Cause of Action:

2. For specific performance of the written agreement for the purchase and sale of the
PROPERTY according to its terms and conditions; and

3. If specific performance cannot be granted, then damages in an amount in excess of
$300,000.00 according to proof at trial.

On the Fourth Cause of Action:

4. For declaratory relief in the form of a judicial determination of the terms and conditions
of the written agreement and the duties, rights and obligations of each party under the written
agreement.

On all Causes of Action:

5. For temporary and permanent injunctive relief as follows: that Defendants, and each of
them, and each of their respective directors, officers, representatives, agents, employees, attorneys, and
all persons acting in concert with or participating with them, directly or indirectly, be enjoined and
restrained from taking any action that interferes with Plaintiff GERACI’ efforts to obtain approval of a
Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for a medical marijuana dispensary at the PROPERTY;

6. For costs of suit incurred herein; and
i
/11
i
6

WohlfeilSER-14  Exhibit |
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Dated: March 21, 2017

T For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

FERRIS & BRITTON,
A Professional Corporation

o W/W% i L,

Michael R. Weinstein
Scott H. Toothacre

Attorneys for Plaintiff

se 3:20-6a60638-FYORSDEB 092e0eDt 22-709B46d DRIEBIAL 1RaBat. 1654f 1P&Ege 10 of 88
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11/02/2016

Agreement between Larry Geraci or assignee and Darryl Cotton:

Darryl Cotton has agreed to sell the property located at 6176 Federal Bivd, CA for a sum of $800,000.00
to Larry Geraci or assignee on the approval of a Marijuana Dispensary. (cup for a dispensary)

Ten Thousand dollars (cash) has been given in good faith earnest money to be applied to the sales price
of $800,000.00 and to remain in effect until license is approved. Darryl Cotton has agreed to not enter
into any other contacts on this property.

N

rryl Cotton

Exhibit A

WohlfeilSER-17 9
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT

A notary public or other officer completing this
certificate verifies only the identity of the individual
who signed the document to which this certificate is
attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or
validity of that document.

State of Californi .
County of %ﬂ.ﬂ btéa() )

On H[;ny;. e ¢ 2’ 2DI(g before me, SesKida Ny w U Moty ‘R(Ut

(insert name and title of the officer) J
personally appeared i YAV %f ‘ QﬁlDY\ and  Lariy C’I{ZM .
who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s] whose name(s) is/are

subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in
his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the
person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.

(2

| certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing
paragraph is true and correct.

JESSICA NEWELL

\ "TTADA  Commission # 2002598
WITNESS my hand and official seal. &1 Notary Public - Californla

San Diego County:
Signaturg” /{/éM“ W (Seal)

Exhibit A

WohlfeilSER-18 10



Case 3:20-6460638-FY0RSDEB0I2¢ut et 22709B#6d DAIERIAL 1Pageali® 1668 1Pdge 14 of 88

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO
STREET ADDRESS: 330 W Broadway

MAILING ADDRESS: 330 W Broadway

CITY AND ZIP CODE:  San Diego, CA 92101-3827

BRANCH NAME: Central

TELEPHONE NUMBER: (619) 450-7073

PLAINTIFF(S) / PETITIONER(S): Larry Geraci

DEFENDANT(S) / RESPONDENT(S): Darryl Cotton

LARRY GERACI VS DARRYL COTTON [IMAGED]

NOTICE OF CASE ASSIGNMENT CASE NUMBER:
and CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL

CASE ASSIGNMENT
Judge: Joel R. Wohlfeil Department: C-73

COMPLAINT/PETITION FILED: 03/21/2017

TYPE OF HEARING SCHEDULED DATE TIME DEPT JUDGE
Civil Case Management Conference 08/25/2017 01:30 pm C-73 Joel R. Wohlfeil

A case management statement must be completed by counsel for all parties or self-represented litigants and timely filed with the court
at least 15 days prior to the initial case management conference. (San Diego Local Rules, Division 1l, CRC Rule 3.725).

All counsel of record or parties in pro per shall appear at the Case Management Conference, be familiar with the case, and be fully
prepared to participate effectively in the hearing, including discussions of ADR* options.

IT IS THE DUTY OF EACH PLAINTIFF (AND CROSS-COMPLAINANT) TO SERVE A COPY OF THIS NOTICE WITH THE
COMPLAINT (AND CROSS-COMPLAINT), THE ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR) INFORMATION FORM (SDSC
FORM #CIV-730), A STIPULATION TO USE ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR) (SDSC FORM #CIV-359), AND OTHER
DOCUMENTS AS SET OUT IN SDSC LOCAL RULE 2.1.5.

ALL COUNSEL WILL BE EXPECTED TO BE FAMILIAR WITH SUPERIOR COURT RULES WHICH HAVE BEEN PUBLISHED AS
DIVISION II, AND WILL BE STRICTLY ENFORCED.

TIME STANDARDS: The following timeframes apply to general civil cases and must be adhered to unless you have requested and
been granted an extension of time. General civil cases consist of all civil cases except: small claims proceedings,
civil petitions, unlawful detainer proceedings, probate, guardianship, conservatorship, juvenile, parking citation
appeals, and family law proceedings.

COMPLAINTS: Complaints and all other documents listed in SDSC Local Rule 2.1.5 must be served on all named defendants.

DEFENDANT’S APPEARANCE: Defendant must generally appear within 30 days of service of the complaint. (Plaintiff may
stipulate to no more than 15 day extension which must be in writing and filed with the Court.) (SDSC Local Rule 2.1.6)

JURY FEES: In order to preserve the right to a jury trial, one party for each side demanding a jury trial shall pay an advance jury fee in
the amount of one hundred fifty dollars ($150) on or before the date scheduled for the initial case management conference in
the action.

COURT REPORTERS: Court reporters are not provided by the Court in Civil cases. See policy regarding normal availability and
unavailability of official court reporters at www.sdcourt.ca.gov.

*ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR): THE COURT ENCOURAGES YOU TO CONSIDER UTILIZING VARIOUS
ALTERNATIVES TO TRIAL, INCLUDING MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION, PRIOR TO THE CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE.
PARTIES MAY FILE THE ATTACHED STIPULATION TO USE ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (SDSC FORM #CIV-359).

SDSC CIV-721 (Rev. 01-17) Page: 1
NOTICE OF CASE ASSIGNMENT Exhibit B
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Superior Court of California
County of San Diego

NOTICE OF ELIGIBILITY TO eFILE
AND ASSIGNMENT TO IMAGING DEPARTMENT

This case is eligible for eFiling. Should you prefer to electronically file documents, refer to
General Order in re procedures regarding electronically imaged court records, electronic filing,
and access to electronic court records in civil and probate cases for rules and procedures or
contact the Court's eFiling vendor at www.onelegal.com for information.

This case has been assigned to an Imaging Department and original documents attached to
pleadings filed with the court will be imaged and destroyed. Original documents should not be
filed with pleadings. If necessary, they should be lodged with the court under California Rules of
Court, rule 3.1302(b).

On August 1, 2011 the San Diego Superior Court began the Electronic Filing and Imaging Pilot
Program (“Program”). As of August 1, 2011 in all new cases assigned to an Imaging Department all
filings will be imaged electronically and the electronic version of the document will be the official
court file. The official court file will be electronic and accessible at one of the kiosks located in the
Civil Business Office and on the Internet through the court’s website.

You should be aware that the electronic copy of the filed document(s) will be the official court
record pursuant to Government Code section 68150. The paper filing will be imaged and held for
30 days. After that time it will be destroyed and recycled. Thus, you should not attach any
original documents to pleadings filed with the San Diego Superior Court. Original documents
filed with the court will be imaged and destroyed except those documents specified in
California Rules of Court, rule 3.1806. Any original documents necessary for a motion hearing or
trial shall be lodged in advance of the hearing pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 3.1302(b).

It is the duty of each plaintiff, cross-complainant or petitioner to serve a copy of this notice with
the complaint, cross-complaint or petition on all parties in the action.

On all pleadings filed after the initial case originating filing, all parties must, to the extent it is
feasible to do so, place the words “IMAGED FILE” in all caps immediately under the title of the
pleading on all subsequent pleadings filed in the action.

Page: 2

Exhibit B
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ELECTRONICALLY FILED
Superior Court of Galifornia,
County of San Diego

08/19/2019 at 11:53:00 A

Clerk of the Superior Court
By Jessica Pascual, Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGOQ, CENTRAL DIVISION

LARRY GERACI, an individual, Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL
Plaintiff, Judge: Hon. Joel R. Wohlfeil
Dept.: C-73

V.

DARRYL COTTON, an individual; and DOES 1 JUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT

through 10, inclusive, [PROPOSED BY PLAINTIFF/CROSS-
Defendants. DEFENDANTS]

DARRYL COTTON, an individual,

Cross-Complainant, [IMAGED FILE]
v.
LARRY GERACI, an individual, REBECCA
BERRY, an individual, and DOES 1
THROUGH 10, INCLUSIVE,
Action Filed: March 21, 2017

Cross-Defendants. Trial Date: June 28, 2019

This action came on regularly for jury trial on Tune 28, 2019, continuing through July 16, 2019,
in Department C-73 of the Superior Court, the Honorable Judge Joel R. Wohifeil presiding. Michael R.
Weinstein, Scott H. Toothacre, and Elyssa K. Kulas of FERRIS & BRITTON, APC, appeared for
Piaintiff and Cross-Defendant, LARRY GERACI and Cross-Defendant, REBECCA BERRY, and Jacob
P. Austin of THE LAW OFFICE OF JACOB AUSTIN, appeared for Defendant and Cross-Complainant,

DARRYL COTTON.
1

TUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT [PROPOSED BY PLAINTIFF/CROSS-DEFENDANTS]
Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL 18 Exhibit G
WohlfeilSER-21 13
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A jury of 12 persons was regularly impaneled and sworn. Witnesses were sworn and testified and
certain trial exhibits admitted into evidence.

During trial and following the opening statement of Plaintiff/Cross-Complainant’s counsel, the
Court granted the Cross-Defendants’ nonsuit motion as to the fraud cause of action against Cross-
Defendant Rebecca Berry only in Cross-Complainant’s operative Second Amended Cross-Complaint. A
copy of the Court’s July 3, 2019 Minute Order dismissing Cross-Defendant Rebecca Berry from this
action is attached as Exhibit “A.”

After hearing the evidence and arguments of counsel, the jury was duly instructed by the Court
and the cause was submitted to the jury with directions to return a verdict on special issues on two special
verdict forms. The jury deliberated and thereafter returned into court with its two special verdicts as
follows:

SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO. 1
We, the Jury, in the above entitled action, find the following special verdict on the questions

submitted to us:

Breach of Contract

1. Did Plaintiff Larry Geraci and Defendant Darryl Cotton enter into the November 2, 2016
written contract?

Answer: YES

2. Did Plaintiff do all, or substantially all, of the significant things that the contract required him
to do?

Answer: NO

3. Was Plaintiff excused from having to do all, or substantially all, of the significant things that
the contract required him to do?

| Answer: YES
2

JUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT [PROPOSED BY PLAINTIFF/CROSS-DEFENDANTS].,
Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL Xniol

<7
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4. Did all the condition(s) that were required for Defendant's performance occur?

Answer: NO

5. Was the required condition(s) that did not occur excused?

Answer: YES

6. Did Defendant fail to do something that the contract required him to do?
Answer: YES

or

Did Defendant do something that the contract prohibited him from doing?
Answer: YES

7. Was Plaintiff harmed by Defendant's breach of contract?

Answer: YES

Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

8. Did Defendant unfairly interfere with Plaintiffs right to receive the benefits of the contract?

Answer: YES

9. Was Plaintiff harmed by Defendant's interference?

Answer: YES

10. What are Plaintiffs damages?
Answer: $ 260,109.28

A true and correct copy of Special Verdict Form No. 1 is attached hereto as Exhibit “B.”

3

JUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT [PROPOSED BY PLAINTIFF/CROSS-DEFENDANTS].
Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL xhibit ¢
15
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SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO. 2

We, the Jury, in the above entitled action, find the following special verdict on the questions
submitted to us:

Breach of Contract

1. Did Cross-Complainant Darryl Cotton and Cross-Defendant Larry Geraci enter into an oral
contract to form a joint venture?

Answer: NO

Fraud - Intentional Misrepresentation

8. Did Cross-Defendant make a false representation of an important fact to Cross-Complainant?

Answer: NO

Fraud - False Promise

13. Did Cross-Defendant make a promise to Cross-Complainant that was important to the
transaction?

Answer: NO

Fraud - Negligent Misrepresentation

19. Did Cross-Defendant make a false representation of an important fact to Cross-Complainant?

Answer: NO

Given the jury’s responses, Question 25 regarding Cross-Complainant’s damages became

inapplicable as a result of the jury’s responses.

I
4
JUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT [PROPOSED BY PLAINTIFF/CROSS-DEFEND‘El%l;%it
C No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CT .
ase %o LwohlfeilSER-24 1
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A true and correct copy of Special Verdict Form No. 2 is attached hereto as Exhibit “C.”

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED:

1. That Plaintiff LARRY GERACI have and recover from Defendant DARRYL COTTON
the sum of $260,109.28, with interest thereon at ten percent (10%) per annum from the date of entry of
this judgment until paid, together with costs of suit in the amount of $ Qﬁ)b ‘ A b : W‘/'q

2 That Cross-Complainant DARRYL COTTON take nothing from Cross-Defendant

REBECCA BERRY: and
: That Cross-Complainant DARRYL COTTON take nothing from Cross-Defendant

LARRY GERACI.
IT IS SO ORDERED. W @ .
Dated: 8-19 , 2019

Hon. Joel R. Wohlfeil
JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT

Judge Joel R. Wohlfeil

5

JUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT [PROPOSED BY PLAINTIFF/CROSS-DEFENDANTS]
Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL, xhibit

N7
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EXHIBIT A

Exhibit C
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA,
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CENTRAL
MINUTE ORDER

DATE: 07/03/2019 TIME: 09:00:00 AM DEPT: C-73

JUDICIAL OFFICER PRESIDING: Josl R. Wohlfeil

CLERK: Andrea Taylor
REPORTER/ERM: Margaret Smith CSR# 9733
BAILIFF/COURT ATTENDANT: R. Camberos

CASE NO: 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL CASE INIT.DATE: 03/21/2017

CASE TITLE: Larry Geraci vs Darryl Cotton élmaged]
CASE CATEGORY: Civil - Unlimited CASE TYPE: Breach of Contract/Warranty

EVENT TYPE: Civil Jury Trial

APPEARANCES

Michael R Weinstein, counsel, present for Respondent on Appeal,Cross - Defendant, Cross -
Complainant,Piaintiff(s).

Scott H Toothacre, counsel, present for Respondent on Appeal,Cross - Defendant,Cross -
Comglainant,Plaintiff(s).

Jacob Austin, counsel, present for Defendant,Cross - Complainant,Appellant(s).

Darry! Cotton, Defendant is present.

Larry Geraci, Plaintiff is present.

Rebecca Berry, Cross - Defendant is present.

8:55 a.m. This being the time previously set for further Jury trial in the above entitled cause, having been
continued from July 2, 2019, all parties and counsei appear as noted above and court convenes. The

jurors are not present.

Outside the presence of the jury, Court and counsel discuss exhibits.

9:01 a.m. Courtis in recess.

9:03 am. Court reconvenes with plaintifi(s), defendant(s) and counsel present as noted above. The
jurors are present except for juror no. 4.

An unreported sidebar conference is held. (6 minutes) Juror no. 4 arrives.

%09 ai.m. Attorney Weinstein presents opening statement on behalf of Plaintiff/Cross-Defendant Larry
eraci, et al. :

‘.(3::55 a.m. Attomey Austin presents opening statement on behalf of Defendant/Cross-Complainant Darryl
otton.

DATE: 07/03/2019 MINUTE ORDER Page 1

DEPT: C-73 Cal Na.
WohlfeilSER-27 eﬁ%bﬂfg
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CASE TITLE: Larry Geraci vs Darryl Cotton [Imaged] CASE NO:; 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL

10:15 a.m. All jurors are admonished and excused for break and Court is in recess.

10:24 a.m. Court reconvenes with plaintiff(s), defendant(s) and counsel present as noted above. The
jury is not present.

Outside the presence of the jury, Plaintiff makes a Motion for Non-suit on the Cross-Complaint against
Rebecca Berry. The Court hears oral argument. Motion for Non-Suit is denied as to Declaratory Relief
claim. Motion for Non-Suit is granted as to Fraud claim.

10:30 a.m. Court is in recess.

10:31 a.m. Court reconvenes with plaintiff(s), defendant(s) and counsel present as noted above. All
jurors are present.

10:32 a.m. LARRY GERACI is sworn and examined by Attorney Weinstein on behalf of
Plaintiff/Cross-Defendants, Larry Geraci, et al.

The following Court's exhibii(s) are marked for identification and admitted on behalf of
Plalntiff/Cross-Defendant:

1) Letter of Agreement with Bartell & Associates dated 10/29/15

5) Text Messages between Larry Geracl and Darryl Cotton from 7/21116-5/8/17

8) Email to Larry Gerac! from Darryl Cotton dated 9/21/16 with attached letter to Dale and Darryl
Cotton from Kirk Ross, dated 9/21/16

9) Email to Larry Geraci from Darryl Cotton, dated 9/26/16

10) Draft Services Agreement Contract between Inda-Gro and GERL Investments, dated 9/24/16
14) Email to Larry Geraci and Neil Dutta from Abhay Schweitzer, dated 10/4/16

15) Email to Rebecca Berry from Abhay Schweitzer, dated 10/6/16

17) Email to Larry Geraci and Neil Dutta from Abhay Schweitzer, dated 10/18/16

18) Email thread between Neil Dutta from Abhay Schweitzer, dated 10/19/16

21) Email from Larry Geraci to Darryl Cotton, dated 10/24/16

30) City of San Diego Ownership Disclosure Statement signed, dated 10/31/16

38) Agreement between Larry Geraci or assignee and Darryl Cotton, dated 11/2/16

39) Excerpt from Jessica Newell Notary Book, dated 11/2/16

40) Email to Darryl Cotton from Larry Geraci attaching Nov. 2 Agreement, dated 11/2/16

41) Email from Darryl Cotton to Larry Geraci, dated 11/2/16

42) Email to Darryl Cotton from Larry Geraci, dated 11/2/16

11:44 a.m. All jurors are admonlshed and excused for lunch and Court remains in session.

Outside the presence of the jurlx;, Attorney Austin makes a Motion for Non-Suit on Breach of Contract
claim against Darryl Cotton.” The Court hears oral argument. Motion for Non-Sult Is denied without
prejudice.

11:50 a.m. Courtis in recess.

1:19 p.m. Court reconvenes with plaintiff(s), defendant(s) and counsel present as noted above. The
jurors are not present.

DATE: 07/03/2019 MINUTE ORDER Page 2
DEPT: C-73 Calondo o
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CASE TITLE: Larry Geraci vs Darryl Cotton [Imaged] CASE NO:; 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL

Outside the ﬂresence of the jury, Atiorney Austin makes a Motion for Non-Suit. The Court hears
argument. The Motion for Non-Suit is denied without prejudice as pre-mature. Court and counsel
discuss scheduiing.

1:25 p.m. Court is in recess.

1:33 p.m. Court reconvenes with plaintif(s), defendant(s) and counsel present as noted above. All jurors
are present.

1:34 p.m. Larry Geraci, previously sworn, resumes the stand for further direct examination by Attorney
Weinstein on behalf of Plaintiff/Cross-Defendants, Larry Geraci, et al.

The following Court's exhibit(s) are marked for identification and admitted on behalf of
Plaintiff/Cross-Defendants:

43) Email to Becky Berry from Abhay Schweitzer, dated 11/7/16 with attachment
44) Emall to Darryl Cotton from Larry Geracl, dated 11/14/16

46) Authorization to view records, signed by Cotton, 11/15/16

59) Email to Darryl Cotton from Larry Geraci, dated 2/27/17

62) Email to Darryl Cotton from Larry Geracli, dated 312117

63) Email to Larry Geraci from Darryl Cotton, dated 3/3/17

64) Email to Darryl Cotton from Larry Geracl, dated 3/7/17

69) Email to Larry Geraci from Darryl Cotton, dated 311717 at 2:15 p.m.

72) Email to Larry Geracl from Darryl Cotton, dated 3/19/17 at 6:47 p.m.

137) Federal Blvd.- Summary of All Expense Payments, excel spreadsheet

2:29 p.m. An unreported sidebar conference is held. (3 minutes)

2:36 p.m. Cross examination of Larry Geraci commences by Attorney Austin on behalf of
Defendant/Cross-Complainant, Darryl Cotton.

2:53 p.m. All jurors are admonished and excused for break and Court is in recess.

3:08 p.m. Ct)ourt reconvenes with plaintiff{s), defendant(s) and counsel present as noted above. All jurors
are present.

3:09 p.m. Llarry Geraci is swom and examined by Attomey Austin on behalf of
Defendant/Cross-Complainant, Defendant.

3:47 p.m. Redirect examination of Larry Geraci commences by Attomey Weinstein on behalf of
Plaintiff Cross-Defendant, Larry Geraci, et al.

3:48 p.m. The witness Is excused.

3:49 p.m. REBECCA BERRY is swomn and examined by Attorney Weinstein on behalf of
Plaintiff/Cross-Defendant, Larry Geraci, et al.

The foliowing Court's exhibit(s) Is marked for identification and admitted on behalf of

DATE: 07/03/2019 MINUTE ORDER Page 3
DEPT: C-73 Calondo o
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CASE TITLE: Larry Geraci vs Darryl Cotion [Imaged] CASE NO: 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL.

Plaintifi/Cross-Complainant:

34) Forms submitted to City of San Diego dated 10/31/16; Form DS-3032 General Application
dated 10/31/16 '

4:00 p.m. Cross examination of Rebecca Berry commences by Attomey Austin on behalf of
Defendant/Cross-complainant, Darryl Cotton.

4:15 p.m. The witness Is excused.
4:16 p.m. All jurors are admonished and excused for the evening and Court remalns in session.

Outside the presence of the jury, Court and counsel discuss scheduling.

4:22 p.m. Court Is adjourned until 07/08/2019 at 09:00AM in Department 73.

DATE: 07/03/2019 MINUTE ORDER Page 4

DEPT: C-73 Calendar.Ng.
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EXHIBIT B
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. By: A. TAYLOR
SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO CENTRAL DIVISION
LARRY GERACI, - Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL.
Plainti . ,
leintif, SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO. 1
V. _
HARRYL COTTON, Judge: Hon. Joel R. Wohlfeil
 Defendant. ' '
DARRYL COTTON,
Cross-Complainant,
v, '
LARRY GERACY,
Cross-Deféndant.

We, ihe Jury, in the above cntitied action, find the ﬁ;lléwing special verdict on the queshons
submitted to us: ' ’
Bwh_ of Coniract ‘

1. Did Plaintiff Larry Gereci and Defendant Dartyl Cotton enter into the November 2, 2016
written conirac't? ' '

»N
- Do

1 - WohlfeilSER:32 Exh|
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* If your answer to question 1 is yes, answer question 2. If your answer to question 1 is no, answer

1o further questions, and have the presiding juror sign and date this form.

2. Did Plaintiff do all, or substantially all, of the significant things that the contrast required him
o do? ) L . )

_‘.Iw ' _[No

If your answer to question 2 is yes, do 10t answer question 3 and answer question 4, If your
mw&mquwﬁon?.isno,answnrquesﬁon& ’

the contract required him to do?

. __\4Yes ___No

If your answer to question 3 is yes, quﬁon 4. If your ahswér to question 3 is no, answer
no further questions, and have the presiding juror sign and date this form. '

4. Did all the condifion(s) that were required for Defendant's performance accur?
. Yes ¥ No

If your ‘amawer to question 4 i5 yes, do not answer.question 5 and answer question 6. If your
answer to question 4 is np, enswer question 5.

2 WohlfeilSER-33 Ext
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" 3, Was Plamtiff excused from having to do all, or substantially all, of the significant things that |
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5. Was the required condition(s) that did not occur excused?
lYes No

If your answer to question 5 is yes, then answer question 6. if your answer to question 5 is no,
answer no further questions, and have the presiding juror sign and date this form. '

6. Did Defendant fall to do something that the contrgct required him to do?
__‘/_ Yes __._No : | ) .

or

Did Defendant do somethmg that the confract prol.libiﬁed him from doing? -

_\é Yes N

If your answer o either option for question 6 is yes, answer question 7. If your answer to both
options is no, do not answer question 7 and ansver question 8. ' '

7. Was Plaintiff harmed by Defendant's breach of contract?
_Z_Y_es No

If your answer to questions 4 or § is yes, please answer question 8.

Breach of the Implied Coveriant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

3
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8. 'Did Defendant unfirly interfere with Plaintif’s right to receive the benefits of the contract?
__/_ Yes No

If your enswer to question 8 is yes, answer question 9. Ifyouranswérto question 8 is no, but
your auswer to question 7 is yes, do not answer question 9 and answer question 10. If your answers to
questions 7 and 8 were not yes, answeméﬁ:.rtherﬁuﬁtions, andpaveﬂ:eprasidingjmsignauddate
this form. ‘ ' '

9. ‘Was Plaintiffharmed by Defendant’s inteference?
LYes No ' _ )
_'Ifyomal;swertoqucsﬁon9isyes,answerquesﬁon10. Jf your answer tp question 9 is no, but

your answer to question 7 is ym,answai'quesﬁon 10. Ify_omanswersto questions 7 and 9 were not yes,
answer no further questions, and have the presiding juror sign and daté this form.

10, What are Pleintiffs damages?

$ 260 107.25

’

b fuilis. s g A

verdict in the courtroom.

4

— - NTRATA ¥ ArONIYT TNDRL AN § ODATNOTT W AT 4 FRIWNWTIP JSTJEn s oW

After all verdict forms have been signed, notify the bailiff that you are ready to present your '

WohlfeilSER-35 - EXhF
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_ SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION -
LARRY GERACI, . "1 CaseNo. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL
Plainti ' ' '
- o Judge: Hon. Joel R, Wohifeil
V.
DARRYL COTTON,
. SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO. 2
Defendant. : )
DARRYL COTTON,:
- Cross-Complainant,
v. !
LARRY GERAC],
Cross-Defendant.
Y

We, the Jury, in the sbove extitied action, find the following special verdict on the questions
submitted to us:

Breach of Contract

i

SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO, 2 [PROPOSED BY CROSS-DEFENDANT GERACI]

WohlfeilSER-37 Exhibit C
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%
1. Did Cross-Complainant Darryl Cotton and Cross-Defendant Laxry Geraci enter into an oral
contract fo form a joint venture?

__Yes _g[ No -

If your answer to question 1 is yes, answet question 2. }fyour answer to question | is no, do not

answer questions 2 — 7 and answer question 8.

2. Did Cross-Complainant do all, or substantially all, of the significant things that the contract

required him to do?

Yes No

— T ee—

If your answer to question 2 is yes, do not answer question 3 and answer question 4. If your

answer to question 2 is no, answer question 3.

3. Was Cross-Complainant excused from having to do-gll, or substantially all, of the significant
things that the contract required him to do?

Yes No

If your answer to question 3 is yes, answer question 4. If your answerto question 3 is no, do not

answer questions 4 — 7 and answer question 8.
4. Did all the condition(s) that were required for Cross-Defendant’s performance occur?

Yes ‘No

5 .
WohlfeilSER-38 __Exhil
SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO. 2 [PROPOSED BY cr;oss-nsmm GERACI)
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_ If your answer to question 4 is yes, do not answer question 5 and answer guestion 6. If your

answer to question 4 is no, answer question 3,
5. Was the required condition(s) that did not occur excused?

Yes No

Arrpe— » pm———

¥f your answer to question 5 is yes, answer question 6. If your answer to question 5 is no, do not

answer questions 6 — 7 and answer question 8.

6. Did Cross-Defendant fil to do something that the contrdct required him to do?

-

Yes No
* Did Cross-Defendant do something that the contract prohibited him from doing?

Yés No | .

——— T e——

options is no, do not answer question 7 and answer question 8.
7. Was Cross—Cbmplainant harmed by Cross-Defendant's breach of contract?

Yes No'

—— T —

Please answer question 8.

I your answer to either option for question 6 is yes, answer qumtio'n 7. If your answer to both

3

| . _ WohlfeilSER-39 ____Exh
SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO. 2 [PROPOSED BY cno:;s-nzn_nmm GERACIH) d’]
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Fraud - Intentional Misrepresentation

8. Did Cross-Defendant make a filse representation of an important fact to bross—Cdmpiainant‘Z

Yes _{ No

—

If your angwer to question 8 is yes, answer question 9. If your answer to question 8 is no, donot

answer questions 9~ 12 and answer question 13.

9. Did Cross-Defendant know that the representation was false, or did Cross-Defendant make

the representation recklessly and without regard for its truth?

Yes No

-+ If your answer fo.question 9 is yes, answer guestion 10. If your answer 1o guestion 9 is no, do

not answer questions 10 — 12 and answer question 13,

10, Did Cross-Defendant intend that Cross-Complainant rely on the representation?
Yes No

— T ee—

If your apswer to question 10 is yes, answet question 1. i your answer to question 10 is no, do

not answer questions 11 — 12 and answer guestion 13.

11. Did Cross-Complainant reasonably rely on the representation?

__Yes __No
"4 WohlfeilSER-40  Eyp

SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO. 2 [PROPQSED BY CROSS-DEFENDANT GERACI]
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If your answer to question 11 is yes, answer guestion 12. 1f your answer to question 11 is no, do

not answer question 12 and answer question 13.

. 12, Was Cross-Complainant's reliance on Cross-Defendant's representation a substantial factor
in causing harm to Cross-Cothplainant?

Yes No

— O ——

Please answer question 13.

Fra ud - False Promise

13. Did Cross-Defendant make a promise to Cross-Complainant that was important to the

transaction?
_ Yes -« No

If your answer to question 13 ié yes, answer question 14, If your answer to question 13 is no, do
not answer questions 14 — 18 and answer question 19.

14, Did Cross-Defendant intend to perform this promise when Cross-Defendant mads it?

Yes No .

—t— N e —

If your answer to question 14 is no, answer question 15. I your answer to question 14 is yes, do

not enswer questions 15 — 18 and answer question 19,

5 WohlfeilSER-41

SPEGIAL VERDICT FORM NO. 2 [PROPOSED BY CROSS-DERENDANT GERACI]
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15, Did Cross-Defendant intend that Cross-Complainant rely on this promise?

Yes No

— T Se——

If your answer to question 15 is yes, answer question 16. If your answer to question 15 is no, do
not answer questions 16 — 18 and answer question 19.

16. Did Cross-Complainant reasonably rely on this promise?

Yes No

v— T —

 If your answer to question 16 is yes, answer question 17, If your answer to question 16 is no, do
pot answer questions 17— 18 and answer question' 19. )

17. Did Cross-Defendant perform the promised act?

~

Yes No .

If your answer to quéstion 17 is no, answer question 18. If your.answer to question 17 is yes,-do
not answer question 18 and answer question 19,

18. Was Cros;Complainant’s reliance on Cross-Defendant's promise a substential factor in
causing harm to Cross-Complainant?
_Yes No

- - &

Please answer question 19,

6 WohlfeilSER-42 - E i

it C

SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO. 2 [PROPOSED BY CROSS-DEFENDANT GERACI]
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Fraud - Negligent Mi;fep_?esenlation

19. Did.Cross-Defqndant make a false representation of an important fact to Cross-Complainant?
Yes _ \/ No

If your answer to question 19 is yes, answer question 20. If your answer to question 19 is no, do

juror sign and date this form,

20. Did Cross-Defendant honestly believe that the representation was true when Cross-Defendant
made it?
___Yes No
If your answer to question 20 is yes, answer question 21. If your answer to question 20 is no. do
not answer questlons 21 - 24 but if your answer to questions 7, 12 or 18 i is yes, answer question 25 If

yomansWers to questions 7, 12 and 18 weré not yes, answer no further questions, and have the presiding
juror sign and date this’ form. C

Cross-Defendant made {t?

_Yes No -

SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO 2 IPROPOSEb BY CROSS-DEFENDANT GERACH]

not answer questions 20 — 24 but if yom: answer o questions 7, 12 or 18 is yes, answer question 25. If ‘

your answers to questions 7, 12 and 18 wiere not yes, answer no further questions, and have the presiding’

21, D1d Cross-Defendamhave reasonable grounds for believing the representation was true when |

If your answet to question 21 is yes, answer question 22. f your answer to question21 isno,do |
not answer questions'zz —24 but if your answer fo questions 7; 12 or 18 is yes, answer question 2. If

WohlfeilSER-43 | Exﬁjq;.t c
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1 juror sign and dsfe this form.,

your answers to questions 7, 12 and 18 were not yes, answer no further questions, and have the presiding
juror sign and date this form.

22. Did Cross-Defendant intend that Cross-Complainant rely on the representation?

Yes " No

— T ee—

niot answer questions 23 ~ 24 but if your answer to questions 7, 12 or 18 is yes, answer question 25, If
your answers to questions 7, 12 and 18 were not yes, answer no further questions, and have the presfding

23. Did Cross-Complainat reasonably fely on the representation?

Yes No

—— T d—

K your answer fo question 23 is yes, answer question 24, If your answer to question 23 is no, do
not answer question 24 but if your answer to questions 7, 12 or 18 is yes, answer question 25. If your
enswers to questions 7, 12and 18 were not yes, answer no further questions, and have the presiding juror
sign and date this form.

24. Was Cross-Complsinant's reliance on Cross-Defendant's representation a substantial fector
in cansing hasm to Cross-Complainant?

Yes No

8 WohlfeilSER-44 Exchil
“SPECIAL VERDICT FORM NO, 2 [PROPOSED BY CROSS-DEFENDANT GERACE

If your answer to question 22 is yes, apswer question 23. If your answer to question 22 isno, do |

it C
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If your answer to Guestion 24 is yes, answer question 25, If your answer to question 24 is no, but
if your answer to questions 7, 12 or 18 is yes, answer question 25. If your answers to questions 7, 12 and
18 were not yes, answer no further questions, and have the presiding juror sign and date this form.

25. What are Cross-Complainant's demages? )

il e dabl

Ppésiding Juror

After all verdict forms have been signed, notlfy the bailiff that you are ready to present your verdict in
the courtroom.

? WohlfeilSER-45 Exhil

T SI’ECIAL VERDICT FORM NO.2 [PROPOSED BY CROSS-DEFENDANT GERACI]
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COURT OF APPEAL - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT F I L E D
¢

lerk of the Supwtlar Caurt

DIVISION ONE MAY 1 4 2020

By: S.Ochoa, Deput
San Diego County Superior Court - Main y puty

P.O.Box 120128
San Diego, CA 92112

RE: LARRY GERACI,
Plaintiff, Cross-defendant and Respondent,
\2
DARRYL COTTON,
Defendant, Cross-complainant and Appellant.
D077081
San Diego County Super. Ct. No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL

* % % REMITTITUR * * *

[, Kevin J. Lane, Clerk of the Court of Appeal of the State of California, for the Fourth
Appellate District, certify the attached is a true and correct copy of the original opinion or
decision entered in the above-entitled case on February 11, 2020, and that this opinion or
decision has now become final

Appellant X Respondent to recover costs.
Each party to bear own costs.

Other (See Below) 5/14/20

Witness my hand and the seal of the Court affixed this

KEVIN J. LANE, Clerk

By: Jonathan Newton, Deputy Clern

cc:  All Parties (Copy of remittitur only, Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.272(d).)

WohlfeilSER-46 Exhibit D
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COURT OF APPEAL - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT

DIVISION ONE
Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District
FILED ELEGTRONICALLY
02/11/2020
LARRY GERAC], Kevin J. Lane, Clerk
Plaintiff, Cross-defendant and Respondent, By: Jonathan Newton
V.
DARRYL COTTON,
Defendant, Cross-complainant and Appellant.
D077081

San Diego County Super. Ct. No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL

THE COURT:

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.140, the appeal filed November 21, 2019, is
DISMISSED for appellant's failure to timely designate the record (Cal. Rules of Court, rule

8.121(a)) and because appellant did not timely deposit costs for preparing the record on appeal
{Cal. Rules of Court, rules 8.122(c), 8.130(b), 8.140).

MCCONNELL,
Presiding Justice

cc: Clerk of the San Diego County Superior Court
All Parties

:\KEVNJLA}-B,C%&MMC«MMAMFM B8
-Appelire Districs, St of Californa, does hireby tmuy
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1
2
! LOE
3 Clesk #1109 Suparia pougy
4 MAR -7 2018
5
By: J. CERDA
6
7
8 SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
9 COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION
10 | DARRYL COTTON, an individual, Case No. 37-2017-00037675-CU-WM-CTL
11 Petitioner/Plaintiff, Judge: Hon, Joel R. Wohlfeil
Dept.: C-73
12 v.
[PROEGEED] JUDGMENT AFTER
13 || CITY OF SAN DIEGO, a public entity; and ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR
DOES 1 through 25, ISSUANCE OF PEREMPTORY WRIT OF
14 MANDATE
(s Respondents/Defendants.
[IMAGED FILE]
16 || REBECCA BERRY, an individual; LARRY
GERACE, an individual, and ROES 1 through DATE; January 25, 2018
17| 2s, : TIME: 8:30 a.m.
DEPT: C-73
13 Real Parties in Intercst.
9 Petition Filed: October 6, 2017
20 On October 6, 2017, Plaintiff/Petitioner initiated this action by filing his Verified Petition for
2L || Alternative Writ of Mandate (Code Civ. Proc, § 1085),
22 On November 30, 2017, Real Party in Interest, Larry Geraci, answered the petition by the filing
23 || ofReal Party in Interest Larry Geraci’s Verified Answer to Petition for Writ of Mandate.
24 On November 30, 2017, Real Party in Interest, Rebecca Berry, answered the petition by the
25 || filing of Real Party in Interest Rebeeca Berry’s Verified Answer to Petition for Writ of Mandate.
26 On or about December 28, 2017, Respondent/Detendant, City of San Diego, answered the
27 || petition by the filing of Respondent/Defendant City of San Dicgo’s Answer to Petitioner’s Verified
28 || Petition for Alternative Writ of Mandate.,
1 . .
[PROPOSED] JUDGMENT Exhibit E

WohlfeilSER-48 40
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1 On January 25, 2018, the noticed motion by Petitioner/Plaintiff, Darryl Cotton, for issuance of a
2 || peremptory writ of mandate came on for hearing. Petitioner/Plaintiff, Darryl Cotton, was represented
3 || by Darryl Cotton, pro se. Respondent/Defendant, City of San Diego, was represented by M. Travis
4 || Phelps, Chief Deputy City Attomey with the Office of the City Attomey. Real Parties in Interest, Larry
5 || Geraci and Rebecca Berry, were represented by attorney Michacl R, Weinstein of the law firm Ferris &
6 [(Britton, APC, After review of the written pleadings submitted by the parties and hearing oral
7 ||argument, the Court issued its order DENYING Petitioner/Plaintif’s motion for issuance of a
8 |{ peremptory writ of mandate.
9 Based on the order denying Petitioner/Plaintiff’s motion for issuance of & peremptory writ of
10 || mandate, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that:
11 || . (1) Judgment be entered in favor of Respondent/Defendant, City of San Diego, and Real
12 Parties in Interest, Larry Geraci and Rebecca Berry, and against Petitioner/Plaintiff, Darryl
13 Cotton; and
14 (2) Respondent/Defendant, City of San Diego, and Real Parties in Interest, Larry Geraci and
15 Rebecea Berry, have and recover from Petitioner/Plaintiff costs of sujt iny the sums-gf
16 3 I/&D (City of San Diego), $ I&D i ,EI?ngyq gr?igi@én%ag %‘%{D‘E
17 (RelMerry), respective]y, with interest thereon at the rate of ten percent (10%) per
18 annum from the date of entry of apycost award intq this judgmengaptil ndid.

19

20 || Dated: Z] - 7 , 2018
71 a 3 OF THE SUPEKIOR/COURT
Hon. Joel R. WphMeil

22

24
25
26
27
28

Exhibit E
41
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COURT OF APPEAL - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT F I L E D
Clork of the Superiet Coafl
DIVISION ONE NOV - 5 2018

. . . By: A. SANTIAGO, Deputy
San Diego County Superior Court - Main

P.O.Box 120128
San Diego, CA 92112

RE: DARRYL COTTON,
Plaintiff and Appellant,
V.

CITY OF SAN DIEGO,

Defendant and Respondent;

LARRY GERACI,

Real Party in Interest and Respondent.

DU73766

San Diego County Super. Ct. No. 37-2017-00037675-CU-WM-CTL

* ** REMITTITUR * * *

I, Kevin J. Lane, Clerk of the Court of Appeal of the State of California, for the Fourth
Appellate District, certify the attached is a true and correct copy of the original opinion or
decision entered in the above-entitled case on July 18, 2018, and that this opinion or decision has
now become final.

Appellant chspondent to recover costs.

Each party to bear own costs.
Other (See Below)

Witness my hand and the seal of the Court affixed this November 5, 2018
KEVIN J. LANE, Clerk
By: Rita Rodriguez, Deputy Clerk

cc:  All Parties (Copy of remittitur only, Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.272(d).)

Exhibit F
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COURT OF APPEAL - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT

Cour of Appeal
DIVISION ONE Fourth Appellate District
FIL.LED ELECTRONICALLY
07/18/2018
Kevin J. Lane, Clerk

By: J. Yost
DARRYL COTTON,
Plaintiff and Appellant,
V.
CITY OF SAN DIEGO,

Defendant and Respondent;

LARRY GERACI, °

Real Party in Interest and Respondent.

D073766

San Diego County No. 37-2017-00037675-CU-WM-CTL

THE COURT:
Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8,140, the appeal filed March 20, 2018, is

DISMISSED for appellant's failure to timely designate the record (Cal. Rules of Court, rule
8.121(a)).

MCCONNELL

Presiding Justice

cc: Clerk of the San Diego County Superior Court

All Parties KEVIN I, LANE, Clesk of the Coan oF Appead. Foirth
District, Sae of Cafifornia, docs hereby Centify
haa tbe proceding bva trac s farrec) copy ol the
a0 b docuseniorder/opinion ikd [ this Court, s shown
by the records 5 (rmy office,

WETNESS, tmy hand and the Sea of this Court,
07/18/2018
KEVIN I, LANE, CLERK.

IR

Exhibit F
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA

County of SAN DIEGO

Register of Actions Notice

Case Number:  37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL Filing Date: 03/21/2017
Case Title: Larry Geraci vs Darryl Cotton [Imaged] Case Age: 1392 days
Case Status: Pending Location: Central

Case Category: Civil - Unlimited Judicial Officer:  Joel R. Wonhlfeil
Case Type: Breach of Contract/Warranty Department: C-73

Future Events

Date Time Department Event

No future events

Participants

Name Role Representation

Berry, Rebecca

Cotton, Darryl

Cross - Defendant,
Respondent on Appeal

Defendant, Appellant,
Cross - Complainant

Self-Represented; Weinstein, Michael R

Austin, Jacob; Lees, Megan E.; Self-
Represented

Geraci, Larry Plaintiff, Respondent  Self-Represented; Toothacre, Scott H;
on Appeal, Cross - Weinstein, Michael R
Defendant

Representation

Name Address Phone Number

AUSTIN, JACOB
COTTON, DARRYL
GERACI, LARRY
LEES, MEGAN E

TOOTHACRE, SCOTT H
WEINSTEIN, MICHAEL R

ROA#
1

2

(o]

10

11

12

Entry Date
03/21/2017

03/21/2017
03/21/2017

03/22/2017
03/21/2017
03/22/2017

03/22/2017
03/22/2017
03/22/2017

04/05/2017

05/01/2017

05/03/2017

P O Box 231189 San Diego CA 92193

6176 Federal Boulevard San Diego CA 92114
Not Available

Not Available

Not Available

FERRIS & BRITTON APC 501 W Broadway
1450 San Diego CA 92101

(619) 357-6850
(619) 634-1561

(619) 233-3131, (619)
232-9316

Short/Long Entry

Complaint filed by Geraci, Larry.
Refers to: Cotton, Darryl

Civil Case Cover Sheet filed by Geraci, Larry.
Refers to: Cotton, Darryl

Original Summons filed by Geraci, Larry.
Refers to: Cotton, Darryl

Summons issued.
Case assigned to Judicial Officer Wohlfeil, Joel.

Civil Case Management Conference scheduled for
08/25/2017 at 01:30:00 PM at Central in C-73 Joel R.
Wohlfeil.

Case initiation form printed.
Case initiation form printed.
Notice - Other filed by Geraci, Larry; Geraci, Larry.

Filed By
Geraci, Larry (Plaintiff)

Geraci, Larry (Plaintiff)

Geraci, Larry (Plaintiff)

Geraci, Larry (Plaintiff); Geraci,
Larry (Plaintiff)

Proof of Service of 30-day Summons & Complaint - Geraci, Larry (Plaintiff)
Personal filed by Geraci, Larry.

Refers to: Cotton, Darryl

Ex Parte scheduled for 05/04/2017 at 08:30:00 AM at
Central in C-73 Joel R. Wohlfeil.

The Ex Parte was rescheduled to 05/09/2017 at 08:30:00
AM in C-73 before Joel R. Wohlfeil at Central.

Wohlfeil SER-5

ate Printed: January 11, 2021 (5:33PM PST)

Exhibit G

Page 1of 2944



Case 3:20-6460638-FY0RSDEB0I2¢ument 22709B#6d DAIERIAL 1Pageali® 5692f 1Pdge 48 of 88

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA

County of SAN DIEGO

Register of Actions Notice

Case Number:  37-2017-00037675-CU-WM-CTL Filing Date: 10/06/2017
Case Title: Cotton vs City of San Diego [IMAGED] Case Age: 1193 days
Case Status: Pending Location: Central

Case Category: Civil - Unlimited Judicial Officer:  Joel R. Wonhlfeil
Case Type: Writ of Mandate Department: C-73

Future Events

Date Time Department Event

No future events

Participants

Name Role Representation

Berry, Rebecca
COTTON, DARRYL

City of San

Diego

Geraci, Larry

Representation

Respondent on Appeal Weinstein, Michael R
Petitioner, Appellant Self-Represented

Respondent,
Respondent on Appeal Mickova

Respondent on Appeal Weinstein, Michael R

Phelps, M. Travis; Phelps, M. Travis; Will, Jana

Name

COTTON, DARRYL
PHELPS, M. T

WEINSTEIN, MICHAEL R

WILL, JANA M
ROA# Entry Date
1 10/06/2017
2 10/06/2017
3  10/06/2017
4  10/06/2017
5 10/06/2017
6  10/11/2017
7 10/11/2017
8  10/12/2017
9  10/30/2017
10  10/30/2017
11 10/30/2017
12 10/30/2017
13 10/30/2017
14 10/30/2017

Address
6176 Federal Boulevard San Diego CA 92114

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 1200 Third
Avenue 1620 San Diego CA 92101 4100

FERRIS & BRITTON APC 501 West Broadway
1450 San Diego CA 92101

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 1200 Third
Avenue 1100 San Diego CA 92101

Short/Long Entry

Petition for Writ of Mandate filed by COTTON, DARRYL.
Refers to: City of San Diego; Berry, Rebecca; Geraci, Larry

Civil Case Cover Sheet filed by COTTON, DARRYL.
Refers to: City of San Diego; Berry, Rebecca; Geraci, Larry

Civil Case Cover Sheet filed by COTTON, DARRYL.
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COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO
CENTRAL

MINUTE ORDER

DATE: 06/27/2019 TIME: 08:30:00 AM DEPT: C-73

JUDICIAL OFFICER PRESIDING: Joel R. Wohlfeil
CLERK: Andrea Taylor

REPORTER/ERM: Not Requested
BAILIFF/COURT ATTENDANT: R. Camberos

CASE NO: 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL CASE INIT.DATE: 03/21/2017
CASE TITLE: Larry Geraci vs Darryl Cotton [Imaged]
CASE CATEGORY: Civil - Unlimited CASE TYPE: Breach of Contract/Warranty

EVENT TYPE: Ex Parte

EVENT TYPE: Civil Jury Trial

APPEARANCES

Michael R Weinstein, counsel, present for Respondent on Appeal,Cross - Defendant,Cross -
Complainant,Plaintiff(s).

Jacob Austin, counsel, present for Defendant,Cross - Complainant,Appellant(s).

Andrew Flores, counsel appears on his own behalf.

Ex-parte application for request to intervene and stay case requested by Attorney Andrew Flores.

The Court finds Attorney Andrew Flores has not shown good cause to intervene and stay the case and
the request is denied.

The Court advances the Trial call set for tomorrow at 8:30 a.m. with agreement of counsel.
Court and counsel discuss trial procedures.

Counsel agree to give a mini opening statement. The Court will pre-screen jurors for 4 weeks and will
most likely order a panel of 50 prospective jurors.

Court directs counsel to email the Court clerk before close of business tomorrow a complete set of jury
instructions in Word in the order to which they should be given along with a proposed verdict form.

The Court will hear motions in limine at 1:30 p.m. on July 1, 2019 and will have a Prospective jury panel
ready to go for July 2, 2019.

DATE: 06/27/2019 MINUTE ORDER Page 1
DEPT: C-73 WohlfeilSER-54 CaIEmhthf‘é 3
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Estimated length of trial: 8 days

Civil Jury Trial is continued pursuant to Court's motion to 07/01/2019 at 01:30PM before Judge Joel R.
Wohlfeil.

Parties waive notice.

DATE: 06/27/2019 MINUTE ORDER Page 2
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LAW OFFICES OF ANDREW FLORES F clork of we ‘:‘Super'zcr Ca%rt o
Andrew Flores (SBN 272958) o2
7880 Broadway JUN 28 26133
Lemon Grove, CA 91978 ' = ;
Telephone (619) 356-1556 | By: A. SEAMONS, Depuly
Fax Number: (619) 274-8053 :
Email: Andrew@FloresLegal.pro
In Propria Persona
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO
LARRY GERACI, an individual, Case No.: 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL
' | | Plaintiff(s),” INTERVENOR’ %OTICE OF MOTION
: AND MOTION TO INTERVENE, WITH
vs. MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITIES

DARRYL COTTON, an individual; and DOES 1

through 10, melusive, DATE: June 27, 2019

TIME: 8:30 a.m.
DEPT: C-73

Defendant(s). JUDGE: The Hon. Joel R. Wohlfeil

Complaint filed: March 21, 2017
Trial Date: June 28,2019

N Nt Net Mt Mmer e Naet st st st "t “ommst? o "N o st e "

TO THE PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD:
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on June 27, 2019at 8:30 a.m. in department C-73 of the above-
entitled Court, located at the Hall of Justice, 330 W Broadway, San Diego, CA 92101, Andrew Flores

will and hereby does move this Court to permit him to intervene in the above-captioned action.

“1- WohlfeilSER-56 Exhibit |

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO INTERVENE 48
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1 This Motion is based upon the Court’s file in this matter, the pleadings and records on file
2 || herein, this Notice of Motion, and upon the Memorandum of Points and Authorities and Declaration

3 || of Andrew Flores (hereinafter “Movant”), with attachments thereto, in support thereof, along with

such other and further oral and documentary evidence as may be present at the hearing thereon.

DATED: June 26, 2019 Respectfully submitted,

Andrew Flores
In Pro Per
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO
INTERVENE

I FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The actions giving rise to this motion to intervene center around the real property located at
6176 Federal Blvd., San Diego, CA 92114 (the “Property”). Mr. Cotton alleges in this suit that on
November 2, 2016, Mr. Cotton and Mr. Geraci met and (a) entered into an oral joint venture
agreement to apply for the Permit and develop a Marijuana Outlet at the Property (the “JVA™); (b)
executed a three-sentence document drafted by Mr. Geraci to memorialize Mr. Cotton’s receipt of
$10,000 in cash towards a non-refundable deposit agreed to as part of the JVA (the “November
Document™); and (c¢) Mr. Geraci promised to have his attorney, Mrs. Gina Austin, reduce the JVA to
writing for execution.

Neither Mr. Geraci nor Mr. Cotton dispute that later that same day after the parties separated
(a) Mr. Geraci emailed Mr. Cotton a copy of the November Document; (b) Mr. Cotton responded and
requested that Mr. Geraci confirm the November Document is not a sales contract (the “Request for
Confirmation™); and (c) Mr. Geraci replied and provided the requested written confirmation (the
“Confirmation Emé.il“). Mr. Geraci now alleges he sent the Confirmation by mistake.

On March 21, 2017, Mr. Cotton terminated his agreement with Mr. Geraci for breach and
entered into a written joint venture agreement with Mr. Martin (the “Martin Purchase Agreement”).
On March 22, 2017, Mr. Geraci served Mr. Cotton with the instant lawsuit alleging the November
Document is a sales contract. Movant is confident the instant suit a sham lawsuit intended to justify

the recording of a lis pendens on the Property seeking to prevent the sale of the Property to Mr. Martin.

5. WohlfeilSER-58  _ ..
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Mr. Geraci and his counsel, Mr. Weinstein, have known that Mr. Martin purchased the
Property on March 21, 2017 before they served Mr. Cotton with the complaint for this suit on March
22, 2017 since mid-2017 when the Martin Purchase Agreement was disclosed via discovery.!

Once Mr. Geraci filed this suit, Mr. Martin was intimidated by Mr. Geraci’s history of
involvement with illegal commercial marijuana operations and made a demand that Mr. Cotton
prosecute this action without including hiﬁl as a party to the litigation. In March of 2019, Movant
informed Mr. Martin that he was an “indispensable” party and that he had to become a party. Mr.
Martin decided to extricate himself from the sale and, on March 25, 2019, Movant bought the Property
from Mr. Martin. Flores Decl., Ex. 1. Subsequent to buying the Property, Movant discovered
evidence that the instant suit is part of a conspiracy to monopolize the Marijuana Outlet permits in
San Diego, which the City has limited to thirty-six. Movant is preparing a federal .antitrust lawsuit,
that he intends to file within the week. The law and the facts are complicated and Movant has not
been dilatory in his preparation of bringing forth suit. And, for the reasons set forth below, his antitrust
suit is the basis of Movant’s request that this Court stay this action over which the federal court has
exclusive jurisdiction.

IL MOVANT IS ENTITLED TO INTERVENE PURSUANT TO CALIFORNIA
CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SECTION 387(b) BECAUSE THEY HAVE
SIGNIFICANT RELEVANT INTERESTS NOT ADEQUATELY
REPRESENTED BY THE EXISTING PARTIES, DISPOSITION OF THE
ACTION WITHOUT THEM WILL IMPEDE AND IMPAIR THEIR ABILITY
TO PROTECT THOSE INTERESTS, AND THIS APPLICATION TO
INTERVENE IS TIMELY.

A person is entitled to intervene as of right, “if the person seeking intervention claims an

interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action and that person is so

! On December 7, 2017, Mr. Weinstein filed an opposition to Mr. Cotton’s TRO specifically
referencing the Martin Purchase Agreement. Docket No. 243, pg. 11:20-23 (“In other words, if Cotton
is granted his 1RO and/or PI but Geraci prevails at trial, Geraci's victory may be a pyrrhic one as
Cotton would have- a $1.2 million reason to destroy the CUP approval process in order to free Cotton
to close the more lucrative deal he has made with another buyer, Richard Martin II, for the purchase

d sale of the Pro D).
and sale of the Property.”) 4. WohlfeilSER-59 _ Exhibit |
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situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede that person’s | |
ability to protect that interest, unless that person’s interest is adequately represented by existing
parties....” Code Civ. Proc. § 387 subd. (b). Intervention pursuant to section 387 subdivision (b) is
mandatory i.f the petition to intervene is timely made.

Movant has a direct interest in the subject property and subject of this action. Movant is the
equitable owner of the Property directly subject to this action. Mr. Geraci cannot claim prejudice as
he has known of Mr. Martin being the equitable owner and never sought leave of the court to amend

the complaint tc name him.

Furthermore, Mr. Cotton was represented by counsel, Finch, Thornton, & Baird, LLP
(“FTB”), on August 25, 2017, when this Court entered a minute order that pursuant to a joint
stipulation of counsel, no new parties could be named and all unserved, non-appearing and factiously
named parties were dismissed. Mr. Cotton fired FTB for their professional negligence and/or élleged
fraud in their representation of his rights. FTB was aware of Mr. Martin, but did not name him as a
party. Neither Mr. Cotton nor Mr. Martin knew what an “indispensable” party was until Mr. Flores
informed them.

Itis inexplicéble why neither Mr. Geraci’s counsel nor Mr. Cotton’s counsel did not seek to
add Mr. VMartin, Plaintiff’s predecessor-in-interest. Whatever the reason, Movant, as the successor-
in-interest to Mr. Martin has a contractual right to the Property that was established BEFORE Mr.
Cotton wa;s served with the instant suit. Thus, as an indispensable party, Movant is required to be a
party to any adjudication of the rights the Property.

As mentioned above, Movant only became the equitable owner on March 25, 2019 and has
been engaged in his own investigation regarding the issues and parties presented in this case separate

and apart from Mr. Cotton.

5. Wohlfeil SER-60 Exhibit |
NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO INTERVENE 52




Case 3

0 0~ O W I W N

D

10
1
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

P0-6a00638-TVIRSDER0Ietent 227098 #ed DRIEBIAL 1Bagalie. 5700f 1Pdge 56 of 88 '

III. AN ANT ITRUST CONSPIRACY TO MONOPOLIZE IS EXCLUSIVELY A
FEDERAL CAUSE OF ACTION

“[A] plaintiff can bring an antitrust claim circumventing Noerr—Pennington immunity by
relying on the sham exception even if the aflegedly sham legal actions remain pending [in state court].
This conclusion is logical given that a determination of whether anticompetitive legal actions fall
within the sham exception turns not on their ultimate outcomes but on the existence of a reasonable

basis (or a proper motive) for instituting and pursuing them in the first place.” Hanover 3201 Realty.

LLC v. Village Supermarkets. Inc., 806 F.3d 162, 191 n.4 (3d Cir. 2015) (citing Professional Real

Estate Investors, Inc. v. Columbia Pictures Industries, Inc., 508 U.S. 49, 61 n.5 (1993)).

Thus, respectfully, Mqvant notes that if the Court denies this ex-parte application, that will
not bar federal court jurisdiction over the federal suit he will file. Section 2 of the Sherman Act
prohibits any attempt to monopolize. 15 U.S.C. § 2. Section 4 of the Clayton Act, in turn, defines the
class of persons who may bring a private antitrust suit as “any person” who is injured “by reason of
anything” prohibited by the antitrust laws. Id. § 15(a). This extraordinarily broad language reflects
the Clayton Act's remedial purpose and Congress's intent to “create a private enforcement mechanism

that would deter violators and deprive them of the fruits of their illegal actions, and would provide

ample compensation to the victims of antitrust violations.” Blue Shield of Va. v. McCready, 457 U.S.
465, 472, 102 8.Ct. 2540, 73 L.Ed.2d 149 (1982). Emphasizing § 4's expansive reach, the Suprem(-;
Court has explained that the “statute does not confine its protection to consumers, or to purchasers,
or t0 competitors, or to sellers.... The Act is comprehensive in its terms and coverage, protecting all
who are made victims of the forbidden practices by whomever they may be perpetrated.” Id. (quoting
Mandeville Island Farms, Inc. v. Am. Crystal Sugar Co., 334 U.S. 219, 236, 68 S.Ct. 996, 92 L.Ed.
1328 (1948)).

Moreover, the federal court will not be bound by this court’s judgement and res judicata will

not apply for two reasons. First, in an antitrust matter, factual determinations by a state court do not

_6- WohlfeilSER-61  Exhibit |
NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO INTERVENE 53
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apply. As the Ninth Circuit has stated: “It would seem to us to be unthinkable that a federal court
having exclusive jurisdiction of a treble damage antitrust suit would tie its own hands by a stay of this
kind in order to permit a judge of a state court, without a jury, to make a determination which would

rob the federal court of full power to determine all of the fact issues before it.” Mach-Tronics, Inc. v.

Zirpoli, 316 F.2d 820, 833 (Sth Cir. 1963).

Second, although the “Rooker-Feldman [doctrine] prohibits a federal district court from
exercising subject matter jurisdiction over a suit that is a de facto appeal from a state court judgment.”
Kougasian v. TMSL, Inc., 359 F.3d 1136, 1139 (9th Cir. 2004). Even if it could be argued that

Movant was somehow in privity with Mr. Cotton as Mr. Martin’s successor-in-interest, “Rooker-

Feldman does not apply where the plaintiff in the federal case was in privity with, but not a party to,

the underlying state court proceeding.” St. Jon v. Tatro, Case No.: 15-cv-2552-GPC-JLB, at *¥17 n.2

(S.D. Cal. Mar. 23, 2016) (citing Lance v. Dennis, 546 U.S. 459, 466 (2006)).
CONCLUSION
For all the reasons set forth in this memqra.ndum, Movant respectfully requests this Court
grant this motion and dismiss this action for failure to join an indispensable party and lack of subject

matter jurisdiction over federal anti-trust causes of action.

DATED: June 26, 2019 ReWy %

Axidrew Flo
In Pro Per

. Wohlfeil SER-62 Exhibit |

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO INTERVENE - 54




Cad

L I - = R e = T ¥ e L

[xe} [ S TR S o] [} (o] [ — — — — — — — J— — —

Telephone:
Facsimile:

b 3:20-6260638-FYORSDEB 0T2etnéht 22-7098#ed DRIEBIAL 1BaGale. 6A02f 1Pdge 58 of 88

LAW OFFICES OF ANDREW FLORES
Andrew Flores (SBN 272958)

7880 Broadway

Lemon Grove, CA 91978

(619) 356-1556
(619) 274-8053

E-mail: Andrew@FloresLegal.pro

Plaintiff In Propria Persona

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

1.

2.

3.
Dismiss.

4,

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO
LARRY GERAC], an individual, % Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL
Plaintiff, ) DECLARATION OF ANDREW FLORES IN
‘ % SUPPORT OF MOTION TO INTERVENE AN

Vs. § DISMISS WITHOUT PREJUDICE
DARRYL COTTON, an individual; and % Date: June 27,2019
DOES 1| through 10, inclusive, ) Time: 8:30 am.

. : ) Dept: C-73 .
Defendants. % Judge: ~ The Hon. Joel R. Wohlfeil

I, ANDREW FLORES, declare:

I am over the age of eighteen yéars-, -and the Defendant-Intervenor in this action.
The facts set forth herein are true aﬁd correct as of my own personal knowledge.

This declaration is submitted in support of my Motion to Intervene and Motion to

I hereby incorporate by reference the facts stated in my Memorandum of Points and

1
DECLARATION OF ANDREW FLORES ISO MOTION TO INTERVENE AND MOTION TO DISMISS EXh | blt |

WohlfeilSER-63 55
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Authorities in Support of Motion to Intervene and Motion to Dismiss.

5. - OnMarch 25, 2019 I purchased the contractual rights of one Richard Martin II relating
to an agreement between he and Darryl Cotton executed on March 21, 2017.

6. This agreement was entered into affer Mr. Cotton had terminated his agreement with Mr.
Geraci who subsequently filed the instant action.

7. As the successor-in-interest to those contractual rights, T will be highly prejudiced if this
matter is litigated in my absence.

8. I since March 25, 2019 I have discovered evidence which form the bases of an anti-trust
lawsuit I am preparing to file in pro per.

9. However, I have been in discussions with a very reputable national law firm that
specializes in RICO and Anti-Trust lawsuits who are currently vetting a draft version of my complaint,
which apparently is vetted by multiple levels of partners in that firm. -

10.  The newly discovered evidence has not been provided to either Mr. Cotton, Mr. Geraci,
or their respective counsel because it the evidence may impact a current federal investigation into
corruption in the marijuana industry and a criminal proceeding in Federal Court involving a murder for
hire plot involving co-owners of another marijuana dispensary.

11.  Thave also contacted the Assistant United States Attorney who is currently prosecuting
the case.

12.  There is a great deal of other relevant factual and legal issues to my anti-trust case
however because I believe that the anti-trust issues is dispositive of my request, and due to the limited
time restraints am not providing them in detail.

13. T havereviewed all of the motions and filings in this matter and represent that the factual
statements provided in my Motion to Intervene and Dismiss the Action Without Prejudice.

14.  Aredacted version, of the Martin Purchase Agreement is attached as Exhibit 1.

I declare under penalty of perjury according to the laws of the State of California that the
foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration was e ted on May 21, 2019 at San Diegoj,

California.

/| X/ ARDREW FLORES
2
DECLARATION OF ANDREW FLORES ISO MOTICN Tf) INTERVENE AND MOTION TO DISMISS Exhibit |
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EXHIBIT 1
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AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into by and among Darryl Cotton (“Cotton™), Jacob Austin
(“Austin®), Andrew Flores (“Flores™), Joe Hurtado (“Hurtado™), and Richard Martin (“Martm”)
on March 25, 2019.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Austin, Cotton, Hurtado, Martin and another party entered into a Secured
Litigation Financing Agreement on December 26, 2017 (a redacted version is attached hereto as
Exhibit A);

WHEREAS, the Secured Litigation Financing Agreement amended and incorporated
various other agreements related to the real property located at 6176 Federal Blvd., San Diego CA
92114 (the “Property”™), of which Cotton is the owner-of-record,;

WHEREAS, the Secured Litigation Financing Agreement contemplated, inter alia, (i) a
favorable and quick resolution of various legal disputes relating to the Property, (ii) provided for
financing of the legal disputes regarding the Property; and (iii) the payment of interests in the
Property and/or a conditional use permit for a Marijuana Outlet at the Property (the “CUP”) subject
to successful resolution of the legal disputes regarding the Property;

WHEREAS, the legal disputes regarding the Property are still ongoing, the procedural
history of the legal disputes is unfavorable, and, thus, there is doubt as to what right, if at all,
Cotton had to sell and/or transfer his interest in the Property to various partles as reflected in the
Secured Litigation Financing Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Secured Litigation Financing Agreement was amended and other parties
have helped finance Cotton’s legal defense;

WHEREAS, the parties believe that in order to protect and vindicate Cotton’s rights to the
Property, and the agreements he made regarding the Property, a lawsuit against multiple parties
alleging they are part of a criminal enterprise is necessary;

WHEREAS, Martin and other parties to the Secured Litigation Fmancmg Agreement do
not desire to be part of such a lawsuit;

WHEREAS, all of the parties to the Secured Litigation Financing Agreement have agreed
to settle their financial obligations thereunder once all the legal disputes regarding the ownership
of the Property have been finally settled;

WHEREAS, Hurtado has provided or paid on Cotton’s behalf approximately $254,500;
and :

WHEREAS, Hurtado is liable to Flores and Austin for legal services performed for Cotton.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set forth
below, the parties hereby agree as follows:

1!
"
1

Wohlfeil SER-66
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AGREEMENT

. Martin hereby transfers and assigns‘to Flores any and all rights and interests in the Property,

the CUP and any matters arising from or related thereto that he has, or may potentially have,
and which may lawfully be transferred and/or assigned.

For the avoidance of doubt, given the doubt as to the legal validity of Cotton’s ability to sell
and/or transfer any interest in the Property, Cotton, Hurtado, and Austin hereby transfer and
assign to Flores any ownership interest in the Property or the CUP that they may potentially
have.

Flores hereby agrees to become a plaintiff, become counsel for Hurtado, and prosecute the
contemplated legal action required to protect the validity of the interests acquired by this
Agreement.

All of the parties represent they had or have attorney-client, principal-agent, fiduciary, and/or
other confidential relationships by and among each other, the scope or existence of which for
some have repeatedly changed throughout the course of the events leading up to this
Agreement.

The parties, without waiving any attorney-client, work product, litigation, and/or any other
applicable privilege or right arising from any of said relationships by and among them, hereby
release each other from any future potential legal claims arising from any conflict of interest
related to this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, this includes Cotton’s release of any
potential claims in connection with a contemplated claim by Hurtado against Cotton for fraud.
The potential fraud claim is in the event there is a judicial determination that a document

_ executed by Cotton and Geraci on November 2, 2016 was intended to be a sales agreement for

10.

11

the purchase of the Property by Geraci.

Cotton promises to execute a lien on the Property in favor of Hurtado for $375,000 (the
“Hurtado Lien™).

Cotton promises to have the existing lien on the Property subordinated to the Hurtado Lien.

If the contemplated litigation is successful, but a CUP at the Property is not approved, Flores
promises to pay $500,000 for the Property.

If the contemplated litigation is successful, and a CUP is approved at the Property, Flores
promises to pay $5,000,000 for the Property.

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

Any invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision of this Agreement shall be severable, and after
any such severance, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

. Insofar as there are any legal disputes between Martin and any other party arising from or
related to this Agreement, the Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance

| | 00Q2pin
WohlfeilSER-67 Bxhibit |
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with the internal laws of the State of Hawali without giving effect to the. conflict of laws
provisions thereof and the venue for any action filed by or against Martin shall be Honolulu,
Hawaii. The prevailing party, in any legal dispute, shall have the right to coilect from the other
party its reasonable costs and attorneys' fees incurred in enforcing this Agreement.

12. The parties agree to negotiate in good faith regarding any issues that may arise by among some
or all of the parties in regards to this Agreement. It is the intent of the parties, and they are
relying on such, that they shall work in good faith and that any such issues be construed in
light of, and effectuate the intent of, this Agreement.

13. This Agreement alone fully and completely expresses the agreement of the parties relating to
the subject matter hereof. All previous courses of dealing, understandings, agreements,
representations or warranties, written or oral, are replaced by this Agreement.

N W’lT‘NéSS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Agreement as of
the day and year f;rst written above,
4

- / A .
7] ‘! X ;; /
By: ™% ’{;\I-:i?"‘_“"-- ﬁy%@éﬁ

Andrev Flores Jacob Austin

Bv/ F,
Ddr{¥otton

BE=Z’%M
Richard#artin

Exhibit |
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Exhibit A

(Redacted Secured Litigation Financing Agreement)
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SECURED Lmemon anmcms Aeneemem

Thls amendment to the Secured Lrtagatinn F' rianr:lng Agreement (the "Ftnancing agzeement“) Is

entered into by and among Jacob Austin {“Austin®}, Darryi Cotton {"Cottun”), Joe Huptado- ["Hgg rado ")

__and Richard Martin (* Martin®) on December 26,0848: 2017,
_ Recrm.s _
WHEREAS, on Decemher 15, 2017, the parties heréto came to a tentative and general dgreément

that was. agreed to-and :mora fully:detalied in the Financing. Agreernent executed by Austin, Cotton,.

Hurtade and Maas on December 20, 2017 (the “Décember
and fullv Incorporated heretn by reference),

h Agreement”; ‘attached hereto Exhrhlt 1

WHEREAS, My, Martin did fiot execute the December 20% Agreement as contemplated because,

upon review of the varipus legal agreements and compiicated histnry gtated thergin, ‘he requested
‘addttional time for !egal review before executmg,,

WHEREAS Mr: Martin. hae agreed 10 execute tlte December 20"‘ Agreement, subject to the'

amendments stated below and

WH EREAS ail of the parttes who executed the Decemher 20 Agreement, taking inte account: the.
current status of the case, the need to secure capital and full- time legal represeiitation, gndthe; Immediate.
risk of losing the Property !n a matter of days. withoutthe 435, 000 ‘payment to the. Crty of San Diego, have.

: agreed to-amend the Decemberzc"‘ Agreement as described betow

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideratmn of the mutual promrses and covenants set forth below, the:

parties hereby agreeas follows ‘

1 Nntwlthstanding any' language In the ‘Decamber *20"’ Agreement, ‘or anv agreement
incorporated there:n the. provlsmns within this Ftnan:lng Agreement shait be' given effect and. supersede

any conflicting or amblguous fan guage

2 Paragraph 9 In the December 20‘*‘ Agreement is. amended with the following language If

any term of this Fmancing Agreement is to anv extent itlegal othenmse invalld er incapable of betng.

hereof shait rematn in.fiili farce and effect, and to the extent permttted and pcsslbte ‘thie. invatrd or
unenforceable term shall be deemed repiaced bv 3 term that i
closest 10 expressing the intentmn of siich invalid.or unenforce

term. if applicatinn ofthis Severahilrty

provision should metertatly and- adversetv aﬂ'ect the economrc Substance of the - transactions‘

‘contemplated hereby, the Party.adversely Impacted shall be
~‘impatct, pmvided the. reason far: the Invalrd:ty or unenforceab;hty of ‘8 term Is not:due to ser:ous
misconduct by’ the Party seeking such compensatmn

\ 3. Thls Financmg Agréement: shali be-kept strictiv conﬁdent!al and may not be. dise!esed‘
‘without the prior written consent ofali the parties hereto. Further, should any party disclase thig Financing‘

“Agreement ( nther than Mr Martin, such party shail owe Mr, Martin 5200 000 for. brear:h of this’ provrsion

4, Mr ‘Hurtado,. in. tdn’s'lderaitinn fof. M Ma;'tih s ;promises heraih;. CTEdEtS l:iack ﬁ!l thé_:
consideration due to him from Mr. Martin pursuant to the MOU for faclljtating the-sale of thé Property.

:(Forthe evordance of doisbt; for calcuiatrng the credits: and liabrlxtres between the parties herein; all other
debts,’ obhgatrons and: rrghts remaii the: ‘same between MF, Martin and M Hurtado andMr. Hurtedo 5

. 1

— ! : : : 00 "
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sole-sourca of compensatmn for faciiitating the safe of the Propertv is that dUe to htm pursuant to the.
Professional Services Agreément.)

- I
6.
7. Insofaf as there are’ any tegal dusputes between Mr Martln and any: nther party ansmg'

'from or related tothis Financing Agreement, the Flnancmg Agreement shall be governed by and construed

in accordance. with: the internal laws of the State of Hawail-without. -giving: effect to the conﬂict of laws-
provisions thereof'and the venug for any. actton ﬁied by oragainst Mr Martm shali e Htmplulu Hawall .
The pravailing party,inany Iegal drspute, shall have theright to ccilect frem the other party its reasonable:

r.osts and attorneys' fees inciirred in enforcmg this Financing Agreement,

that may arise by among:some or all of the. parties hereto in: regards or reiated to the subject matter
hereof, pendlng final resolution of the various matters, htigation or othenuise described hérein. itis the
:agreements or’ issues be construed in hght of and effectuate the intent of thts Ftnanting Agreement

{Remarnder ef thls page feft intentionally b[ank.]

9. The parnes agreé to negotrate In gaod fa|th in regards to. anv other agreements or issuesa

Intant of the pames. and they: are relymg on Such, that they shalt wnrk in. good falth and. that. any such:

| : 0005, .\
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have dily executed this Agreement as of the day and year first written

Nagflesb Ausin,

~ above.

Name: Tom Maas

By ot
Name: RiclSrd Martin

Secured ‘L'i'tigatioh Financing Agreement

. 3 ' : 00 .
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EXHIBIT 1

fSeCU-r.ediLiti__gainn ng'na-nt:ing Agreement
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SECURED LITIGATIDN mecma AGREEMENT

. This Secured’ I.itlgatlon Financing Agmement(the ﬂ_mg__gm_em_g_;") is entered Into by and among | Jacob Austin
{"Austin®), Darryl Cotton {“ Cotion”), Joe Hurtado ("Hmm_q ) o and Richard Martin {“Mariln®) on
December 20, 2017. '

R;’:'ClTAIS

. 'WHEREAS, on November 2, 2016, Cotton alleges he {i) entered ifito an ‘oral agreement with a Mr. Geraci for the-
- purchase of his real property at 6176 Federa| Blvd., San Diego, CA 92114 {the "Property”; the “Gerac] Agreement”) and {1
_executed a document reflecting his recelpt of $10 000 towards 3 non-refundable depasitas calied forInthe Geracl Agreement\

{the ﬂgve:ngr Rece@f'),

WHEREAS, Cotton alfeges the Gerac] Agreement required that Geraci have his Attorniey 1 draft. and spsedily prowde,
written legal agreements ccmptetely reflecting the terms that -comprised. the ‘Geraci Agreement [the ﬁﬂg]_lgggl
Agreements”);

C'WHEREAS, Catton discussed with Hurtado from February through ea:ly-March of 2017 his (i) belief that Geradi had.
falled to provide for-over three months the. prornlsed Final Legal Agreéeéments, (it} belief that Geracl breached the. Gerach
Agreement, (ifl) befief that.Geracl would not cure the breach-and, conseguiently, {lv) desire: that Hurtado help In patentially
Facilitating the sale of the Pmpertv toa third-party because he was facing dire financial hardsh!p as @ result of relying.on
Geraci's representations Inthe Geracl Agreéement;

WHEREAS; onor around March 3, 2017, Cotton showed Hurtado documentation that cosld be. !nterpreted as Gerad
notacting in good faith.and cmton and Hurtado cametoa tentative agreement as'tothe terms: upon which Cotton would
sell the Property to a third-party if the Geraci Agreement was termilRated: (an emall dated March. 3;2017 from Catton to:
Geratl stating that a draft of a iegai agréement, sent by Geradi to Cotton, failed to Include a‘'material provision provlding for
Cotton’s 10% equity stake in the dispensary};.

- WHEREAS, Hurtado spoke with various parties to facilitate the potential sale ofthe Propeftvand en March'ls, 2017,
entered into a Memorasndum of Understand‘ng {the *MOU") with Martin descnbmg the terms.and conditions upon whlch?
Hurtado would facilitate thasale of the Pfopertv from Cotton to Martin If the. Geracl Agreement.was’ terminated (attached
‘hereto as Exhibit A);

"WHEREAS, on March 21 2017, Cotton (i) terminated the Geraicl Agreement for Breach (therels : an amall from Cottan:
to Geraci terminating the agreement) and thereafter, {ii} entered into a Commgrclal Preperty Purchase Agreement with

~ Martin' forthe sale of the Property (the "_R;gai_gﬂatg_fy_gb_aﬂgr_eﬂng_t’" attachid hereto as Exhibiit B);

WHEREAS, on March 22, 2017, Cotton received an emaui from Geraci's attorney, Mr Weinstein_. staung that Geraci
has filed a [awsult against Cotton alieg!ng the November Recelpt was the final legal agreement between the parties as to the
:sale of the Property from Cotton to Geracl {the “Geracl Lawsuit™};

WHEREAS, Martln, subsequént to belng ififormed of (i) the Géradi Lawsult, that would hecessitate allegations of
criminal and fraudulent behavior between Cotton and Geradi, and {)l) being made aware that Geracl Has a public record of
‘being named a defendant in -numerous Jawsuits by the City. of San Diego for the- operating of' illegal dlspensarn'es.
-communlcated his desira to cam:ei the Real Estate Purchase Agreement;

) WHEREAS, Hurtado, after discussing with Martin his désire to caricel the Real Estate Puichase Agreemem began
discusstons with €otton and Martin to amend the MOU and the Real Estate Purchasé Agréemient to reflect the terms Opon:
which Cottan ‘and Martin would contsnue and closé the Real Estate Purchase Agreement;

WHEREAS, . S e e e e
Secured Litigation ?i'nanc‘in'g.Ag{eement.

° 0008, ..
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'WHEREAS, on April 18,2017, Hurtado recelved a Pre-Approval Letter from Martin's lender a5 réquired per the MOU
{attached hereto as Exhibit ¢);

WHEREAS, on Aprii 15, 2017, Cotton and Martin execited Addéndumn No, 2 to the' Reai Estate Purchase Agreement
that provides, inter alio; tHat the Real Estate Purchasé Agreement and Martin's identity will be kept strictly confidential and
will not be distlosed as part.of the Gera:! Lawsuit (the breach of which would resultin s $200,000 penaitv),

WHEREAS, on May 3, 2017 Cotton and Hurtado entered into the Master Real Estite Purchase and Proféssioaal

Services Agreement (the “professional $ervices Arréement”; attachid hereto as Exhibit b} providing that, fntera!fa, Hiirtado
wiltidentify and finance local caiinsel to fully.represent Cotton In the Geracl Lawsult;

WHEREAS, stibseqlient to the execution of the Professiondl Services Agreement, it became apparent that the Real
Estate Purchase Agreément would need to be disclosed In the Geraci Lawsuit and Cotton, sware that: Martis would sot
disclosé the Real Estate Purchase Agreement requested that Hurtado negotlate with Martin for such'disclosure;:

WHEREAS, on or around May 10, 2017, Martin and Huntado’ agreed to aménd the:MOY agdin, providing. that in
exchange for Hurtado providiiig an additional $100,000 credit 16 Martin at the dosing of the Real Estate Pufchase Agreement

(for s total of $200,000), then Martln would aménd the Real Estate Purchase Agreement to allow Iis: disclosura in'the Geract
‘Agreement;

WHEREAS, ‘on May 13; 2&17, (l) ‘Cotton aad Martin exsicuted Addendum No 3 to thie Real Estate Purchasis'

Agreement, providing that Cotton may disclose the Rial Estate Purchase Agreerment in thie Geraci Lawstilt, and (li) Cotton and’

- "Hurtado executed Amendment No. 2 to the Professional Senvices, Agreement, providing that Cotton would pay Hurtado

$100,000 for acquiring the consént of Martin for the disclostire of the Real Estate Purchase Agreement {siibjéct to the CUP
belng issued);

‘WHEREAS, on'June 13, 2017, (i} Cotton entered into a Services Agreement for Representation with FTB so that thay
wiould fully reprasént Cottonin varlous jegal actions refited to the Property (the “Lagal Actions”) and would allow Cotton to-
pay his legal fees with a maximum payment of $10,000 & month (previously negotiated with FT8 by Hurtado) and any balance
‘would be carried forward’ (Exhlbit E}and {il} Cotton and Hurtado execited Amendment No. 3.to the Professional Services’
Agreement In'which; inter olfa; Hurtada proniises to pay $10,000 a month to Cottonr for Cotton; in turh; to pay FTB;

WHEREAS, . . Pt ;
L _ o

i
1

WHEREAS, the Court denled Cotton’s request for an exped:ted trial schedulé on Becember 7 2017 in Kis action
agdinst the City 'of $an Disgo;

WHEREAS, thi Court denléd Cotton's réquest for a Témporary Restraintng Order oni December 7, 2017 in the Géraci
Lawsult, specifically making 2 factual finding that (1) Cotton is more-llkely:than-not golng to lose o his cause of action for
breach of cofitract and (i that thére s no risk of Irrepiarable harm to Cottor {the ”IBQ_M_Q}]Q_Q ¥

WHEREAS, Cotton decided toterminatehls agreement with FTB for thelr fallure to prevall on the TRO Motion (Exhibat:
F; email from Cotton terminating FTB representation);

WHEREAS, the Court denied Colton's pro se request that the Cotirt reconsider Its denial of the TRO Motion on
. December 12,2017 at 5 héiring at which Cottdnwas represenmting hlmselfpra seand, after the hiaring, Cotton was admitted
to Scripps Mercy Hospital for chest paing and was diagnosed as having Suffered a Translentlschemic Attaci(( '115'},

Secured Litigation Financing Agreement.
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‘hereln;

WHEREAS Cotton and Hurtado have: exhansted their professlonai and. personal financlal resources In’ ﬁnandng the:

Titigation and keepmg Cotton’s operations ongoing;

 WHEREAS, Cotton owes a $25,000 judgment to the City of San: Dtego on'or before lanuary 2, 2018, pursuantto 3
.Stipuiation for an Entry of Forfelture Judgmént arising frorn anagreement facilitated by his former FTB counsel;

WHEREAS, if Cotton does not pay.the $25 000 judgment, he voids his agreement with the City of San Diego and shall
forfait the Property, which Is the underiytng ‘collateral and security for 2 material portion of the agreements referenced
herelingand

WHEREAS, Martin has agreed to joan the 525,000 necessary to prevent the loss of the. Propertv and incir certain
other financisl obligations on behatf of Rurtado {tha ' at*}, sibject to the creation of 3 legal, blnding
‘agreement that specifically destribes the relativnships andilegal agraemems of all the: parties that have a fien against the
Property and which suberdinates alf those agreaments to his lien on the Property.(this Finanting Agréement).

NOW, THEREFORE, In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants sat forth below, the partles heraby agree
a3 Follows:

AGREEMENT

Secured Lifigation Financing 'Ag{ee,m,eni

WHEREAS, on December 15, 2017, the parties hereln reached a téntative 6ral agreemeént as to the terms dascribed

. 0010 . ...
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Afl amouints due and/or that will come to b due pursuant tathis Financing Agraemént (and the agresimeiits incorgorated.
‘herein), shall hesubje:t and subardmnte to a!i amuunts and.lor rights of Mir. Martln 85 stated In this Fina ncingAgreement.

snbm'dlnate theirrights and]or aimnunts due them under t’his Financing Agreement, or s any way related ta the Property,
to secure and prioritize Mr. Mariin's lien on the Property

The Retitals set forth above, including the Extilbits referenced thereln, are, by this refererice, fully Incorporated intoand
desmad a part ofthis lﬂh? nr:ing Agréement,

Unless revised by terms specifically stated hefeln, all othet terms of the: tespectivi agreemants by the partles hereto,
shall not be modified andfor amended inany manner by this Flnancing Agreement.

Any Jhvalid, legdl or 'unenfq_rceable provision of this Finanging Agreement shall be severable, and after any such

severance, all o,l_:he'r provislons of this Agreement shalt remainin full force and effect:

Notwithstanding any other prcmsmn ot langusge herein, #nd Mr. Martln shall have untll December 26, 2017,
10 VOID their consent and agreement to this Financing Agreemerit. (For the avoidance of doubt, such time is being given
for each of and Mr Martin'to review and consult with _lmjependent tegal counsil.)

The parties agree that learning of the terms of the varlous a greements by and among th e other parties hereto, 35 d result
of the disclosire of these agreements pirsuant to this finanicing Agfeement. shall not be the basis of any renegotiations
for any agreement previously reached. Each party hergby Individually agrees and acknowledges that, insofar as it Is'a
party to any previous agreement reached, ordl or otherwise, any suchagreement was nagotiated at arms-length and the

" Secured Litigation Firsanc‘in_g'Agr’ée_rr't_t'mftw

° | 0014 . ..
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unusual circumstances glving rise to these circumstances and this Financing Agreement Is not the result of any party to
this Financing Agreement. :

" 12. This Agreement may not be amended or modified, except by a written agreement signed by all parties hereto.

13. This Financing Agreement alone fully and completely expresses the agreement of the parties relating to the Property,
the pending CUP application and ali matters referenced herein. Thera are no other courses of dealing, understanding,
agreements, representations or warranties, written or oral.

{Remainder of this page left Intentionally blank.}

Secured Litigation Financing Agreement

s 001@ o
. xhibit |
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IN' WITNESS WHEREOF, the partles hereto have duly executed this Agreement as of thie day and year first written

Name: Tom Maas

me: Richard Martin

Secured Litigation Financing Agreement

10 .
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MARCH 15, 2017

This Méemorandum of Understanding (MOU) is entered into by Richard Martis (Principal) and
Joe Hurtado (Agent). _

This MOU is entered into by the parties to.memorialize their understanding of a contemplated
project; specifically, the purchase of 6176 Federal Blvd, San Diego, CA 92114 (Subject
Property) as an investment oppottunity for Principal. This MOU confirms, subject to the below,
the terms and conditions upoh which Agent shall facilitate the sale of the Subject Property to
Principal.

Principal and Agent hereby agree that:

1. Subject Property. Agent has represented to Principal that he believes the Subject Property
will become available for purchase and that he has a sense of thé tefms upon which the
owner will sell the Subject Property, at which, it is believed, 2 permit from the City of San
Diego can issue that will allow the establishment ofa dispensary.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

2. ject Prop le Terns. Agent shall negotiate terms with the owner of the Subject

.Pmpezty and ’erctpa,l hercby agtees to pay the following consideration for the Subject

Property: $2,500,000; a 49% ownership stake in the contemplated dispensaty; and, on a

'- ‘monthly basis, once the contemplated dispensary is permiteed and open to thé public

{Opening), the greater of (i) 49% of the contemplated dispensary’s net profits ot (ii) $20,000;

provided that, Principal shall have, 2t his sole discretion, (i) a :tight_—of-‘-ﬁ:st-tefu'sdl and (1)

the right to buy-back the 49% ownérship stake avany time aftét 2 yeaes from thié date of the

Opening for a sum-of - after taking into account all transaction costs, taxes and fees to the

owner(s) of the 49% {for which Principal shall be liable for) ~ $2,500,000 plus 5x the net
profits of the avetage of the preceding 6 months.

iot: To the extent that Agent is able to negotiate the conmdemuon fot
the Sub;cct Ptopcrty to be below $2,500,000, a 49% ownership stake in the conteraplated
dispensaty and/ot the monthly §20,000 minimum guaranteed payment, any such delta shall
be Agcnt s consideration’ for facthratlng the sale of thc Snb]ect P.roperty (Delta) B__nmpal‘

WohlfeilSER-81 EXhlbl’t |




4. Loan Approval. Principal shall provide within 30 days from the date hereof proof of funds
and/or loan approval ‘documentation teflecting his ability to tender the purchase price
consideration of $2,500,000 for the Subject Property. If Principal fails to provide said
documentation, this MOU shall be terminated and Agent may immediately facilitate the sale
of the Subject Property to a third-party. |

. Ww&w It is the intent of the parties that the Subject
Property be used as a dispensary. 1f, for whatever .reason (including by operation of law,
federal anti-cannabis enforcement efforts or otherwise), the Subject Property is not able to
be operated as 2 dispensaty, then all paymerits called for herein shiall be deemeéd null and
void. Principal shall have no further liability pursuart to this MOU or any apteements
promulgated hereunder and may sell the Subject Property. This provision shall materially be
copied into the goveming and operating documents for the contemplated dispensary and
shall be given the intent and effect that is reflected herein, ‘

. Severability. If any term of this MOU is to any extent invalid, illégal, or incapable of being
enforced, such term shall be excluded to the cxtent of such invalidity, illegality, or
unenforceability; all other tetms hereof shall remain in full forée and effect: Furthér, in such
an ¢vent, the partics agrec to have this MOU construed, to the greatest extent permissible,
in such-a manner that this MOU will be interpreted to reflect the original intent of the parties
cxp:essed hcrcm a5 if no portion of this MOU had been held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable.

. Assuming the Subject Property is acquired, more detailed and comprehensive legal
agreements shall bea;equired; The parties agree to negotiate in good faith in regards to any
and all such agreements, including those that that will be required to effectuate the intent of

this MOU, the sale of the Subject Property and the operations of the coniemplated
dispensary. All such legal documents shall include and be done (i) ina standard format with
reasonable and common provisions and (i) at market rates.

Muesorandunt of U;'m'qxj‘ét_._m‘;‘n‘_g, o ' 'i3
| WohlfeilSER-82
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this MOU 1o be effective as of
the day, month and yeat fitst witten above.

By: 7

Name: Riéfard Martin

Meserandiosof Undestnring W - 0017 h’b
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SNy CALIFORNTA  COMMERCIAL PROPERTY PURCHASE AGREEMENT o
l‘ N ASSOGTATION AND JOINT ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS :
V= OF RCAITORSH {NON-RESIOENTEAL) k

i (CAR Fotm CPA Revishd 12115 _ :

balspmpu'd oX 232017

. OFEER;:
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o . om:ss 2.00000000 :
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E. g;i'jcg;w Sebir are roterred L horcin 33 tw " Partiys. Brokers are n3t Pafivi lc his A:f
8 AG
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Fomm AD)
a. coummnou- Tre fogowing aguiicy retdbicrahips ore furrly confivned fo i Yonsactis;
ising Adbnt A s (PNt Firm Wama)is the wgest of {chedk ¢nc).
: f"mSeaermduwaty oL 1bowh U Buyer avd Seder,
. Seting Asom NIA {Prat Fiem Mamia) {4:nal the sama
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c. PDTEHT!ALLY COMPETING BUYERS AND SELLERS: The Porics cath aswmwiedge rece’st of 8 0 Posainls Rezreswntlion
al Mara than.One Buiydr or Safinr« Cisciosure and Consant™ {C AR, Fore PRBS)

3. FINANCE TERMS: Bityor ropresents tiar hunds will b good whas deoositcd wity Eusres Hadcf.

; A, INITIAL DEPOSIT: Deposit shollbe A Rrouti of e vvvvvenseneions sue v sasevans or S
{9} Buyer .Disect Dapesic Buyor shall celiver deml drdedy to E3daow Heloer w electiane furds il
rrendfor, [T eashion's check, Ipersanat check. “loter e e e VTV 3 DN 053 YR
ohat Asoestance for _ -

OR () Buyet Deposit with Agort BUyar Tas £7on the Copoart by personal Shosk (ov |
to e d3ont sutmining the o¥er {or o }, ade pafabt: B

. The cepost shatl be woid unm:rcd T ALCORIRTeD and thon deposicd

‘T Cstrow me 3 tm"ms ways #tor Ascepldnsolor |
‘Deposi checks ¢vdn to agem shal b6 39 areiral Sianed enéck a3 ot 3 £02Y

(Mot b s g SUposk Wwww*ﬂ Zhit b recordod n Brokees st iond’ mg,)

8. INCREASED DEPOSIT: Buyer sk Hap0Sa W ih EXcrew HOZar 50 neeased dupasit i tha amauniof, .. 3§
within_ - Days Atiae Rzeapiante (or |
tfhe?amswﬁenwwdw;ammmﬂwm asoagrﬁewmxmem fm-\md
dapost inty the Uenidaled damiges amcunt in a separate Tovidaled damages cause (CAR. Fom
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Case 3:20-6a00638-FYOREDEB0T20RMent 227098160 DRIEBIAL 1BaBat: Pr2Sf 1Pdge 85 of 88

=Z=ZAMERIFIRST

FINANCIAL, INC.
Pre-Approval Letter

Friday, April 14, 2017

TO: Whom it may concemn
RE: Richard John {R.J.) Martin I

We are pleased to inform you that the above referenced loan application has been pre-approved with the following terms
and conditions:
Purchase Price: $2,500,000
Loan Program: Jumbo 30 YEAR FIX
Loan amount: 32,000,600

The following conditions must be satisfied for final loan approval:
1) Appraiser’s certification of value along with a final inspection.
2) Acceptable Preliminary Title. *
3) Following standard investor requirements: Evidence of Hazard Insurance, Flood Certification
4) Copy of Fully Executed Purchase Contract and Escrow Instriictions

This approval is based on review of the borrower’s credit report in conjunction with documentation provided by the
borrower regarding employment, income, assets as applicable to the above loan. These items are sufficient to obtain final
loan approval provided there are no changes in the borrower’s financial situation as required by the loan program.

Please keep in mind the following;

» Upgrades and modifications that increase the purchase price beyond what is indicated above may invalidate this
approval and result in disqualification or re-qualification on an alternative loan program offering.

-  This approval does not include any contingencies unless specifically noted above. If the loan approval is
contingent on sale of another property but that sale does not occur prior to closing on this property, re-
qualification on an alternative loan program may be required to complete the purchase.

» At times market conditions requise that loan program guidelines and parameters change, which may affect this
approval unless your loan has been locked and will close within that lock period. If this occurs, we will review
the borrower’s file and notify you of any changes that apply.

Sincerely,

Alexis Roper

Sr. Mortgage Loan Officer
619-436-8873
aroper{famerifirst.us
NMLS #583371

AmeriFirst Financial, Ine., 1550 E. McKellips Road, Suite 117, Mesa, AZ 85203 {NMLS # 145368). 1-877-276-1974. Copyright 2014,
All Rights Reserved. This is not an offer to enter into an agreement, Not ail customers will qualify. Information, ratcs, and programs are
ey subject to change without prior notice. All products are subject to eredit and propenty approval, Not all products are available in all states
or for alf loan amounts. Other restrictions and limitations apply. License Information: CA: Licensed by The Department of Business
Oversight under the Califonin Residential Mortgage Lending g4t 00 o
Stxhibit |
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document to which this cenlificate Is ettached, and not the trrthfulriess, accuracy, or vaﬁdﬂy of that documenl.

CAL!FDH!!IIA ALL- PUHI’OSE ACKNOWLEDGMEH‘I’ o CML CODE§ 1189.

A notary public or other officer completing this cerificate vanﬁes oniy tha idantity of tha indmdual who signed the

State of Galifornia }
County of.s.ew 10 ) ec 4

On j_‘;/g;g_ﬂﬁ .?0)7 betore me, )4?.!50.- éorumé mulﬂw WML

Insert Name and cf the Officer

persondlly appeared pe A/U\flﬂcl—d f fﬁif’ruz /0

Name(s) of Signerts)
who pmvad to me on the bas:s of saiisfactory auidance to be the parso .. whose name(s]
subscril the within instrument and acknowledged 1o me that he/shefthey Pxecuted the st ;
his/her capacity(ies), and that by his/her, signature{s) on irrifistrument the person(s),

or the entiy upon behalf of which the person{s) ?cted executed the instrument.

| certify undsr PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws
of the State of Califomia that the foregolng parsgraph
is true and comect.

WITNESS my hand and official seal,

mackmmm .
mwmc-mﬁml& E

-t

‘ amm-zmm _ Signature

]

ic

Place Notary Seal Above

' OPTIONAL ' '
Though this section Is optional, compfetmg this information can deter alteration of the document or
fraudlent reatfachment of this form to an unintended document.

Description of Attached ) Joxwseon ot
Title or Types of Documerit: | %ngnt Date: ‘Ab

Number of Pages: _4— Signer(s) Other Than Named Above: _21la
Capacitylies) Claimsd by Signer(s)

Signer's Name: _ Signer's Name: ,

[ Corporate Officer — Tme{s} O Corporate Officer — Title{s):

O Partner — O Limited (0 General O Partner — Ttimited O General

O individual O Attomay in Fact Olindividual [J Attomney in Fact

[} Trustee 0 Guardian or Conservator O Trustee £J Guardian or Congervator
O Other: , . (] Other: ___

Signer Is Representing: _ . Signer 1s Representing:

02014 Naﬂoml Notal‘y Assodaﬁon » WWW. NaﬁonalNotary org + 1-805-!.)8 NGTAHY (1 -800-876-682?) !tem #5907

- | 0036, i1
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Case 3:20-6,60638-3Y0RSDEFB 0902eREent 22709846 DRIEAIAL 1B
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MASTER REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AND FROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

Th{s_ Master'Re_a_] Estate Purchase and Professional Services A greement (the “Apreement”) is made

ered into as of May 3, 2017 by and between Darryl Cotton (“P¢ ificigal”) and Yoe Hurtado (“Agent™).-
RECITALS ‘

WHEREAS, Principal is the owner of Dalbercia Inc. and Fleet Systems (respectively, engaged in

commercial electrical work and lighting manufacturing) and the founder and manager of 151 Farms (a
nonprofit organization that promotes sustainabic, ecological-friendiy urban farms);

and ent

[REMAINDER OF

SECURED LITIGATION |

FINANCING AGREEMENT
REDACTED)]
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Case 3:20-83€0(6b65BAS-DEBS5/Daeainmientl27 0Fsikea OKI1RY: FadedDel94 bf Page 1 of 48

ANDREW FLORES

California State Bar Number 272958
Law Office of Andrew Flores

945 4% Avenue, Suite 412

San Diego, CA 92101

Telephone: 619.256.1556

Facsimile: 619.274.8253
Andrew@FloresLegal .Pro

Plaintiff In Propria Persona
and Attorney for Plaintiffs
Amy Sherlock and Minors T.S.
and S.S.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ANDREW FLORES, an individual, AMY) Case No.: 3:20-cv-00656-BAS-DEB

SHERLOCK, on her own behalf and ond" prp o1 A \ENDED COMPLAINT FOR:

behalf of her minor children, T.S. and S.S.
1. DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS
Plaintiffs, (42 U.S.C.§ 1983);
2. DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS
(42 U.S.C.§ 1983);
GINA M. AUSTIN, an individual. 3. CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE
AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP APC, a California CIVL RIGHTS
Corporation, JOEL R. WOHLFEIL, an (42 U.S.C.§ 1985);
individual;, LAWRENCE (AKA LARRY){ 4. NEGLECT TO PREVENT A
GERACI, an individual;, TAX & WRONGFUL ACT
FINANCIAL CENTER, INC., a California (42 U.S.C.§ 1986);
Corporation;, REBECCA BERRY, an DECLARATORY RELIEF; AND
individual, JESSICA MCELFRESH, an DECLARATORY RELIEF.
individual; SALAM RAZUKI, an individual.
NINUS MALAN, an individual;
MICHAEL ROBERT  WEINSTEIN, an
individual;, SCOTT TOOTHACRE, an
individual; ELYSSA KULAS, an individual;
FERRIS & BRITTON APC, a California
Corporation; DAVID DEMIAN, an
individual, ADAM C. WITT, an individual,

VS.

SN

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

WohlfeilSER-94
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RISHI S. BHATT, an individual, FINCH,
THORTON, and BAIRD, a Limited Liability
Partnership, JAMES D. CROSBY, an
individual;, ABHAY SCHWEITZER, an
individual and dba TECHNE; JAMES (AKA
JIM) BARTELL, an individual; BARTELL &
ASSOCIATES, a California Corporation;
NATALIE TRANG-MY NGUYEN, an
individual, AARON MAGAGNA, an
individual;, A-M INDUSTRIES, INC., a
California ~ Corporation; BRADFORD
HARCOURT, an individual; ALAN
CLAYBON, and individual; DOUGLAS A.
PETTIT, an individual, JULIA DALZELL, an
individual, MICHAEL TRAVIS PHELPS, an
individual; THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO, a
municipality; 2018FMO, LLC, a California
Limited Liability Company, FIROUZEH
TIRANDAZI, an individual; and DOES 1
through 50, inclusive,

Defendants,

JOHN EK, an individual;
THE EK FAMILY TRUST, 1994 Trust,

Real Parties In Interest.
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Plaintiffs Andrew Flores, Amy Sherlock and minors T.S. and S.S., upon

information and belief, allege as follows:
INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiffs seek this Federal Court’s protection to enable them to access the
State of California (the “State”) judiciary to vindicate their rights free of judicial bias,
illegal litigation tactics, and acts and threats of violence against themselves and material
third-party witnesses.

2. There is a small group of wealthy individuals, attorneys and professionals
(the “Enterprise”) in the City of San Diego (the “City”) that have conspired to create an
illegal monopoly in the cannabis market (the “Antitrust Conspiracy”).

3. The Enterprise includes attorneys from multiple law firms that are used to
create the appearance of competition and legitimacy, while in reality, inter alia, the
attorneys conspire against some of their own non-Enterprise clients to ensure that virtually
all cannabis conditional use permits (“CUPs”)! in the City go to principals of the
Enterprise.

4. At least some of the principals of the Enterprise are criminals with a history
of operating illegally in the cannabis black market and being sanctioned by authorities for
their criminal behavior. Consequently, as a matter of law, they cannot own a cannabis
CUP or license. However, these individuals have the wealth and professional
relationships acquired from their illegal operations to finance the hiring of attorneys,
political lobbyists, and other professionals to navigate the heavily regulated cannabis
licensing process and acquire cannabis CUPs illegally. These illegal tactics include
applying for and acquiring cannabis CUPs through proxies - sometimes attorneys - who
do not disclose the individuals with a criminal history as the true beneficial owners of the

cannabis CUPs acquired.

! “[A] conditional use permit grants an owner permission to devote a parcel to a use

that the applicable zoning ordinance allows not as a matter of right but only upon issuance
of the permit.” Neighbors in Support of Appropriate Land Use v. County of Tuolumne
(2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 997, 1006.
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5. The Enterprise also includes at least one City employee and attorney who
take acts in furtherance of the Antitrust Conspiracy that include knowingly processing the
applications and ratifying the illegal acquisition of cannabis CUPs by these criminals via
proxies.

6. The de facto general counsel of the Enterprise is cannabis expert attorney
Gina M. Austin. In her own words: “I am an expert in cannabis licensing and entitlement
at the state and local levels and regularly speak on the topic across the nation.”

7. Austin, together with political lobbyist James Bartell of Bartell & Associates
(“B&A”); building-designer Abhay Schweitzer of Techne, Inc.; and Firouzeh Tirandazi,
a Development Project Manager for the City’s Development Services Department
(“DSD”) are responsible for submission, processing and/or lobbying of the fraudulent
cannabis CUP applications with the City in furtherance of the Antitrust Conspiracy.

8. Austin, Bartell, and Schweitzer are considered the “Dream Team” in the City
for individuals who desire to acquire a cannabis CUP.

9. Austin has represented approximately 25 cannabis applications in the City,
23 of which were approved; Bartell has lobbied the City for 20 cannabis applications of
which 19 were approved; and Schweitzer has worked with the City on approximately 30-
40 cannabis CUP applications.

10. Tirandazi has worked on numerous cannabis applications submitted and/or
backed by members of the Dream Team on which she has made decisions contrary to
applicable laws and regulations that have violated the constitutional rights of other parties.

11.  Chief Deputy City Attorney M. Travis Phelps has been counsel for the City
in at least two actions in which he has ratified the unlawful acquisition of cannabis CUPs
for principals of the Enterprise.

12.  As more fully described below, Plaintiffs are victims of the Enterprise’s

2 Razuki v. Malan (“Razuki 1I"’), San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. 37-
2018-0034229-CU-BC-CTL, ROA 127 (Declaration of Gina Austin) at § 2 (emphasis
added).
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Antitrust Conspiracy that have been deprived of their interest in cannabis CUPs and their
federally-protected right of access to the State and Federal Courts.

13. At various points in time victims of the Enterprise have sought to vindicate
their rights against the Enterprise’s principals and attorneys. They have been
unsuccessful.

14.  The Enterprise has been defended by an army of attorneys from numerous
high-profile law firms that have blatantly lied to cover-up their client’s participation in
criminal activities or have deceitfully minced their words and selectively quoted the
victims to make them out to be greedy, stupid litigants filing frivolous litigation.

15. In Stevens, the court said:

Though there appears to be no clear rule of immunity with respect to the

liability under the civil rights laws of attorneys who violate the civil rights of

others while representing their clients, cases under the Civil Rights Act
indicate that the attorney may be held liable for damages if, on behalf of the
client, the attorney takes actions that he or she knows, or reasonably should
have known, would violate the clearly established constitutional or statutory

rights of another. See Buller v. Buechler, 706 F.2d 844, 852-853 (8th Cir.
1983).

Stevens v. Rifkin, 608 F. Supp. 710, 730 (N.D. Cal. 1984) (emphasis added).

16. This case will require a definitive determination of whether attorneys that
knew or should have known that the manner in which they represented their clients, that
helped effectuate their client’s criminal goals via the judiciaries, may or may not be held
jointly liable with their clients.

17.  As this and related actions prove, the Enterprise’s attorneys and agents have
committed multiple acts that constitute a fraud on the court to effectuate the Antitrust
Conspiracy and to cover-up their illegal actions. And, because they have used their legal
acumen to successfully acquire multiple judgments that judicially ratify their actions, they
use those judgements as shields to fail to address the factual allegations and legal

arguments that prove those judgments were procured through acts of fraud on the court
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and are void for violating the law (e.g., the ownership of cannabis CUPs by individuals
who cannot own cannabis CUPs).

18.  Setting aside the obvious, that Plaintiffs have not been parties or been in
privity with any of the parties in related litigation matters, there are at least two
substantive principles of law that require this Court to take affirmative action and reach
the merits of Plaintiffs’ allegations.

19. First, as set forth in the seminal case of Hazel-Atlas, the United States
Supreme Court held that a court has “the duty” to vacate judgments procured through a
fraud on the court by attorneys. Hazel-Atlas Co. v. Hartford Co. (“Hazel-Atlas™), 322
U.S. 238, 249-50 (1944) (“We hold, therefore, that the Circuit Court on the record here
presented had both the duty and the power to vacate its own judgment and to give the
District Court appropriate directions.”) (fn. omitted, emphasis added); Fierro v. Johnson,
197 F.3d 147, 155 (5th Cir. 1999) (“Hazel-Atlas allows a judgment to be attacked on the
basis of intrinsic fraud that results from corrupt conduct by officers of the court.”).

20. Second, as the United States Supreme Court declared in Epic, “authorities
from the earliest time to the present unanimously hold that no court will lend its assistance
in any way towards carrying out the terms of an illegal contract.” Epic Sys. Corp. v. Lewis,
138 S. Ct. 1612, 1645 (2018) (quoting Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Mullins, 455 U.S. 72, 77
(1982)). “To deny a remedy to reclaim [property procured through an illegal contract] is
to give effect to the illegal contract.” Danebo Lumber Co. v. Koutsky-Brennan-Vana Co.,
182 F.2d 489, 495 (9th Cir. 1950) (quoting Parkersburg v. Brown, 106 U.S. 487, 503).

21. Through illegal acts that constitute a fraud on the court by numerous
attorneys, previous judicial judgments have ratified illegal contracts at issue in this case.
The illegal acts by attorneys include perjury, falsification of evidence, and the ratification
of acts and threats of violence against material third party witnesses with detrimental
testimony to members of the Enterprise.

22.  Numerous high-profile private and government attorneys have relied on the

presumption of integrity the courts afford them as officers of the court to effectuate the
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Antitrust Conspiracy or to hide their violation of their affirmative duties to prevents acts
in furtherance of the Antitrust Conspiracy via the judiciaries — and that is why their actions
are so egregious and must be exposed so the rights of their victims can be vindicated.
Kupferman v. Consolidated Res. Mfg. Corp., 459 F.2d 1072, 1078 (2d Cir. 1972) (“While
an attorney ‘should represent his client with singular loyalty that loyalty obviously does
not demand that he act dishonestly or fraudulently; on the contrary his loyalty to the court,
as an officer thereof, demands integrity and honest dealing with the court. And when he
departs from that standard in the conduct of a case he perpetrates a fraud upon the court.’
[Citation.]”) (emphasis added); accord Synanon Church v. United States, 579 F. Supp.
967,975 (D.D.C. 1984).
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

23.  Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to: 28 U.S.C. §§1331, 1343,
and 18 U.S.C. §1964, which, inter alia, confer original jurisdiction to the District Courts
of the United States for all civil actions arising under the United States Constitution or
the laws of the United States, as well as civil actions to redress deprivation under color of
State law, of any right immunity or privilege secured by the United States Constitution.

24.  This action is also brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§1983, 1985, 1986 to
redress the deprivation under color of state and local law of rights, privileges, immunities,
liberty and property, secured to all citizens by, inter alia, the First, Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution.

25. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims for declaratory and
injunctive relief pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 65.

26. Venue in this judicial district is proper under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)(2), because
a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in
this district.

PARTIES
27. Plaintiff ANDREW FLORES, an individual, was, and at all times mentioned

herein is, residing and doing business as a duly licensed attorney in the City and County
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of San Diego, California.

28.  Plaintiff AMY SHERLOCK, an individual, and at all times herein was and
is, residing and working in the City of Carlsbad, County of San Diego, California.

29. Plaintiff MINORS T.S. and S.S., progeny of Amy and Michael Sherlock, are
individuals, were, and at all times herein, living and attending school in the City of
Carlsbad and of the County of San Diego, State of California.

30. Defendant JOEL R. WOHLFEIL, an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

31. Defendant LARRY GERACI an individual, was, and at all times mentioned
herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

32. Defendant TAX & FINANCIAL CENTER, INC., a California corporation,
and at all times relevant to this action was, a California corporation organized and existing
under the laws of the State of California, with its principal place of business located in
the County of San Diego.

33. Defendant REBECCA BERRY an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

34. Defendant FERRIS & BRITTON APC (i.e., F&B), is a California
Professional Corporation, and at all times relevant to this action was, a California
Professional Corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of California,
with its principal place of business located in the County of San Diego. F&B includes
defendants WEINSTEIN, TOOTHACRE AND KULAS.

35. Defendant MICHAEL ROBERT WEINSTEIN an individual, was, and at all
times mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

36. Defendant SCOTT TOOTHACRE an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

37. Defendant ELYSSA KULAS, an individual, was, and at all times mentioned
herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

38. Defendant DAVID DEMIAN, an individual, was, and at all time mentioned

WohlfeilSER-101



Case 3:2020e 00855B1KE - MHE/ Dadument 270984éd DIBo0 1Bafealiz 1049%0f Rage 9 of 48

herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

39. Defendant ADAM WITT, an individual, was, and at all time mentioned
herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

40. Defendant RISHI BHATT, an individual, was, and at all time mentioned
herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

41. Defendant FINCH, THORTON, and BAIRD, is a California Limited
Liability Partnership, organized and existing under the laws of the State of California,
with its principal place of business located in the County of San Diego.

42.  Defendant ABHAY SCHWEITZER, an individual and dba TECHNE; an
individual, was, and at all times mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San
Diego, State of California.

43. Defendant JIM BARTELL an individual, was, and at all times mentioned
herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

44. Defendant BARTELL & ASSOCIATES, a California corporation, and at all
times relevant to this action was, a California Corporation organized and existing under
the laws of the State of California, with its principal place of business located in the
County of San Diego.

45. Defendant GINA M. AUSTIN, an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

46. Defendant AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP APC, a California corporation, and at
all times relevant to this action was, a California Professional Corporation organized and
existing under the laws of the State of California, with its principal place of business
located in the County of San Diego.

47. Defendant NATALIE TRANG-MY NGUYEN an individual, was, and at all
times mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

48. Defendant AARON MAGAGNA an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

49. Defendant A-M INDUSTRIES, INC., a California corporation, and at all
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times relevant to this action was, a California Professional Corporation organized and
existing under the laws of the State of California, with its principal place of business
located in the County of San Diego.

50. Defendant JESSICA MCELFRESH an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

51. Defendant THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO, a municipality, duly incorporated
city government.

52. Defendant FIROUZEH TIRANDAZI, an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

53. Defendant MICHAEL TRAVIS PHELPS, an individual, was, and at all
times mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

54. Defendant SALAM RAZUKI an individual, was, and at all times mentioned
herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

55. Defendant NINUS MALAN an individual, was, and at all times mentioned
herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

56. Defendant JAMES D. CROSBY an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California

57. Defendant BRADFORD HARCOUT an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

58. Defendant ALAN CLAYBON an individual, was, and at all times mentioned
herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

59. Defendant DOUGLAS A. PETTIT an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

60. Defendant JULIA DALZELL an individual, was, and at all times mentioned
herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

61. Real Party in Interest JOHN EK an individual, was, and at all times
mentioned herein is, a resident of the County of San Diego, State of California.

62. Real Party Interest THE EK FAMILY TRUST, 1994 Trust; 2018FMO, LLC,
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a California limited liability company... a California corporation, and at all times relevant
to this action was, a California Limited Liability Company organized and existing under
the laws of the State of California, with its principal place of business located in the
County of San Diego;

63. and DOES 3 through 50, inclusive,

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
I. BACKGROUND

A. Salam Razuki and Ninus Malan

64. Salam Razuki and Ninus Malan are principals of the Enterprise. They were
business partners in numerous business ventures for at least a decade before they had a
falling out over profits from the cannabis businesses they acquired.

65. Razuki would use Malan as a proxy in cannabis business ventures who
would not disclose Razuki as having an interest in the assets acquired.

66.  After the parties had a falling out, Razuki sued Malan seeking to acquire his
undisclosed ownership interest in their various business ventures.

67. The litigation was expensive.

68. Razuki then sought to have Malan kidnapped to Mexico and murdered.

69. Razuki and his conspirators who planned to kidnap and murder Malan were
arrested by the FBI.

70.  The Dream Team represented Razuki and Malan in numerous business and
legal matters, including in acquiring cannabis CUPs solely in the name of Malan knowing
that Razuki had an interest in the cannabis CUPs acquired.

71.  The estimated worth of the cannabis related assets acquired by Razuki and

Malan is estimated to be approximately $44,000,000.

B. The Associate

72.  One of Razuki’s cannabis business associates (the “Associate”) described in
a confidential conversation with an investigative reporter — after Razuki had been arrested

and was being held by the FBI — meetings between Razuki and Austin in which they
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explicitly discussed their goal of creating a “monopoly” in the City’s cannabis market

through proxies and the use of sham lawsuits.

C. Gina Austin, Natalie Nguyen and Jessica McElfresh
73. Austin and attorney Natalie Nguyen both attended the Thomas Jefferson

School of Law and were both admitted to the California Bar on December 1, 2006.

74.  Austin, with approximately two to three years of experience as an attorney,
founded her law firm ALG in 2009 through which she has been unprecedently successful
in acquiring cannabis CUPs for her clients.

75.  Austin has acquired more cannabis CUPs in the City than any other attorney
or entity in the City.

76.  Austin’s success is not because she turned out to be a prodigy in the field of
law, but because she engages in and ratifies unlawful actions, including violence, to
achieve her goals.

77.  McElfresh has represented Razuki in numerous legal actions.?

78.  McElfresh has numerous shared clients with Austin.*

D. Phelps
79. On August 27, 2018, the San Diego City Attorney’s office issued a press
release recognizing Phelps being awarded “the prestigious 2018 Jefferson B. Fordham
Award in Advocacy by the American Bar Association.”
80. The press release goes on to describe Phelps’ background and experience as

follows:

3 See People v. Razuki, San Diego Superior Court, Case No. M227357CE; Kinsee
Morlan, Problems at This Lincoln Park Strip Mall Keep Getting Worse Despite City
Intervention, Voice of San Diego (Aug. 23, 2018)
https://www.voiceofsandiego.org/topics/land-use/problems-at-this-lincoln-park-strip-
mall-keep-getting-worse-despite-city-intervention/

4 See, e.g., Jonah Valdez, San Diego DA’s Prosecution of Pot Attorney Has Sent Chills
Through the Legal Community (August 9, 2017)
https://www.voiceofsandiego.org/topics/news/san-diego-das-prosecution-of-pot-
attorney-has-sent-chills-through-the-legal-community/
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Phelps has served in the San Diego City Attorney’s Office for almost 17 years.
He has developed extensive expertise in pension, land use, and environmental
litigation, handling many of the City of San Diego’s most high-profile,
complex, and often politically sensitive cases. He is admitted to practice in all
California State Courts, the U.S. District Court, Southern District of
California, and U.S. Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit.

Phelps currently supervises the Office’s Land Use Litigation Unit, overseeing
a specialized team of litigators and staff that handle up to 90 active land use
cases at any one time.

81.  Phelps’ knows and understands the requirements with the City for cannabis

CUP applications.

II. MRS. SHERLOCK AND MINORS T.S. AND S.S.

A. The Balboa CUP

82. Michael “Biker” Sherlock was a husband, father, professional athlete, and
an entrepreneur with interests in various businesses, including in the cannabis sector.

83. Mr. Sherlock partnered with Bradford Harcourt who, unknown to Mr.
Sherlock, was a principal of the Enterprise.

84. The parties used the Dream Team to acquire interests in two cannabis
permits in 2015 (the “Balboa CUP” and the “Ramona CUP”).

85.  Thereafter, Sherlock and Harcourt were faced with various litigation and
business-related expenses that required Sherlock to deplete his financial resources and
even use the college funds for his two sons, S.S. and T.S., to defend the significant
investments he made in securing the two CUPs.

86.  Unfortunately, Mr. Sherlock passed away on December 3, 2015.

87.  Thereafter, Harcourt became the sole owner of the Balboa CUP and held an
interest in the Ramona CUP.

88. The transfer of Mr. Sherlock’s interest in the cannabis CUPs were
accomplished via documents submitted to the Secretary of State weeks after his death.

89.  Mr. Sherlock’s signatures on the documents were forged.
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90. Subsequent to Harcourt acquiring the Balboa CUP, Razuki became the sole
owner of the Balboa CUP.

B. The Razuki / Malan / Harcourt Lawsuits
91. On June 6, 2017, San Diego Patients Cooperative Corporation, Inc.

(“SDPCC”) and Harcourt filed a lawsuit against, inter alia, Razuki and Malan alleging
they had successfully conspired to defraud them of the Balboa CUP.

92. The Harcourt complaint contains causes of action against Razuki and Malan
for, inter alia, breach of an oral joint venture agreement allegedly reached in or around
August 2016.

93. Among the material allegations in the Harcourt complaint are that (i) Razuki
and Harcourt reached an oral joint venture agreement that was to be reduced to writing;
(i1) Razuki provided a $50,000 “good faith” payment while the parties were negotiating
the joint venture agreement; (iii) however, Razuki then purchased the real property at
which the Balboa CUP was issued and then fraudulently represented himself as the owner
of the Balboa CUP to the City; (iv) the City then transferred the Balboa CUP to Razuki;
and (v) and thereafter Razuki fraudulently represented that $800,000 was the value of the
real property, inclusive of a cannabis CUP.

94.  On July 10, 2018, Razuki initiated a civil lawsuit against Malan regarding
ownership of multiple real estate properties and marijuana businesses after they had a

falling out.

C. Harcourt and Allan Claybon of Messner Reeves LLP
95. In early 2020, Flores met with Mrs. Sherlock and showed her documents

reflecting that Mr. Sherlock had transferred his interests in the cannabis CUPs and that
those documents were submitted to the State at different points weeks after he had passed
away.

96.  Mrs. Sherlock said the signature on the forms were not Mr. Sherlock’s.

97. On February 21, 2020, Flores first contacted Harcourt’s attorney, Allan

Claybon, and thereafter they spoke and emailed several times.
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98. Flores argued it could appear that Harcourt forged Mr. Sherlock’s signature
to acquire his interest in the cannabis permit and thereby defrauded Mrs. Sherlock and her
family as Mr. Sherlock’s heirs.

99.  Flores provided Claybon a copy of a handwriting experts’ report stating Mr.
Sherlock’s signature were more likely than not, forged.

100. Flores has had a single, simple question for Harcourt that he wished Claybon
would address: “how did Mr. Sherlock’s interest in the cannabis permit become
Harcourts?”

101. On their first call, Claybon was professional and agreed that the
“circumstances” were “suspicious” and that he “appreciated” Flores reaching out to him
to discuss before initiating litigation.

102. However, when they spoke next, Claybon contradicted himself and
described the facts provided by Flores as being baseless speculation.

103. As of the filing of this Complaint, Harcourt has not provided an answer to
the simple question posed.

104. However, without admitting guilt, Claybon communicated Harcourt’s
affirmative defenses in anticipation of this litigation.

105. Specifically: (i) the statute of limitations bars any fraud-based causes of
action that Mrs. Sherlock may have against Harcourt; (i1) the statute of limitations was
not tolled because Mrs. Sherlock did not “exercise reasonable diligence” because she did
not check the State’s records after Mr. Sherlock passed away; and (iii) Harcourt and a
third-party allege they saw Mr. Sherlock execute the forms pursuant to which he
transferred his interest in the cannabis CUPs the day before he passed away. Therefore,
per Claybon, these alleged facts conclusively established same and there is no probable
cause to allege Harcourt acted unlawfully (“Harcourt’s Affirmative Defenses”).

106. Claybon has directly accused Flores of being “jaded” for not believing
Harcourt’s self-serving allegation that he saw Mr. Sherlock execute the forms the day

before he passed away.
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107. Analleged action that had never been disclosed to Mrs. Sherlock until Flores
contacted Claybon regarding the forged signatures.

108. Further, as the email correspondence between Flores and Claybon reflects,
Claybon in an articulate, sophisticated, and professional manner consistently pretends to
not understand the simplicity of the request made of Harcourt seeking an explanation of
how he acquired Mr. Sherlock’s interests in the permits.

109. Claybon’s purposeful obfuscation of a simple issue is a cover-up of his
client’s illegal actions. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 are the last two emails sent by Flores
to Claybon regarding this issue reflecting Harcourt and Claybon’s bad faith.

III. THE COTTON I LITIGATION WAS A SHAM AND THE COTTON I JUDGMENT

ENFORCES AN ILLEGAL CONTRACT PROCURED THROUGH, INTER ALI4, A
FRAUD ON THE COURT

A. The Geraci Illegal Marijuana Dispensaries and Judgments

110. Geraci has been sued at least three times by the City for his involvement in
illegal marijuana dispensaries (the “Illegal Marijuana Dispensaries™).’

111. Geraci settled all three cases, collectively paying fines in the amount of
$100,000 (the “Geraci Judgments”).

112. Geraci did not “coincidentally” lease three real properties to the Illegal
Marijuana Dispensaries; he was an operator and beneficial owner. In the CCSquared
Stipulated Judgment, Geraci judicially admitted that “[t]he address where the Defendants
were maintaining a marijuana dispensary business at all times relevant to this action is
3505 Fifth Ave, San Diegol[.]”

B. Negotiations for the Property and the November Document

113. Per Geraci’s sworn declaration: “In approximately September of 2015, I

> City of San Diego v. The Tree Club Cooperative (Case No. 37-2014-00020897-
CU-MC-CTL), City of San Diego v. CCSquared Wellness Cooperative (“CCSquared’)
(Case No. 37-2015-00004430-CU-MC-CTL), and City of San Diego v. LMJ 35th Street
Property LP, et al. (Case No. 37-2015-000000972).
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began lining up a team to assist in my efforts to develop and operate a [dispensary] in the
[City].” (Exhibit No. 2 (Geraci Decl.), § 2.)

114. “I hired... design professional, Abhay Schweitzer of TECHNE],] a public
affairs and public relations consultant with experience in the industry, Jim Bartell of
Bartell & Associates. In addition, I hired a land use attorney, Gina Austin of Austin Legal
Group.” (Id.)

115. “In approximately June 2016, [I was introduced to the Property] as a
potential site for acquisition and development for use and operation as a [dispensary].”
(Id.atq3.)

116. “[I]n approximately mid-July 2016... I expressed my interest to Mr. Cotton
in acquiring his Property if our further investigation satisfied us that the Property might
meet the requirements for [a dispensary] site.” (1d.)

117. “On November 2, 2016, Mr. Cotton and I executed [the November
Document.]” (Id. atq 5.)

118. “After we signed the [November Document], Mr. Cotton immediately began
attempts to renegotiate our deal for the purchase of the Property. This literally occurred
the evening of the day he signed the [November Document].” (/d. at 9 10.)

119. “On November 2, 2016, at approximately 6:55 p.m., Mr. Cotton sent me an

email, which stated:
Hi Larry,

Thank you for meeting today. Since we [executed] the Purchase Agreement
in your office for the sale price of the property I just noticed the 10% equity
position in the dispensary was not language added into that document. I just
want to make sure that we're not missing that language in any final agreement
as it 1s a factored element in my decision to sell the property. I’ll be fine if
you simply acknowledge that here in a reply.”

(The “Request for Confirmation™) (/d. at § 10 (emphasis added).)

120. “I responded from my phone ‘No no problem at all.”” (The “Confirmation
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Email”) (Id. (emphasis added).)

121. “The next day I read the entire email and I telephoned Mr. Cotton because
the total purchase price I agreed to pay for the subject property was $800,000 and I had
never agreed to provide him a 10% equity position in the dispensary as part of my
purchase of the property.” (/d.)

122. “Mr. Cotton's response was to say something to the effect of ‘well, you don't
get what you don't ask for.” He was not upset and he commented further to the effect that
things are ‘looking pretty good-we all should make some money here.” And that was the
end of the discussion.” (The “Disavowment Allegation™). (/d.).

123. Geraci has no evidence other than his self-serving testimony that the

Disavowment Allegation took place. (See, gen., Id.)

C. The Berry Fraud
124. On October 31, 2016, Berry submitted the Berry application to the City. The
Berry Application included Form DS-318 (Ownership Disclosure Statement) and Form
DS-3032 (General Application). Attached hereto as Exhibit No. 3. (Ownership
Disclosure Statement) and Exhibit No. 4 (General Application).
125. In the General Application, Berry certified the following to be true:

I certify that I have read this application and state the above information is
correct, and that I am the property owner, authorized agent of the property
owner, or other person having a legal right, interest, or entitlement to the use
of the property that is the subject of this application (Municipal Code Section
112.0102). I understand that the applicant is responsible for knowing and
complying with the governing policies and regulations applicable to the
proposed development or permit.

(Exhibit 4.)
126. The Ownership Disclosure Statement required Berry to provide a list that:

... must include the names and addresses of all persons who have an interest
in the property, recorded or otherwise, and state the type of interest (e.g.,
tenants who will benefit from the permit, all individuals who own the
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property).

(Exhibit 3) (emphasis added).
127. Berry did not disclose Geraci in any capacity in the Berry Application as

required by the plain language of the Ownership Disclosure Statement. (See id.)
128. Berry testified at trial in Cotton I that the failure to disclose Geraci was
purposeful and purportedly because Geraci was an Enrolled Agent with the IRS.

D. Geraci’s Complaint and Cotton’s Answer
129. On March 21, 2017, Cotton terminated the JVA with Geraci after he had

discovered the Berry Fraud and Geraci failed to reduce the JVA to writing.

130. The next day, March 22, 2017, Weinstein emailed Cotton a copy of the
Cotton I complaint and the F&B Lis Pendens.

131. Geraci/F&B’s Cotton I complaint ignores the existence of, inter alia,
Geraci’s Confirmation Email.

132. On May 8, 2017, Cotton filed his Cotton I answer including an affirmative

defense for fraud.

E. Cotton’s Pro Se Cross-complaint and F&B’s First Demurrer.

133. On May 12, 2017, Cotton filed pro se a cross-complaint in Cotton I against
Geraci and Berry with causes of action for: (i) quiet title, (i1) slander of title, (iii)
fraud/fraudulent misrepresentation, (iv) fraud in the inducement, (v) breach of contract,
(vi) breach of oral contract, (vii) breach of implied contract, (viii) breach of the implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing, (iv) trespass, (x) conspiracy, and (xi) declaratory
and injunctive relief.

134. Cotton’s cause of action for breach of oral contract materially stated as

follows (emphasis added):

The agreement reached on November 2", 2016 is a valid and binding oral
agreement between Cotton and Geraci.
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Geraci has breached the agreement by, among other actions described herein,
alleging the written November [Document] is the final and entire agreement
for the Property.

135. Cotton’s cause of action against Geraci and Berry for conspiracy materially

alleged as follows (emphasis added):

Berry submitted the [Berry Application] in her name on behalf of Geraci
because Geraci has been a named defendant in numerous lawsuits brought by
the City of San Diego against him for the operation and management of
unlicensed, unlawful and illegal marijuana dispensaries. These lawsuits
would ruin Geraci's ability to obtain a CUP himself [i.e., the Sanctions
Issue].

Berry knew that she was filing a document with the City of San Diego that
contained false statements, specifically that she was a lessee of the Property
and owner of the [P]roperty [i.e., the Berry Fraud].

Berry, at Geraci’s instruction or her own desire, submitted the [Berry
Application] as Geraci's agent, and thereby participated in Geraci’s scheme to
deprive Cotton of his Property and his ownership interest in the [District Four
CUP].

136. On June 16, 2017, F&B filed a demurrer to Cotton’s pro se cross-complaint
(the “First F&B Demurrer”).

137. In the First F&B Demurrer, as to Cotton’s cause of action for breach of an

oral contract, F&B argued (emphasis added):

The sixth cause of action for breach of oral contract does not state a cause of
action because: a) Cross-Complainant has failed to allege conduct which
would be an actual breach; b) there cannot be an oral contract which
contradicts a written contract; and c) the alleged oral contract for the
purchase and sale of the subject real property violates the Statute of Frauds.

138. F&B’s arguments are without any factual or legal justification: (a) filing suit
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and fraudulently representing a receipt as a purchase contract is a breach of the JVA;¢ (b)
evidence of an oral contract that contradicts a written contract is admissible pursuant to
Riverisland’; and (c) an oral joint venture agreement is not subject to the statute of frauds.®

139. As to Cotton’s cause of action for conspiracy, F&B argued:

The tenth cause of action for civil conspiracy fails to state a cause of action
because there is no such cause of action in California. Rather, conspiracy is a
legal doctrine that imposes liability on persons who, although not actually
committing a tort themselves, share with the immediate tortfeasors a common
plan or design in its preparation. A conspiracy cannot be alleged as a tort
separate from the underlying wrong it is organized to achieve.

140. F&B’s argument is without justification because, inter alia, it assumes the

Berry Fraud is not illegal.

F. Cotton’s First and Second Amended Cross-complaints prepared and
filed by FTB; and Geraci’s and Berry’s Answers.

141. After Cotton I was filed, Joe Hurtado (Cotton’s litigation investor in Cotton
1), on behalf of Cotton, Richard Martin (Plaintiff Flores’ predecessor in interest), and
himself, met with McElfresh several times to discuss Cotfon I and her representing Cotton
in Cotton I and Martin in a CUP application with the City on the Property.

142. McElfresh agreed that the November Document could not a purchase
contract as a matter of law because of the Confirmation Email.

143. On or around April 13, 2017, McElfresh — after having met, discussed and
charged for her time, in regard to Cotfon I — emailed Hurtado that “upon further

6 Plaintiff notes that although the Illegality Issue means the JVA was illegal when
formed, such does not insulate defendants from liability for their fraud. Timberlake v.
Schwank, 248 Cal.App.2d 708, 711 (“An action for damages for fraud inducing a person
to enter into a joint venture does not arise out of the joint venture; exists independently of
it; and lies even though there is no dissolution of or accounting in the joint venture.”).

" Riverisland Cold Storage, Inc. v. Fresno-Madera Production Credit Association
(“Riverisland”) (2013) 55 Cal.4™ 1169.

8 Bank of California v. Connolly (1973) 36 Cal.App.3d 350, 374 (“[A]n oral joint
venture agreement concerning real property is not subject to the statute of frauds even
though the real property was owned by one of the joint venturers.”).
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reflection” she would not be able to represent Cotton in Cotfon I. Further, she
recommended Demian of FTB, describing his success in the Engebretsen v. City of San
Diego, No. D068438, 2016 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 8548 (Nov. 30, 2016) matter, and
one other attorney.

144. Notwithstanding her change of course, an attorney-client relationship had
already been established between McElfresh and each of Cotton, Hurtado and Martin.’

145. Further, McElfresh did agree to represent Martin in the CUP application with
the City.

146. Based on McElfresh’s recommendation, Hurtado reached out to FTB and
arranged for a meeting between F&B and Cotton.

147. Further, Hurtado arranged to finance Cotton’s representation with FTB if
FTB and Cotton came to terms.

148. On June 25, 2017, Cotton entered into an agreement with FTB for their
services in representing him in various legal matters related to the Property, including the
preparation and submission of a cannabis CUP application with the City.

149. On June 30, 2017, Demian and Witt of FTB substituted in as counsel for
Cotton and filed an amended cross-complaint in Cotton I (the “FAXC”).

150. The FAXC reduced and revised the causes of action from 11 to 7 as follows:
(1) breach of contract; (i1) intentional misrepresentation; (ii1) negligent misrepresentation;
(iv) false promise; (v) intentional interference with prospective economic relations; (vi)

negligent interference with prospective economic relations; and (vii) declaratory relief.

? Miller v. Metzinger (1979) 91 Cal.App.3d 31, 39-40 (““As our Supreme Court said
in Perkins v. West Coast Lumber Co. (1900) 129 Cal. 427, 429 [62 P. 57]: ‘When a party
seeking legal advice consults an attorney at law and secures that advice, the relation of
attorney and client is established prima facie.’ [....] In Westinghouse Elec. Corp. v. Kerr-
McGee Corp. (7th Cir. 1978) 580 F.2d 1311, 1319, the court said: ‘The fiduciary
relationship existing between lawyer and client extends to preliminary consultation by a
prospective client with a view to retention of the lawyer, although actual employment
does not result.’”).
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151. FTB’s amendments from Cotton’s pro se Complaint to their FAXC were
without factual or legal justification. The unjustified amendments include:

(1) Dropping Cotton’s cause of action for breach of an oral contract;

(i1) Dropping Cotton’s cause of action for fraud;

(i11) Dropping Cotton’s cause of action for conspiracy against Geraci and Berry;

(iv) Dropping Berry from all causes of action except the seventh for declaratory
relief; and

(v) Amending Cotton’s factual allegation that the ‘“‘agreement reached on
November 2, 2016 is a valid and binding oral agreement,”!? to alleging the parties had
reached “an agreement to agree” in the future which is not an enforceable agreement. '

152. On August 25, 2017, Judge Wohlfeil entered a minute order reflecting that
pursuant to the stipulation of F&B and FTB, no new parties could be named and all
unserved, non-appearing and fictitiously named parties were dismissed.

153. F&B and FTB’s failure to name Martin as an indispensable party as required
by law is without justification as FTB had disclosed the Martin Purchase Agreement to
F&B and both parties knew Martin was the equitable owner of the Property. '

10 “In San Francisco Iron etc. Co. v. American Mill. etc. Co. (1931) 115 Cal.App.
238, a joint venture was held to be consummated when the minds of the parties meet as
to the formation of the contract of joint venture. Also it was held that a joint venture could
exist without explication of all details.” Franco W. Oil Co. v. Fariss, 259 Cal. App. 2d
325, 345 (1968).

H “It is Hornbook law that an agreement to make an agreement is nugatory, and that
this is true of material terms of any contract.” Roberts v. Adams (1958) 164 Cal. App. 2d
312, 314. “‘[N]either law nor equity provides a remedy for a breach of an agreement to
agree in the future.’ [Citation.]” Id. at 316.

12 See, e.g., Cotton I, ROA 115 (F&B opposition to Cotton December 7, 2017 ex parte
application for TRO) at 11 (“[I]f Cotton is granted his TRO or PI, then he has every
incentive as a co-applicant to torpedo the CUP approval process so that the condition
required for Geraci to acquire the Property is not satisfied and Cotton can instead sell the
Property to another buyer he has lined up for a purchase price of $2,000,000 (compared
to the $800,000 purchase price he will receive from Geraci). In other words, if Cotton is
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154. Also, on August 25, 2017, FTB filed a second amended cross-complaint for
Cotton (the “SAXC”). This time, FTB dropped the causes of action for intentional and
negligent interference with prospective economic relations.

155. The amendments from the FAXC to the SAXC are without factual or legal
justification.

156. On November 20, 2017, Geraci filed his Answer to the SAXC.

157. Geraci’s fifth affirmative defense in his Cotton I Answer states: “[Geraci]
currently has insufficient information upon which to form a belief as to the existence of
additional and as yet unstated affirmative defenses. [Geraci] reserves the right to assert
additional affirmative defenses in the event discovery discloses the existence of said
affirmative defenses.”

158. On September 9, 2017, Geraci filed a demurrer to Cotton’s SAXC (the
“Second F&B Demurrer”), which includes the following admission by F&B: “[Geraci]
alleges in his Complaint that the [November Document] contains all the material terms
and conditions of the agreement for the purchase and sale of the [Property] and is the
entire agreement enforceable between the parties.” Cotfon I, ROA 53 at 8 (emphasis
added).

159. On November 3, 2017, Judge Wohlfeil held a hearing on Geraci’s demurrer

to the SAXC having issued a tentative ruling overruling Geraci’s demurer.

160. The hearing was a fraud on the court that can be described as a play put on
for Judge Wohlfeil by F&B and FTB seeking to have Cotton’s case dismissed before it
could proceed further.

161. Geraci’s demurrer relied on Beazell v. Schrader (1963) 59 Cal.2d 577 and
Sterling v. Taylor (2007) 40 Cal.4th 757, both of which were decided before Riverisland
in 2013. At the hearing, Weinstein drew Judge Wohlfeil’s attention to those “two

granted his TRO and/or PI but Geraci prevails at trial, Geraci's victory may be a pyrrhic
one as Cotton would have a $1.2 million reason to destroy the CUP approval process in
order to free Cotton to close the more lucrative deal he has made with another buyer,
[Martin], for the purchase and sale of the Property.”) (Emphasis in original removed).
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California Supreme Court cases” and argued materially as follows:

So those decisions clearly hold that under the statute of frauds, extrinsic
evidence can’t be employed to prove an agreement at odds with the terms
of the memorandum. Put another way, the parol agreement, in this case,
alleged oral agreement that Mr. Cotton is alleging of which the written
agreement is a memorandum, must be one whose terms are consistent with
the terms of the memorandum. So determining whether extrinsic evidence
provides the certainty required by the statutes, [the] Court has to recognize
that extrinsic evidence cannot contradict the terms of the writing.

162. F&B’s is arguing the Pendergrass line of reasoning. Bank of America etc.
Assn. v. Pendergrass (1935) 4 Cal.2d 258.

163. Demian then appeared to oppose F&B, but in reality, he was informing Judge
Wohlfeil that he should dismiss the case because the parties had reached an unenforceable

agreement to agree. As argued by Demian:

[S]everal of the statements of Mr. Weinstein are interesting to me and they
point up that our case and our causes of action for breach of contract have
merit.... That November [Document] leads with this language: “Darryl
Cotton has agreed to sell the property located at,” et cetera. Darryl Cotton has
agreed. Darryl Cotton does not hereby agree pursuant to the terms of this
agreement. If you look at real estate purchase agreements, CAR forms,
commercially drafted, they will all say, The seller of the property hereby
agrees to sell the property.

Our case is based on the idea that this is a receipt. This is more a receipt than
an agreement. This document was signed because Mr. Geraci said, I'm going
to give you $10,000. We need to at least put down that we have this
agreement to agree and have an exchange of this cash in a writing that
documents it.... And consistent with all our allegations in our cause of action,
we assert that there was an agreement to reach the final terms of an
agreement.

I know 1 firmly believe this complaint states a cause of action that survives

the statute of frauds and the standard for general demurrer.... Where there is
a written agreement to agree, the cause of action can stand.... When you
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have that agreement to agree, it’s not necessarily an unhinged agreement to
agree. You may have agreement.

164. At no point has Cotton ever argued anything other than that he and Geraci
reached the JVA - “a valid and binding oral agreement.”

165. Demian’s argument contradicted his own client’s judicial admissions.

166. What Demian did was highlight to Judge Wohlfeil that he “firmly believed,”

99 ¢¢

not that he “knew,” that “a written agreement to agree” “may” be an agreement.
167. Despite the fact that FTB amended Cotton’s complaint to include language
that the parties had “agreed to agree,” Weinstein feigned ignorance that Demian could

even argue such a position at the hearing:

[Demian] is now saying they had an agreement to agree. If that’s the case,
then his case gets -- the cause of action gets knocked out automatically.
There's no such thing as [an] agreement to agree.

It's even in your quotation in the tentative ruling. You were distinguishing in
there between agreement to agree and actual agreement to negotiate in good
faith towards something. Those are different things. So I need to make that
point.

168. Weinstein is correct; Demian is wrong: “There’s no such thing as [an]
agreement to agree.”

169. Had Demian raised the Confirmation Email and argued what any first-year
law school student would know to argue, that to prove the existence of a contract requires
evidence of mutual assent, Cotton I would have been resolved in Cotton’s favor then and

there and this lawsuit would not be required.

G. The Motion for Partial Adjudication
170. On March 8, 2019, Cotton filed a motion for summary judgment or,

alternatively, summary adjudication (the “MSA”).
171. In the MSA, Cotton:
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Move[d] for summary adjudication on two issues and the four causes of action
in Geraci’s Complaint. The first issue is a finding that the November Document
is not a fully integrated agreement for the sale of the Property. The second, that
Geraci’s newly raised affirmative defense — the Disavowment Allegation — is
barred as a matter of law []. Lastly, as to Geraci’s Complaint, it fails as each of
his four claims have an element requiring Geraci prove the November
Document is a valid fully integrated agreement for the sale of the Property.

172. Atthe hearing, in response to questions by specially appearing attorney Ellen
Plaskett — whose sole mandate was to have Judge Wohlfeil address the legal import of the
Confirmation Email to the November Document - Judge Wohlfeil responded: ... the

Court cannot and will not adjudicate this case as a matter of law...”

H. The Cotton I Trial
173. All of the parties that testified on Geraci’s behalf at trial were (i) Geraci, (ii)

Berry, (ii1) Austin, (iv) Bartell, (v) Schweitzer, and (vi) Tirandazi.

174. All these parties directly testified or provided supporting testimony for, inter
alia, the conclusion that Geraci is not barred by law from owning a CUP pursuant to the
Berry Application either due to the Sanctions Issue or the Berry Fraud.

175. Geraci cannot legally own a cannabis CUP pursuant to the Berry Application
because of, inter alia, the Sanctions Issue and the Berry Fraud (hereinafter, collectively,
the “Illegality Issue”™).

176. City attorney Phelps attended the trial.

177. City attorney Phelps prepared Tirandazi for testifying.

178. City attorney Phelps knows or should know that (i) Tirandazi’s decision to
not cancel the Berry Application at Cotton’s request violates the SDMC (as set forth in
the Engebretsen decision) and (ii) that the filing of Cotton I was a sham.

179. Judge Wohlfeil prohibited Cotton and Hurtado from providing contradicting
testimony seeking to oppose Geraci’s evidence that the market value of the Property is
exponentially greater than $800,000 inclusive of a cannabis CUP.

180. Austin falsely testified that, inter alia, (i) she did not speak with Hurtado
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regarding the November Document on March 6, 2017 and (i1) that she did not confirm to
Hurtado the November Document is not a purchase contract.

181. Judge Wohlfeil prohibited Cotton and Hurtado from testifying about
Magagna’s attempts to bribe and threaten Corina Young, a material third-party witness to
the conspiracy.

182. Just prior to trial Judge Wohlfeil denied Flores’ motion to intervene as a
successor-in-interest to Richard Martin, who purchased the Property after Cotton

canceled the agreement with Geraci and, therefore, an indispensable party.

I. The DQ Motion

183. On January 25, 2018, Judge Wohlfeil stated from the bench that he does not
believe that Weinstein, Austin, or Demian are capable of acting unethically against Cotton
(Judge Wohlfeil’s “Fixed-Opinion” statement).

184. On August 2, 2018, at an ex parte hearing, Flores, making a special
appearance for Cotton’s then counsel, noted that Cotton was preparing a motion to
disqualify Judge Wohlfeil (the “DQ Motion”) and Judge Wohlfeil asked for “an offer of
proof.”

185. Flores responded by reminding him of his Fixed-Opinion statement on
January 25, 2018.

186. Judge Wohlfeil responded by saying that he “may” have made the Fixed-
Opinion statement because he has known Weinstein since “early on” in their careers when
they both started their practices (collectively with the Fixed-Opinion statement, the
“Extrajudicial Statements”).

187. On September 12, 2018, Cotton filed the DQ Motion.

188. The DQ Motion set forth, inter alia, the following facts and arguments: the
Extrajudicial Statements, the Illegality Issue, and violations of the SDMC and BPC §
26057.

189. Judge Wohlfeil denied the DQ Motion, but he did not deny he made the
Extrajudicial Statements (the “DQ Order”).
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190. The DQ Order alleges that the basis of the Extrajudicial Statements was
formed during the course of the proceedings and, as such, cannot be the basis of
disqualification.

191. Judge Wohlfeil also denied the DQ Motion incorrectly stating that he was
not in chambers when the DQ Motion was served.

192. Flores personally called Judge Wohlfeil’s chambers and requested to speak
with Judge Wohlfeil’s law clerk. Flores spoke with a law clerk named Calvin, who stated
he was a temporary law clerk for Judge Wohlfeil, and who confirmed that Judge Wohlfeil
was in chambers.

193. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of Flores’ call log
showing he called Judge Wohlfeil’s chambers on September 12, 2018 at 3:48 p.m. for
approximately 5 minutes. The length of the call is because when Flores spoke with law
clerk Calvin, Flores requested that Calvin please go confirm Judge Wohlfeil was in fact
present and in chambers as required by code, which he did placing Flores on hold while
he confirmed same.

194. The DQ Motion is time stamped 4:22 p.m. and was personally served on law
clerk Calvin by Cotton’s then attorney.

J. The Motion for New Trial
195. After the trial of Cotton I, Cotton specially hired counsel from out of state to

file a motion for a new trial (the “MNT”).

196. Cotton’s specially appearing counsel filed the MNT based primarily on three
grounds: (i) even assuming the November Document were a contract, it is illegal and
cannot be enforced because of the Sanctions Issue and the Berry Fraud; (i1) the jury in
Cotton I applied a subjective standard to Geraci’s conduct and an objective standard to
Cotton’s conduct and (ii1) Geraci, F&B and Austin used the attorney-client privilege as a
shield during discovery and a sword at trial, which prohibited Cotton from having a fair
and impartial trial.

197. The F&B opposition to the MNT is without any factual or legal justification.
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198. At the MNT hearing, Judge Wohlfeil denied the MNT apparently believing
F&B’s opposition argument that Cotton had waived the defense of illegality because
Cotton had allegedly not previously raised the Sanctions Issue or the Berry Fraud.

199. The following exchange took place between Judge Wohlfeil and Cotton’s

counsel regarding the defense of illegality, as well as Toothacre’s closing comment:

Cotton’s Counsel: ... I’ll get to the illegality of the contract issue first. The
fact is it cuts to the heart of the motion that we filed and the biggest
issue. [....]

Judge Wohlfeil: So you are saying the contract is unenforceable?

Cotton’s Counsel: Yes.

Judge Wohlfeil: As a matter of law?

Cotton’s Counsel: Yes. [The] CUP was a condition precedent to the contract.

Judge Wohlfeil: [....] from the Court's perspective as a matter of law up to
this point, you have been asking me to adjudicate the contract in your
favor. Now you're asking the Court to adjudicate the contract as a matter
of law against the other side. Counsel, shouldn't this have been raised
at some earlier point in time?

Cotton’s Counsel: ... the illegality argument has been raised before and raised
in the context of reference to state law and Section [26057] of the
California business and professions code...

Judge Wohlfeil: Even if you are correct, hasn’t that train come and gone?
The judgment has been entered. You are raising this for the first
time?

Cotton’s Counsel: Your Honor, illegality of the contract can be raised any
time whether in the beginning or during the case or on appeal. [....]

Judge Wohlfeil: But at some point, doesn't your side waive the right to assert
this argument? At some point? [....] Anything else, counsel?
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Cotton’s Counsel: The other thing I’d like to point out, section [11.0401] of
[the] San Diego Municipal Code specifically states that every applicant
[must furnish] true and complete information. And that’s obviously not
what happened here. I think it’s undisputed and the reasoning for the
failure to disclose, there is no exception to either the San Diego
Municipal [C]ode or [state law] [f]or failure to disclose.

Judge Wohlfeil: Thank you, very much.

Cotton’s Counsel: Thank you, Your Honor.

Judge Wohlfeil: I am not inclined to change the Court’s view. Did either one
of you need to be heard?

Toothacre: Just to make a record. One comment with respect to the illegality
argument. Obviously, we agree with the comments of the Court but the
failure to make these disclosures in the CUP, it doesn’t make the
contract between Geraci and [CJotton unenforceable. It's one thing to
say that the contract or the form wasn’t properly filled out, that doesn't
make the contract unenforceable. That’s all we have for the record.

200. Judge Wohlfeil’s comments are contradictory. If Cotton’s counsel was
“correct” that the illegality had previously been raised, then how can that “train [have]
come and gone” for failure to raise?

201. Judge Wohlfeil did not address the other issues raised in the MNT and
summarily denied the MNT without providing any reasoning.

202. Judge Wohlfeil’s position that Cotton did not raise the Sanctions Issue or the
Berry Fraud prior to the MNT is factually incorrect - it was repeatedly alleged in Cotton
I including in Cotton’s pro se cross-complaint, as one of the main foci seeking Judge

Wohlfeil’s disqualification in the DQ Motion,'? in opposition to a motion in limine by

13 Cotton I, ROA 292 at 33:11-13 (“Judge Wohlfeil has ratified [Geraci’s] attempt to
pursue an interest in the Property and by extension the CUP even though [Geraci] cannot
legally own an interest in a Marijuana Outlet under state law.”).
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F&B seeking to exclude the Geraci Judgements,'* it was the basis of a motion by Cotton
seeking leave to amend his answer to include an affirmative defense of antitrust laws

based on the Enterprise’s Antitrust Conspiracy,'” and the subject of a motion for directed

verdict by Cotton at trial.'®

203. It is impossible to reconcile Judge Wohlfeil’s statements from the bench at
the MNT hearing with the record of Cotton I; especially as the record of the Illegality
Issue being raised prior to the MNT in Cotton I was described in Cotton’s Reply to the
MNT.

204. Judge Wohlfeil’s statements at the MNT hearing could lead a reasonable
person to believe that he did not read Cotton’s MNT and the Reply, and only read F&B’s
opposition to the MNT.

205. Contrary to Judge Wohlfeil’s ruling, as set forth in greater detail in the Reply
to the MNT, as a matter of law the defense of illegality cannot be waived. City Lincoln-
Mercury Co. v. Lindsey, 52 Cal.2d 267, 274 (Cal. 1959) (“A party to an illegal contract
cannot ratify it, cannot be estopped from relying on the illegality, and cannot waive his
right to urge that defense.”); see Erhart v. BOFI Holding, Inc., No. 15-cv-02287-BAS-
NLS, at *12 (S.D. Cal. Feb. 14, 2017) (“No principle of law is better settled than that a

party to an illegal contract cannot come into a court of law and ask to have his illegal

14 Cotton I, ROA 581 (Cotton’s opposition to F&B’s motion in limine seeking to bar

the Geraci Judgments arguing they are not material and irrelevant) at 2:12-15 (“[I]t is
Cotton’s contention that because of the various disclosure laws with not only the City for
the CUP but also with the State for final approval Mr. Geraci knew he would never be
able to meet this condition without utilizing a proxy to do so. Therefore, in this context
the fact that Mr. Geraci was sanctioned is relevant. Additionally, it is material that Mr.
Geraci never disclosed these facts to Cotton and it is his contention that this was part of
his scheme to deprive him of his property.”).

15 Cotton I, ROA 596 (July 1, 2019 Minute Order) (“Defense counsel make a motion
to amend answer to add Anti-Trust Enterprise defense for conspiracy, Court hears oral
argument. The motion to amend answer is denied.”).

16 Cotton I, ROA 615 at 5:21-22 (“Despite Ms. Austin’s Testimony Mr. Geraci’s Prior
Sanctions, and His Intentional Failure to Disclose his Interest, Bar Him From Ownership
of [a] Marijuana [Outlet].”).
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objects carried out[.]”) (quoting Lee On v. Long, 37 Cal. 2d 499, 502 (1951)).

IV. CortTton 1
206. On October 6, 2017, FTB filed on behalf of Cotton a Verified Petition for

Alternative Writ of Mandate against the City - naming Geraci and Berry as real parties in
interest - demanding the City remove Berry from the Berry Application and recognize
Cotton as the sole applicant (“Cotton II’). Attached to the Cotton II petition were, inter
alia, the Request for Confirmation and the Confirmation Email in Exhibit 3. Attached
hereto as Exhibit 6.

207. Geraci and Berry filed verified answers that were also verified by Austin
who was their attorney of record for Cotton II.

208. Geraci, in his answer, judicially admits he sent the Confirmation Email.

209. Thus, Geraci, Berry, and Austin, as attorneys or real estate agents/brokers
knew that the Confirmation Email is evidence that the parties did not mutually assent to
the November Document being a fully integrated contract as alleged in Geraci’s Cotton 1
complaint.

210. The City was represented by Phelps who argued the City was a third-party
to a private dispute.

211. Phelps knew that the City had a ministerial duty to ensure that CUP
applications were processed in accordance with the SDMC.

212. Phelps knew or should have known that Berry had no right to the use of the
Property because her alleged agency violates the statute of frauds and the equal dignity
rule.

213. Phelps knew or should have known that Geraci could not own a cannabis
CUP as a matter of law because of the Illegality Issues.

214. Judge Wohlfeil denying Cotton’s petition is void for, inter alia, enforcing an

17" Cotton v City of San Diego, San Diego Superior Court Case No 37-2017-00037675-
CU-WM-CTL.
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illegal contract.
V. CorTon I8

215. On February 9, 2018, Cotton, proceeding pro se, filed a federal complaint
against Geraci, Berry, Austin, ALG, Weinstein, F&B, and the City alleging eighteen
causes of action under federal and state law as well as declaratory and injunctive relief
(“Cotton III).

216. The Cotton III complaint is essentially the same as Cotton’s pro se cross
complaint in Cotton I.

217. At that point in time, Cotton was not aware that McElfresh (i) was also an
attorney for Geraci and Razuki, (i1) had shared clients with Austin, or (iii) that FTB, who
she referred Cotton to, had shared clients with Geraci.

218. The motions to dismiss the Cotton III complaint are sham defenses that
constitute a fraud on the court.

219. Any reasonable attorney would have concluded that Cotfon I was a sham

action that failed to state a cause of action.

VI. CorToNIVE
220. On December 6, 2018, Cotton and Hurtado, through counsel filed a federal

complaint alleging various causes of action against inter alia, Geraci, Berry, F&B, ALG,
and a legal malpractice claim against FTB.

221. On March 8, 2019, Cotton filed the MSA in Cotton I.

222. On March 26, 2019, attorney James D. Crosby as attorney-of-record for
Geraci and Berry filed their answer to Cotton’s Cotfon IV complaint.

223. The answer admits that Geraci sent the Confirmation Email but does not set
forth affirmative defenses of fraud or mistake.

224. Flores was initially dumbfounded when he first read the answer Crosby filed

8 Cotton v. Geraci (S.D. Cal. Feb. 28, 2018) Case No.: 18cv325-GPC(MDD)
(“Cotton V).
¥ Cotton v. Geraci (S.D. Cal. May. 14, 2019) Case No.: 18cv2751-GPC(MDD)
(“Cotton VI).
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because the MSA was pending before Judge Wohlfeil seeking to have the court
specifically address the fact that the Disavowment Allegation is substantively an
affirmative defense of fraud and mistake.

225. The Answer filed by Crosby is a sham defense and committed a fraud on the
Court because it perpetuates the fraud on the court in the Cotfon I action that the
Disavowment Allegation does not substantively constitute affirmative defenses that were
waived for not being raised in Geraci’s Cotton I answer.

226. Crosby, by filing the Cotton IV answers on behalf of Geraci/Berry, became
a conspirator/accessory-after-the fact to a criminal scheme that includes making
misrepresentations to the State and Federal courts and acts and threats of violence against
innocent third-parties and their families.

227. Crosby’s actions only became understandable when Flores began his
investigations into Crosby and discovered that (i) Crosby is a solo-practitioner who has
an office in the same office building as F&B and (i1) was previously represented by F&B
in a legal matter that resulted in a judgement in his favor in excess of $500,000.%° And,
given that Crosby was willing to represent Geraci/Berry and file a sham defense, Crosby
relies to a material degree on business from F&B.

228. F&B’s use of Crosby as a proxy to commit a fraud on the Federal Court is
the Enterprise’s defining modus operandi.

229. On May 14, 2019, Judge Curiel dismissed the Cotton IV complaint with
prejudice.

230. On March 26, 2019 in Cotton & Hurtado v. Larry Geraci et al, Case No.
318-cv-027510-GPC-MDD the law firm of PETTIT, KOHN, INGRASSIA LUTZ &
DOLIN PC, representing Defendants GINA M. AUSTIN AND AUSTIN LEGAL
GROUP, filed a Motion to Dismiss the complaint.

231. On May 3, 2019 in Cotton & Hurtado v. Larry Geraci et al, Case No. 318-

20 See Crosby v. Neuman, San Diego Superior Court, Case No. 37-2010-00057331-
CU-CO-NC, ROA 140.

WohlfeilSER-128



Case 3:20-83€0(6b6BAS-DEBS5/Daeainmientl27 0Fsiked OKI1RY: FPadedDel078 oPhgeé 36 of 48

cv-027510-GPC-MDD the law firm of LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP,
representing Defendants FINCH THORNTON & BAIRD. DAVID DEMIAN AND
ADAM WITT filed a Motion to Dismiss the complaint.

232. On May 3, 2019 in Cotton & Hurtado v. Larry Geraci et al, Case No. 318-
cv-027510-GPC-MDD the law firm of GORDON & REES SCULLY MANSHUKANI,
representing Defendants MICHAEL R. WEINSTEIN, SCOTT TOOTHACRE AND
FERRIS BRITTON APC, filed a Motion to Dismiss the complaint.

233. On May 5, 2020 in Cotton v. Larry Geraci et al, Case No. 318-cv-00325-
BAS-MDD the law firm of PETTIT KOHN INGRASSIA LUTZ & DOLIN, representing
Defendants GINA M. AUSTIN AND AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP M WITT, filed a Motion
to Dismiss the complaint.

234. On June 26, 2020 in Cotton v. Larry Geraci et al, Case No. 318-cv-00325-
BAS-MDD the law firm of KJAR, McKENNA & STOCKALPER LLP, representing
Defendant MICHAEL WEINSTEIN, filed a Motion to Dismiss the complaint.

235. On June 30, 2020 1n Flores et al v. Gina M. Austin et al, Case No. 320-cv-
00656-BAS-DEB the law firm of KJAR, McKENNA & STOCKALPER LLP,
representing Defendants MICHAEL WEINSTEIN, SCOTT H. TOOTHACRE, ELYSSA
KULAS, RACHEL PRENDERGRAST AND FERRIS & BRITTON, filed a Motion to

Dismiss the complaint.

VII. CoTrToN V
236. This suit is the fifth suit to be filed that alleges that Geraci and his

conspirators have committed a fraud on the court by filing and/or maintaining a lawsuit
that alleges that Geraci can lawfully own a cannabis CUP via the Berry Application.

237. To date, other than Judge Wohlfeil who found the defense of illegality had
been waived, over ten judges have failed to address the legality of Geraci’s ownership of
a cannabis CUP via the Berry Application. And, thus, the validity of the Cotton I
judgment.
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238. Numerous parties who financed or lent money to Cotton and/or are victims
of the Enterprise are scared to vindicate their rights in a court of law because they believe
that the State and Federal judiciaries are motivated to cover-up the knowing or negligent
actions of the City and the judiciaries role in allowing the instant situation to develop.

239. On January 21, 2019, Nguyen promised to provide Young’s testimony
confirming, inter alia, Magagna’s attempts at bribing and threatening her.

240. Nguyen never provided Young’s testimony as promised.

241. The Cotton I trial was held without Young’s testimony regarding statements
made by Bartell reflecting he was acting in bad faith or Magagna’s attempts at bribing
and threatening her.

242, In or around June 2019, Young told Flores that he needed to be careful, as
he had become the equitable owner of the Property and would seek to vindicate his rights
in a court of law, because Austin and Magagna are dangerous.

243. In or around January 2020, Young told Flores that Nguyen had unilaterally
decided to not provide Young’s testimony before the Cotfon [ trial because it was too late

for Cotton to do anything about it.

VIII. CoTTON’S PRO SE EMAILS TO ATTORNEYS

244. On December 24, 2019, Cotton sent an email to numerous parties including
the attorneys named herein after he realized that McElfresh had represented Geraci in
supposedly appealing the granting of the cannabis CUP at issue in Cotfon I to Magagna.
Attached hereto as Exhibit 7 (exclusive of exhibits).

245. Cotton’s email outlines the conspiracy by Geraci as alleged herein, describes
McElfresh’s role, and demands that various attorneys abide by their affirmative ethical
duties to the judiciaries and expose Geraci’s conspiracy.

246. On May 29, 2020, Cotton sent a second email to a larger group outlining in
detail allegations of Geraci’s “sham” lawsuit as described herein. Attached hereto as
Exhibit 8 (exclusive of exhibits).

ADDITIONAL SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS AND CAUSES OF ACTION
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION - § 1983
(Flores against Judge Wohlfeil)

247. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations in the
preceding paragraphs.

248. “The Due Process Clause entitles a person to an impartial and disinterested
tribunal. ” Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc., 446 U.S. 238, 243 (1980). In addition, “justice must
satisfy the appearance of justice.” Offutt v. United States, 348 U.S. 11, 14 (1954); Exxon
Corp. v. Heinze, 32 F.3d 1399, 1403 (9th Cir. 1994) (“[T]he Constitution is concerned
not only with actual bias but also with ‘the appearance of justice.””). “Bias exists where
a court has prejudged, or reasonably appears to have prejudged, an issue.” Kenneally v.
Lungren, 967 F.2d 329, 333 (9th Cir. 1992) (quotation and citation omitted).

A. The Extrajudicial Statements
249. The DQ Order alleges that the basis of the Extrajudicial Statements were

formed during the course of the proceedings and, as such, cannot be the basis of
disqualification. In support of this position, Judge Wohlfeil quotes Liteky v. United States
for the following proposition: “[O]pinions formed by the judge on the basis of facts
introduced or events occurring during current or prior proceedings are not grounds for a
recusal motion unless they display a similar degree of favoritism or antagonism.” 510 U.S
540, 555.

250. However, Liteky describes “extrajudicial” as “clearly [meaning] a source
outside the judicial proceeding at hand-which would include as extrajudicial sources
earlier judicial proceedings conducted by the same judge (as are at issue here).” Id. at 545.

251. Thus, although Liteky is directly applicable and controlling his reliance is
inapposite and by itself mandated his recusal.

252. The Extrajudicial Statements directly reflect the reality of Cotton I - Judge
Wohlfeil had pre-judged that Cotfon I has been filed with probable cause because he knew
the attorneys that filed and maintained Cotton 1.

B. Service of the DQ Motion
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253. Judge Wohlfeil alleges that Cotton did not serve the DQ Motion. Flores
provides herewith his cell phone record as evidence that he confirmed with Judge
Wohlfeil’s clerk that Judge Wohlfeil was in chambers minutes before the DQ Motion was
served.

254. A reasonable third party could believe that it appears that Judge Wohlfeil
falsely stated that he was not served with the DQ Motion, particularly when coupled with

his misrepresentation of the Extrajudicial Statements as not being extrajudicial.

C. Refusal to adjudicate Questions of Law
255. As explicitly stated at the MSA hearing, Judge Wohlfeil refused throughout

Cotton I to address various case-dispositive questions of law. While the refusal to address
questions of law by itself is not a basis to determine judicial bias, when coupled with the
Extrajudicial Statements issue above, it is.

256. For example, the Request for Confirmation cannot be interpreted in any
manner to be an attempt to “renegotiate” by Cotton or an “extortionate” scheme as alleged
by Geraci and F&B. Doe I v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 572 F.3d 677, 681 (9th Cir. 2009)
(“Contract interpretation is a question of law...”).

257. “When a dispute arises over the meaning of contract language under
California law, the first question that must be decided is ‘whether the language is
reasonably susceptible to the interpretation urged by the party. If it is not, the case is
over.”” Hindin/Owen/Engelke, Inc. v. Four Seasons Healthcare, Inc., 267 F. App'x 648,
649 (9th Cir. 2008) (quoting Oceanside 84 v. Fid, Fed. Bank, 56 Cal.App.4th 1441, 1448,
66 Cal.Rptr.2d 487 (Cal.Ct.App. 1997) (emphasis added)).

258. There is simply no justification for Cotton I to have ever been filed, much
less a judgment issued, based on Geraci’s allegation that the Request for Confirmation
can reasonably be read to be a “renegotiation” or “extortionate” tactic by Cotton.

259. Another dispositive issue, Geraci’s complaint fails as a matter of law because
Geraci admits, inter alia, that the “good faith” deposit referenced in the November

Document is actually non-refundable. Thus, the November Document cannot be a fully
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integrated contract as alleged in Geraci’s complaint. Founding Members v. Newport
Beach (2003) 109 Cal. App. 4th 944, 954 (“Whether a contract is integrated is a question
of law when the evidence of integration is not in dispute.”); Brandwein v. Butler, 218 Cal.
App. 4th 1485, 1510 (Cal. Ct. App. 2013) (“The crucial threshold inquiry, therefore, and
one for the court to decide, is whether the parties’ intended their written agreement to be

fully integrated.”).

D. The Waiver of the Defense of Illegality
260. Judge Wohlfeil denied the MNT finding that the defense of illegality had

been waived for failure to raise prior to the MNT.

261. That is factually contradicted by the record of Cotfon I.

262. Cotton alleged that Berry and Geraci conspired to illegally acquire a
cannabis CUP at the Property via the Berry Fraud in his pro se complaint before it was
illegally amended by FTB.

263. Further, as argued in the MNT, a “party to an illegal contract cannot ratify
it, cannot be estopped from relying on the illegality, and cannot waive his right to urge
that defense.” City Lincoln-Mercury Co. v. Lindsey, 52 Cal.2d 267, 274 (Cal. 1959).

E. Denial of Flores’ motion to intervene as an indispensable party.

264. Judge Wohlfeil’s denial of Flores” motion to intervene in the Cotton I action
deprives Flores of his constitutional right to not be deprived of his property without due
process. Truax v. Corrigan, 257 U.S. 312, 332 (1921) (“The due process clause requires
that every man shall have the protection of his day in court.”).

265. Judge Wohlfeil’s ruling denying Flores’ motion to intervene in Cotton [
deprives Flores of his constitutional right to bring forth a claim to prove a “conspiracy
deprived [Flores] of [his] federally-protected due process right of access to the courts.”
Bell, 746 F.2d at 1261.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION - § 1983
(Plaintiffs against all Defendants, (except Judge Wohlfeil))

266. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations in the
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preceding paragraphs.

267. Geraci and his agents conspired to defraud Cotton of the Property.

268. Geraci and his agents conspired to illegally acquire the cannabis CUP at the
Property.

269. When Cotton discovered the Berry Fraud, Geraci and his agents filed and/or
maintained Cotton I, Cotton 11, Cotton Il and Cotton IV on the false allegation that Geraci
could lawfully own a cannabis CUP via the Berry Application.

270. All submissions by all parties that supported or failed to inform the courts
that the November Document could not be a legal contract because it lacks mutual assent
and a lawful object are sham defenses that constitute a fraud on the court.

271. All reasonable attorneys would have checked the pleadings in the various
cases and also learned of the acts and threats of violence taken against, inter alia, Y oung.

272. Any reasonable attorney knowing that Cotfon I is a sham would know that
there was a high probability that the allegations of violence against Young were likely to
be true.

273. These actions by Geraci, his agents, including his attorneys and Tirandazi
and Phelps are acts in furtherance of the Antitrust Conspiracy.

274. The Antitrust Conspiracy could not have been effectuated without the
knowing and critical complicity of Tirandazi and Phelps.

275. “Itis clear that defendants who were engaged in purely private conduct may
be found liable under § 1983 if it is established that they have acted in concert with another
party against whom a valid claim can be stated.” Briley v. California, 564 F.2d 849, 858
(9th Cir. 1977).

276. “When executive action like a discrete permitting decision is at issue, only
egregious official conduct can be said to be arbitrary in the constitutional sense: it must
amount to an abuse of power lacking any reasonable justification in the service of a
legitimate governmental objective.” Shanks v. Dressel, 540 F.3d 1082, 1088 (9th Cir.
2008) (quotations and citations omitted).
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277. Tirandazi was responsible for processing the Berry Application.

Tirandazi should have cancelled the Berry Application when Cotton demanded that the
Berry Application be transferred to him. Engebretsen v. City of San Diego, No. D068438,
2016 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 8548 (Nov. 30, 2016) (emphasis added).

278. Berry never showed any legal right to the use of the Property.

279. Berry’s oral allegation that she was acting as an agent of Geraci when she
submitted the Berry Application violates the statute of frauds, the equal dignities rule,
State and City disclosure requirements, and the plain language of Ownership Disclosure
Statement. See Civ. Code § 1624(4); id. § 2309°!; SDMC §11.0401(b) (“No person
willfully shall make a false statement or fail to report any material fact in any application
for City license, permit, certificate, employment or other City action under the provisions
of the [SDMC]”); SDMC § 121.0311 (*“Violations of the Land Development Code shall
be treated as strict liability offenses regardless of intent.”) (Emphasis added).

280. Thus, every attorney named herein is liable for causing, permitting, aiding
or abetting the Enterprise’s Antitrust Conspiracy or failing to take affirmative action when
lawfully required to do so. SDMC § 11.0402 (“Whenever in [the SDMC] any act or
omission is made unlawful, it shall include causing, permitting, aiding or abetting such
act or omission.”).

281. “The purpose of the statute of frauds is to prevent fraud and perjury as to
extrajudicial agreements by requiring enforcement of the more reliable evidence of some
writing signed by the party to be charged.” Kohn v. Jaymar-Ruby, Inc. (1994) 23
Cal.App.4th 1530, 1534.

282. Phelps is an experienced land use attorney for the City.

2L Martindell v. Bodrero, 256 Cal.App.2d 56, 61 (Cal. Ct. App. 1967) (“It is well
established that parol evidence is not admissible to relieve from liability an agent who
signs personally without disclosing the name of the principal on the face of the
instrument.”); Hollywood Nat. Bank v. International Bus. Mach, 38 Cal.App.3d 607, 617
(Cal. Ct. App. 1974) (“[ W]here the writing is unambiguous on its face, extrinsic evidence
is inadmissible to show that a person acted purely as an agent.”).
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283. Phelps knows that Geraci cannot own a cannabis CUP via the Berry
Application.

284. To this day, despite being served with various submissions in various legal
proceedings, submitting arguments and taking part in numerous cases, and being emailed
repeatedly by Cotton with evidence, Phelps has failed to inform the Courts that Geraci
cannot own a cannabis CUP via the Berry Application because of, inter alia, the Illegality
Issues.

285. Thus, the City is liable. Trevino v. Gates, 99 F.3d 911, 920 (9th Cir. 1996)
(“We have found municipal liability on the basis of ratification when the officials
involved adopted and expressly approved of the acts of others who caused the
constitutional violation.”).

286. Similarly, Phelps and every other attorney named here has violated their
affirmative duties to the Court to prevent a miscarriage of justice and, consequently, have
committed a fraud on the State and Federal Courts. U.S. v. Shaffer Equipment Co., 11
F.3d 450, 457-58 (4th Cir. 1993) (“The [justice] system can provide no harbor for clever
devices to divert the search, mislead opposing counsel or the court, or cover up that which
is necessary for justice in the end. It is without note, therefore, that we recognize that
the lawyer's duties to maintain the confidences of a client and advocate vigorously are
trumped ultimately by a duty to guard against the corruption that justice will be
dispensed on an act of deceit.”) (Emphasis added).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION — § 1985
(Plaintiffs against all Defendants, except Judge Wohlfeil)

287. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations in the
preceding paragraphs.

288. “§ 1985... create[es] a cause of action based on a conspiracy which deprives
one of access to justice or equal protection of law.” Bell, 746 F.2d at 1233.

289. In order to establish a claim under the first part of § 1985(2), “the plaintiff

must show (1) a conspiracy between two or more persons, (2) to deter a witness by force,
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intimidation or threat from attending court or testifying freely in any pending matter,
which (3) results in injury to the plaintiff.” David v. U.S., 820 F.2d 1038, 1040 (9th Cir.
1987)

290. First, the filing and/or maintaining of various legal matters arguing that
Geraci can own a cannabis CUP via the Berry Application is evidence of the Antitrust
Conspiracy.

291. Second, in furtherance of the Antitrust Conspiracy, Magagna attempted to
bribe and then threatened Young to prevent her from providing testimony that would
establish the existence of the Enterprise and the Antitrust Conspiracy.

292. Nguyen’s unilateral decision to not provide Young’s testimony, as her
attorney, prevented Young from testifying freely and constitutes a fraud on the court. 7y
Inc. v. Softbelly's, Inc., 517 F.3d 494, 498 (7th Cir. 2008) (“Trying improperly to influence
a witness 1s fraud on the court and on the opposing party...).

293. Third, Plaintiffs are injured because Young’s testimony, if found by a jury
to be true, would evidence the Enterprise and the Antitrust Conspiracy that has deprived
Plaintiffs of their interest in cannabis CUPs.??

294. The acts and threats of violence and witness intimidation against Y oung took
place while Cotton Il was pending in Federal Court with a RICO cause of action.

295. Thus, those acts and threats of violence by Magagna and improper witness
intimidation by Nguyen are acts taken in both the State and Federal Courts.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION — § 1986
(Plaintiffs against all Defendants, (excluding Judge Wohlfeil))

296. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations in the
preceding paragraphs.

297. “[§] 1986 predicates liability upon (1) knowledge that any of the

22 Plaintiffs note there are numerous other acts of violence taken or ratified by defendants,
but which have not been alleged herein to focus on the acts and threats of violence against
Young.
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conspiratorial wrongs are about to be committed, (2) power to prevent or to aid in
preventing the commission of those wrongs, (3) neglect to do so, where (4) the wrongful
acts were committed, and (5) the wrongful acts could have been prevented by reasonable
diligence.” Bell v. City of Milwaukee (7th Cir. 1984) 746 F.2d 1205, 1233.

298. The named defendants to this cause of action knew that the Enterprise was
taking steps in furtherance of the Antitrust Conspiracy, which included the filing and
maintain of various legal actions alleging that Geraci could lawfully own a cannabis CUP
via the Berry Application, the acts and threats by Magagna, and the witness intimidation
by Nguyen against Young.

299. The defendants named in this cause of action had the power to prevent the
unlawful actions described herein.

300. The defendants named in this cause of action failed to act.

301. The unlawful acts described herein were committed.

302. The unlawful acts described herein could have been prevented by reasonable
diligence, which for the most part under these facts would have been to simply tell the
truth to either the State or Federal Courts.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION — DECLARATORY RELIEF
(Plaintiffs against Harcourt and Claybon)

303. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations in the
preceding paragraphs.

304. An actual controversy has arisen and now exists between Mrs. Sherlock and
minors T.S. and S.S., on one hand, and Harcourt and Claybon on the other.

305. Mrs. Sherlock claims that the facts alleged herein provide probable cause to
bring suit, in state court, against Harcourt and Claybon for taking actions in furtherance
of the Antitrust Conspiracy that defrauded Mrs. Sherlock and her minor children of their
interest in the Balboa CUP and the Ramona CUP that would have transferred to them
after Biker’s death.

306. Harcourt and Claybon have already communicated Harcourt’s Affirmative
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Defenses disputing Mrs. Sherlock’s position.

307. An actual, present and justiciable controversy has therefore arisen and now
exists between the Plaintiffs and defendants named in this cause of action with regard to
the transfer of Mr. Sherlock’s interests in the Balboa CUP and the Ramona CUP to
Harcourt.

308. A judicial determination of this controversy is necessary and appropriate in
order for the parties to ascertain their rights, duties, and obligation regarding this dispute.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION — DECLARATORY RELIEF
(Plaintiffs against all Defendants)

309. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein by reference the allegations in the
preceding paragraphs.

310. An actual controversy has arisen and now exists between Plaintiffs and the
defendants named in this cause of action.

311. Plaintiffs claim that the judgments reached in Cotton I, Cotton Il and Cotton
IV are void for being the product of judicial bias and being procured by acts and/or
omissions that constitute a fraud upon the court taken in furtherance of the Antitrust
Conspiracy.

312. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and therefore allege, that defendants
dispute this position.

313. An actual, present and justiciable controversy has therefore arisen and now
exists between Plaintiffs and Defendants named in this cause of action concerning the
validity of the judgements in question and (1) their acts or failure to act that contributed
to the procurement of those judgments and (i1) their knowledge that those judgments are
void.

314. A judicial determination of this controversy is necessary and appropriate in
order for the parties to ascertain their rights, duties, and obligation regarding this dispute.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiffs request that the Court grant the following relief:
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7.
8.
9.

The judgments in Cotton I, Cotton II, and Cotton IV be declared void;

A declaration that Plaintiffs be allowed to join Cotton I as indispensable parties;*
A declaration that Flores be allowed to join Cotton II as an indispensable party;
An order that Cotfon I and Cotton II be stayed pending resolution of this federal
action;

A declaration that no ruling, order or judgment issued by Judge Wohlfeil may be
used by defendants to justify any action in this matter due to judicial bias;

A declaration finding that the defendants have violated Plaintiff’s rights under the
Constitution and laws of the United States and the Constitution and laws of the
State of California;

An award of compensatory and general damages in an amount to be proven at trial;
An award of consequential damages in an amount to be proven at trial;

An award of statutory damages, as permitted by law;

10.An award of punitive damages, as permitted by law, to punish the defendants and

make examples of them; and

11.Reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs as allowed by law.

Dated: July 7, 2020 Law Offices of Andrew Flores

23

By /s/ Andrew Flores

Plaintiff /n Propria Persona, and
Attorney for Plaintiffs
AMY SHERLOCK, Minors T.S. and
S.S.

Plaintiffs will collectively file suit in state court against defendants for, inter alia,

violations of the Cartwright Act, the Bane Act, and/or negligent acts or omissions that
furthered the Antitrust Conspiracy in violation of 42 U.S.C § 1986.
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From: Andrew flores

Sent: Monday, March 9, 2020 3:47 PM

To: Allan Claybon <aclaybon@messner.com>

Subject: RE: Sherlock -Harcourt Leading Edge Real Estate [NON-PRIVLIGED CONVERSATION]

THIS COMMUNICATION IS NOT PRIVLIGED.
Mr. Claybon, the language in Stevens applies to CRA statutes that do not require a political class for protection.

I am only writing to confirm the obvious: your continued feigned ignorance, the core issue here is an
understanding of how Mr. Harcourt acquired Mr. Sherlock’s interest in the Balboa CUP.

YOUR RESPONSE DISINGENJOYUSLY CONTINUES TO IGNORE THIS SIMPLE REQUEST WHILE
PRETENTING THAT IT IS SOMEHOW DIFFICULT FOR MR. HARCOURT TO RESPONSE WITH A SIMPLE
ANSWER: “I BOUGHT IT” OR “HE GAVE IT TO ME.”

Your bad faith is manifest and I will be bringing suit against you, your firm and your client as early as this
week. Please stop threatening me with the implication that I am the individual that is acting in bad faith. It is my
belief that your stalling is an attempt for your client to manufacture evidence to legitimize his defrauding Mrs.
Sherlock of her interest in the Balboa CUP.

I am open to legitimate conversations, not feigned ignorance as reflected by our email chain below. Please
understand that while you continue to maintain that it is reasonable for Mr. Harcourt to not explain how he
acquired Mr. Sherlock’s interest, I view you as a criminal and co-conspirator of Mr. Harcourt that is using his
expertise of the law to maliciously injure Mrs. Sherlock and her children. As already noted, a court will decide
whether these communications and the facts set forth herein constitute probable cause to accuse you of such.

Andrew Flores
Attorney at Law

945 4™ Ave Suite 412
San Diego CA 92101
P. (619) 356-1556
F.(619) 274-8053

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

This electronic mail message and any attached files contain information intended for the exclusive use of the individual or
entity to whom it is addressed and may contain information that is proprietary, privileged, confidential and/or exempt from
disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any viewing, copying,

1
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disclosure or distribution of this information may be subject to legal restriction or sanction. Please notify the sender, by
electronic mail or telephone, of any unintended recipients and delete the original message without making any copies.

From: Andrew flores <andrew@floreslegal.pro>

Sent: Wednesday, March 4, 2020 7:14 PM

To: Allan Claybon <aclaybon@messner.com>

Subject: RE: Sherlock -Harcourt Leading Edge Real Estate

Mr. Claybon,

Mrs. Sherlock demanded to know Mr. Harcourt’s explanation for how he ended up owning 100% of the Balboa CUP after
evidence was discovered that Mrs. Sherlock was unlawfully deprived of her interest in the Balboa CUP as Mr. Sherlock’s
heir (as fully described below). That demand is not unreasonable. It takes no effort for Mr. Harcourt to respond with a
simple statement as to whether he purchased Mr. Sherlock’s interest or Mr. Harcourt disavowed his interest in the
Balboa CUP for some reason. Your feigned ignorance of the simplicity of this issue is apparent and your refusal to
provide an explanation is unreasonable.

| am writing to make two points. First, as | noted, | went to the City and the documents that Mr. Harcourt references in
his complaint pursuant to which the City transferred him sole ownership of the Balboa CUP are not in the City’s file.
Thus, your allegation that you “believe” the documents are “publicly accessible” has no factual basis. | have exercised
due diligence and have not come across any such documents, if you know where they are publicly available, please let
me know.

Second, as noted, your description of Mrs. Sherlock’s demand based on the facts and arguments set forth below as
“unreasonable” lacks probable cause. Even if Mr. Harcourt is not responsible for forging Mr. Harcourt’s signature or
engaged in unlawful conduct, that does not explain why he is refusing to provide a simple explanation given the facts. In
my professional opinion, you have crossed the line from zealous advocacy of your client to being a co-conspirator of Mr.
Harcourt seeking to defraud Mrs. Sherlock. See Stevens v. Rifkin, 608 F. Supp. 710, 730 (N.D. Cal. 1984) (“Though there
appears to be no clear rule of immunity with respect to the liability under the civil rights laws of attorneys who violate
the civil rights of others while representing their clients, cases under the Civil Rights Act indicate that the attorney may
be held liable for damages if, on behalf of the client, the attorney takes actions that he or she knows, or reasonably
should have known, would violate the clearly established constitutional or statutory rights of another.”) (citing Buller v.
Buechler,706 F.2d 844, 852-853 (8th Cir. 1983).

Based on the language in Stevens, | will be forced to protect Mrs. Sherlock’s rights by filing suit against your personally
and your firm as co-conspirators of Mr. Harcourt. And we will let a Court determine which one of us is unreasonable in
light of our positions described below. Please consider this notice of my intent to file suit and a TRO against, inter alia,
Mr. Harcourt, you, and your firm for conspiring to defraud Mrs. Sherlock of her interest in the Balboa CUP.

If you have any case law that contradicts Stevens and which allows you to unilaterally ignore Mrs. Sherlock’s demand,
particularly as the core basis of this suit is the belief that Mr. Harcourt fabricated documents and your refusal is
potentially allowing him time to fabricate additional evidence to legitimize the transfer, please provide it and | will
reconsider my position in light of any such authority.

Sincerely,

Andrew Flores
Attorney at Law

945 4™ Ave Suite 412
San Diego CA 92101
P. (619) 356-1556
F.(619) 274-8053

2
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ELECTROHICALLY FILED
FERRIS & BRITTON Superior Court ot Califomia,
A Professional Corporation County of San Liego
Michael R. Weinstein (SBN 106464) DAMD/2018 5t 11:10:00 Ak
Scott H. Toothacre (SBN 146530) : . o :
501 West Broadway, Suite 1450 By %ﬁliﬁfgth&;a?g ?fgﬁ; uétlgm

San Diego, California 92101
Telephone: (619) 233-3131
Fax: (619) 232-9316
mweinstein@ferrisbritton.com
stoothacre@ferrisbritton.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Cross-Defendant LARRY GERACI and
Cross-Defendant REBECCA BERRY

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

LARRY GERACIL, an individual, Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL
Plaintiff, Judge: Hon. Joel R. Wohlfeil
Dept.: C-73

v.
DECLARATION OF LARRY GERACI IN

DARRYL COTTON, an individual; and OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT DARRYL

DOES 1 through 10, inclusive, COTTON’S MOTION TO EXPUNGE LIS
PENDENS
Defendants.
[IMAGED FILE]
DARRYL COTTON, an individual, Hearing Date: April 13,2018
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m.
Cross-Complainant,
Filed: March 21, 2017
V. Trial Date: May 11, 2018
LLARRY GERACI, an individual, REBECCA
BERRY, an individual, and DOES 1
THROUGH 10, INCLUSIVE,
Cross-Defendants.
I, Larry Geraci, declare:
1. I am an adult individual residing in the County of San Diego, State of California, and I

am one of the real parties in interest in this action. I have personal knowledge of the foregoing facts
and if called as a witness could and would so testify.
2. In approximately September of 2015, T began lining up a team to assist in my efforts to

develop and operate a Medical Marijuana Consumer Cooperative (MMCC) business (aka a medical

L WohlfeilSER-146

st S
DECLARATION OF LARRY GERACT IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT DARRYL
COTTON’S MOTION TO EXPUNGE LIS PENDENS




[a—

| T N T N T N T N T s T s T N T o R T T T e
=< T o N T T S — NN = R - - R S« . N U I - O N e =

Case 3:20Cas@0656BAS;DEASR626ment1 709 8hife dMOTHIS/201 3P Bgel® 0P 4f Fage 6 of 36

marijuana dispensary) in San Diego County. At the time, I had not yet identified a property for the
MMCC business. [ hired a consultant, Neal Dutta of Apollo Realty, to help locate and identify
potential property sites for the business. [ hired a design professional, Abhay Schweitzer of TECIHNE.
I hired a public affairs and public relations consultant with experience in the industry, Jim Bartell of
Bartell & Associates. In addition, I hired a land use attorney, Gina Austin of Austin Legal Group.

3. The search to identify potential locations for the business took some time, as there are a
number of requirements that had to be met. For example: a) only four (4) MMCCs are allowed in a

City Council District; b) MMCCs are not allowed within 1,000 feet of public parks, churches, child

N B N T = T . T ~ N &% S 2

care centers, playgrounds, City libraries, minor-oriented facilities, other MMCCs, residential facilities,
or schools; ¢) MMCCs are not allowed within 100 feet of a residential zone; and d) the zoning had to be
proper as MMCC’s are allowed only in certain zones. In approximately June 2016, Neal Dutta
identified to me real property owned by Darryl Cotton located at 6176 Federal Blvd., City of San
Diego, San Diego County, California, Assessor’s Parcel No. 543-020-02-00 (the “Property”) as a
potential site for acquisition and development for use and operation as a MMCC. And in
approximately mid-July 2016 Mr. Dutta put me in contact with Mr, Cotton and I expressed my interest
to Mr. Cotton in acquiring his Property if our further investigation satisfied us that the Property might
meet the requirements for an MMCC site.

4, For several months after the initial contact, my consultant, Jim Bartell, investigated
issues related to whether the location might meet the requirements for an MMCC site, including zoning
issues and issues related to meeting the required distances from certain types of facilities and residential
areas. For example, the City had plans for street widening in the area that potentially impacted the
ability of the Property to meet the required distances. Although none of these issues were resolved to a
certainty, I determined that [ was still interested in acquiring the Property.

5. Thereafier [ approached Mr. Cotton to discuss the possibility of my purchase of the
Property. Specifically, I was interested in purchasing the Property from Mr. Cotton contingent upon
my obtaining approval of a Conditional Use Permit (“CUP”) for use as a MMCC. As the purchaser, I
was willing to bear the substantial expense of applying for and obtaining CUP approval and understood

that if T did not obtain CUP approval then I would not close the purchase and 1 would lose my
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investment. I was willing to pay a price for the Property based on what [ anticipated it might be worth
if T obtained CUP approval, Mr. Cotton told me that he was willing to make the purchase and sale
conditional upon CUP approval because if the condition was satisfied he would be receiving a much
higher price than the Property would be worth in the absence of its approval for use as a medical
marijuana dispensary. We agreed on a down payment of $10,000.00 and a purchase price of
$800,000.00. On November 2, 2016, Mr. Cotton and I executed a written purchase and sale agreement
for my purchase of the Property from him on the terms and conditions stated in the agreement
(hereafter the “Nov 2nd Written Agreement”). A true and correct copy of the Nov 2nd Written
Agreement, which was executed before a notary, is attached as Exhibit 2 to Defendant and Cross-
Defendant, Larry Geraci’s Notice of Lodgment in Support of Opposition to Motion to Expunge Lis
Pendens (hereafter the “Geraci NOL”). I tendered the $10,000 deposit to Mr. Cotton as acknowledged
in the Nov 2nd Written Agreement.
6. In paragraph 5 of his supporting declaration, Darryl Cotton states:
“On November 2, 2016, Geraci and [ met at Geraci’s office to negotiate the final
terms of the sale of the Property. At the meeting, we reached an oral agreement

on the material terms for the sale of the Property (the “November Agreement”).

The November Agreement consisted of the following: If the CUP was approved,
then Geraci would, inter alia, provide me: (i) a total purchase price of $800,000;
(i) a 10% equity stake in the MO; and (ili) a miminum meonthly equity
distribution of $10,000. If the CUP was denied, I would keep an agreed upon

$50,000 non-refundable deposit (“NRD”) and the transaction would not close. In
other words, the issuance of a CUP at the Property was a condition precedent for
closing on the sale of the Property and, if the CUP was denied, I would keep my
Property and the $50,000 NRD.” |
Darryl Cotton and I did meet at my office on November 2, 2016, to negotiate the final terms of
the sale of the Property and we reached an agreement on the final terms of the sale of the Property.

That agreement was not oral. We put our agreement in writing in a simple and straightforward written
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agreement that we both signed before a notary. (See paragraph 5, supra, Nov 2™ Written Agreement,

Exhibit 2 to Geraci NOL.) The written agreement states in its entirety:

11/02/2016
Agreement between Larry Geraci or assignee and Darryl Cotton:

Darryl Cotton has agreed to sell the property located at 6176 Federal Blvd.,
CA for a sum of $800,000 to Larry Geraci or assignee on the approval of a
Marijuana Dispensary. (CUP for a dispensary.)

Ten Thousand dollars (cash) has been given in good faith earnest money to
be applied to the sales price of $800,000.00 and to remain in effect until the
license is approved. Darryl Cotton has agreed to not enter into any other
contacts |sic] on this property.

_Is/ _Is/
Larry Geraci Darryl Cotton

I never agreed to pay Mr. Cotton a $50,000.00 non-refundable deposit. At the meeting, Mr.
Cotton stated he would like a $50,000 non-refundable deposit. I said “no.” Mr. Cotton then asked for a
$10,000 non-refundable deposit and T said “ok” and that amount was put into the written agreement.
After he signed the written agreement, I paid him the $10,000 cash as we had agreed. If1 had agreed to
pay Mr. Cotton a $50,000 deposit, it would have been a very simple thing to change “$10,000” to
$50,000” in the agreement before we signed it.

I never agreed to pay Mr. Cotton a 10% equity stake in the marijuana dispensary. I never
agreed to pay Mr. Cotton a minimum monthly equity distribution of $10,000. If I had agreed to pay
Mr. Cotton a 10% equity stake in the marijuana dispensary and a minimum monthly equity distribution
of $10,000, then it would have also been a simple thing to add a sentence or two to the agreement to
say so.

What I did agree to was to pay Mr. Cotton a total purchase price of $800,000, with the balance
of $790,000 due upon approval of a CUP. If the CUP was not approved, then he would keep the
Property and the $10,000. So that is how the agreement was written.

7. In paragraph 6 of his supporting declaration, Darryl Cotton states:

“At the November 2, 2016, mecting we reached the November Agreement,
Geraci: (i) provided me with $10,000 in cash towards the NRD of $50,000, for

which I executed a docwnent to record my receipt thereof (the “Receipt™); (ii)
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promised to have his atiorney, Gina Austin (“Austin”), promptly reduce the oral
November Agreement to written agreements for execution; and (iil) promised to
not submit the CUP to the City until he paid me the balance of the NRD.”

I did pay Mr. Cotton the $10,000 cash after we signed the Nov 2nd Written Agreement. As
stated above, I never agreed to a $50,000 deposit and, if I had, it would have been a simple thing to
state that in our written agreement.

Mr. Cotton refers to the written agreement (i.c., the Nov 2nd Written Agreement) as a
“Receipt.” Calling the Agreement a “Receipt” was never discussed. There would have been no need
for a written agreement before a notary simply to document my payment to him of $10,000. In
addition, had the intention been merely to document a written “Receipt” for the $10,000 payment, then
we could have identified on the document that it was a “Receipt™ and there would have been no need
to put in all the material terms and conditions of the deal. Instead, the document is expressly called an
“Agreement” because that is what we intended.

1 did not promise to have attorney Gina Austin reduce the oral agreement to written agreements
for execution. What we did discuss was that Mr. Cotton wanted to categorize or allocate the $800,000.
At his request, I agreed to pay him for the property into two parts: $400,000 as payment for the
property and $400,000 as payment for the relocation of his business. As this would benefit him for tax
purposes but would not affect the total purchase price or any other terms and conditions of the
purchase, I stated a willingness to later amend the agreement in that way.

I did not promise to delay submiiting the CUP to the City until I paid the alleged $40,000
balance of the deposit. I agreed to pay a $10,000 deposit only. Also, we had previously discussed the
long lead-time to obtain CUP approval and that we had already begun the application submittal
process as discussed in paragraph 8 below.

8. Prior entering into the Nov 2nd Written Agreement, Darryl Cotton and [ discussed the
CUP application and approval process and that his consent as property owner would be needed to
submit with the CUP application, I discussed with him that my assistant Rebecca Berry would act as

my authorized agent to apply for the CUP on my behalf. Mr. Cotton agreed to Ms. Berry serving as
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the Applicant on my behalf to attempt to obtain approval of a CUP for the operation of a MMCC or
marijuana dispensary on the Property. On October 31, 2016, as owner of the Property, Mr. Cotton
signed Form DS-318, the Ownership Disclosure Statement for a Conditional Use Permit, by which he
acknowledged that an application for a permit (CUP) would be filed with the City of San Diego on the
subject Property with the intent to record an encumbrance against the property. The Ownership
Disclosure Statement was also signed by my authorized agent and employee, Rebecca Berry, who was
serving as the CUP applicant on my behalf. A true and correct copy of the Ownership Disclosure
Statement signed on October 31, 2016, by Darryl Cotton and Rebecca Berry is attached as Exhibit 1 to
the Geraci NOL. Mr. Cotton provided that consent and authorization as we had discussed that approval
of a CUP would be a condition of the purchase and sale of the Property.

9. As noted above, [ had already put together my team for the MMCC project. My design
professional, Abhay Schweitzer, and his firm, TECHNE, is and has been responsible for the design of
the Project and the CUP application and approval process. Mr. Schweitzer was responsible for
coordinating the efforts of the teain to put together the CUP Application for the MMCC at the Property
and Mr. Schweitzer has been and still is the principal person involved in dealings with the City of San
Diego in connection with the CUP Application approval process. Mr. Schweitzer’s declaration
(Declaration of Abhay Schweitzer in Support of Opposition to Motion to Expunge Lis Pendens) has
been submitted concurrently herewith and describes in greater detail the CUP Application submitted to
the City of San Diego, which submission included the Ownership Disclosure Statement signed by
Darryl Cotton and Rebecca Berry.

10.  After we signed the Nov 2nd Written Agreement for my purchase of the Property, Mr.
Cotton immediately began attempts to remegotiate our deal for the purchase of the Property. This
literally occurred the evening of the day he signed the Nov 2nd Written Agreement.

On November 2, 2016, at approximately 6:55 p.m., Mr. Cotton sent me an email, which stated:

Hi Larry,
Thank you for meeting today. Since we examined the Purchase Agreement in
your office for the sale price of the property I just noticed the 10% equity position

in the dispensary was not language added into that document. I just want to make
sure that we’re not missing that language in any final agreement as it is a factored
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element in my decision to sell the property. T’ll be fine if you simply
acknowledge that here in a reply.

[ receive my emails on my phone. It was after 9:00 p.m. in the evening that I glanced at my
phone and read the first sentence, “Thank you for meeting with me today.” And I responded from my
phone “No no problem at all.” I was responding to his thanking me for the meeting.

The next day I read the entire email and I telephoned Mr. Cotton because the total purchase
price I agreed to pay for the subject property was $800,000 and I had never agreed to provide him a
10% equity position in the dispensary as part of my purchase of the property. I spoke with Mr. Cotton
by telephone at approximately 12:40 p.m. for approximately 3-minutes. A true and correct copy of the
Call Detail from my firm’s telephone provider showing those two telephone calls is attached as
Exhibit 3 to the Geraci NOL. During that telephone call [ told Mr. Cotton that a 10% equity position in
the dispensary was not part of our agreement as I had never agreed to pay him any other amounts above
the $800,000 purchase price for the property. Mr. Cotton’s response was to say something to the effect
of “well, you don’t get what you don’t ask for.” He was not upset and he commented further to the
effect that things are “looking pretty good—we all should make some money here.” And that was the
end of the discussion.

11. To be clear, prior to signing the Nov 2nd Written Agreement, Mr. Cotton expressed a
desire to participate in different ways in the operation of the future MMCC business at the Property.
M. Cotton is a hydroponic grower and purported to have useful experience he could provide regarding
the operation of such a business. Prior to signing the Nov 2nd Written Agreement we had preliminary
discussions related to his desire to be involved in the operation of the business (not related to the
purchase of the Property) and we discussed the possibility of compensation to him (e.g., a percentage of
the net profits) in exchange for his providing various services to the business—but we never reached an
agreement as to those matters related to the operation of my future MMCC business. Those discussions
were not related to the purchase and sale of the Property, which we never agreed to amend or modify.

12.  Beginning in or about mid-February 2017, and after the zoning issues had been resolved,
M. Cotton began making increasing demands for compensation in connection with the sale. We were

several months into the CUP application process which could potentially take many more months to
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successfully complete (if it could be successfully completed and approval obtained) and I had already
committed substantial resources to the project. I was very concerned that Mr. Cotton was going to
interfere with the completion of that process to my detriment now that the zoning issues were resolved.
I tried my best to discuss and work out with him some further compensation arrangement that was
reasonable and avoid the risk he might try to “torpedo™ the project and find another buyer. For
example, on several successive occasions I had my attorney draft written agreements that contained
terms that I that I believed I could live with and hoped would be sufficient to satisfy his demands for
additional compensation, but Mr. Cotton would reject them as not satisfactory. Mr. Cotton continued
to insist on, among other things, a 10% equity position, to which I was not willing to agree, as well as
on minimum monthly distributions in amounts that I thought were unreasonable and to which I was
unwilling to agree. Despite our back and forth communications during the period of approximately
mid-February 2017 through approximately mid-March 2017, we were not able to re-negotiate terms for
the purchase of the property to which we were both willing to agree. The Nov. 2nd Written Agreement
was never amended or modified. Mr. Cotton emailed me that I was not living up to my agreement and
I responded to him that he kept trying to change the deal. ~As a result, no re-negotiated written
agreement regarding the purchase and sale of the property was ever signed by Mr. Cotton or me after
we signed and agreed to the terms and conditions in the Nov 2d Written Agreement.

13.  Ultimately, Mr. Cotton was extremely unhappy with my refusal to accede to his
demands and the failure to reach agreement regarding his possible involvement with the operation of
the business to be operated at the Property and my refusal to modify or amend the terms and conditions
we agreed to in the Nov 2nd Written Agreement regarding my purchase from him of the Property. Mr.
Cotton made clear that he had no intention of living up to and performing his obligations under the
Agreement and affirmatively threatened to take action to halt the CUP application process.

14.  Mr. Cotton thereafter made good on his threats. On the morning of March 21, 2017, Mr.
Cotton had a conversation with Firouzeh Tirandazi at the City of San Diego, who was in charge of
processing the CUP Application, regarding Mr. Cotton’s interest in withdrawing the CUP Application.

That discussion is confirmed in an 8:54 a.m. e-mail from Ms. Tirandazi to Mr. Cotton with a cc to
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Rebecca Berry. A true and correct copy of that March 21, 2017, at 8:54 a.m. e-mail is attached as
Exhibit 4 to the Geraci NOL.

15. That same day, March 21, 2017, at 3:18 p.m. Mr. Cotton emailed me, reinforcing that he
would not honor the Nov 2nd Written Agreement. In his email he stated that I had no interest in his
property and that “I will be entering into an agreement with a third party to sell my property and they
will be taking on the potential costs associated with any litigation arising from this failed agreement
with you. A true and correct copy of that March 21, 2017, at 3:18 p.m. e-mail is attached as Exhibit 5
to the Geraci NOL.

16,  Four minutes later that same day, at 3:25 p.m., Mr. Cotton e-mailed Ms. Tirandazi at the
City, with a cc to both me and Rebecca Berry, stating falsely to Ms. Tirandazi: “... the potential buyer,
Larry Gerasi [sic] (cc’ed herein), and I have failed to finalize the purchase of my property. As of today,
there are no third-parties that have any direct, indirect or contingent interests in my property. The
application currently pending on my property should be denied because the applicants have no legal
access to my property. A true and correct copy of that March 21, 2017, at 3:25 p.m. e-mail is attached
as Exhibit 6 to the Geraci NOL. Mr. Cotton’s email was false as we had a signed agreement for the
purchase and sale of the Property — the Nov 2nd Written Agreement.

17.  Fortunately, the City determined Mr. Cotton did not have the authority to withdraw the
CUP application without the consent of the Applicant (Rebecca Berry, my authorized agent).

18.  Due to Mr. Cotton’s clearly stated intention to not perform his obligations under the
written Agreement and in light of his affirmative steps taken to attempt to withdraw the CUP
application, I went forward on March 21, 2017, with the filing of my lawsuit against Mr. Cotton to
enforce the Nov 2™ Written Agreement.

19.  Since the March 21, 2017 filing of my lawsuit, we have continued to diligently pursue
our CUP Application and approval of the CUP. Despite Mr. Cotton’s attempts to withdraw the CUP
application, we have completed the initial phase of the CUP process whereby the City deemed the CUP
application complete (although not yet approved) and determined it was located in an area with proper
zoning. We have not yet reached the stage of a formal City hearing and there has been no final

determination to approve the CUP. The current status of the CUP Application is set forth in the
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Declaration of Abhay Schweitzer.

20. Mr. Cotton also has made good on the statement in his March 21, 2017, at 3:18 p.m.
email (referenced in paragraph 15 above - see Exhibit 5 to the Geraci NOL) stating that he would be
“entering into an agreement with a third party to sell my property and they will be taking on the
potential costs associated with any litigation arising from this failed agreement with you. We have
learned through documents produced in my lawsuit that well prior to March 21, 2017, Mr. Cotton had
been negotiating with other potential buyers of the Property to see if he could get a better deal than he
had agreed to with me. As of March 21, 2017, Cotton had already entered into a real estate purchase
and sale agreement to sell the Property to another person, Richard John Martin I1.

21.  Although he entered into this alternate purchase agreement with Mr. Martin as early as
March 21, 2017, to our knowledge in the nine (9) months since, neither Mr. Cotton nor Mr. Martin or
other agent has submitted a separate CUP Application to the City for processing. During that time, we
continued to process our CUP Application at great effort and expense.

22.  During approximately the last 17 months, I have incurred substantial expenses in excess
of $150,000 in pursuing the MMCC project and the related CUP application.

23.  Finally, Mr. Cotton has asserted from the outset of his lawsuit and, again, in paragraph
16 of his supporting declaration, that he did not discover until March 16, 2017, that I had submitted the
CUP Application back on October 31, 2016. That is a blatant lie. I kept Mr. Cotton apprised of the
status of the CUP application and the problems we were encountering (¢.g., an imtial zoning issue}
from the outset. Attached as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of a text message Mr. Cotton sent me
on November 16, 2016, in which he asks me, “Did they accept the CUP application?” Mr. Cotton was
well aware at that time that we had already submitted the CUP application and were awaiting the City’s
completion of its initial review of the completeness of the application.  Until the City deems the CUP
application complete it does not proceed to the next step—the review of the CUP application.

Iy
11
Iy
111

10 WohlfeilSER-155

S S SR
DECLARATION OF LARRY GERACI IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT DARRYL
COTTON’S MOTION TO EXPUNGE LIS PENDENS




Case 3:20@xse0@5658A53 DERO SIS Endnt 177D9&ledkiB930 1P dgede. 1503f Page 15 of 36

e

2B RERNRS ST eS8 e BN~ o

W e N vt R W e

I-declare under penalty of pegury under the faws of the State of Ca ifornia that the foregoing i is
trie and correct. Executed this /7 day of _Apri_l,‘ 2018.

7 Léé{Y(G{RACI
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City of San Diego ]
4 i s Ownership Disclosure

: San Diego, CA 92101
Tue Gy o San Deeo (6319) 44%0‘5000 . : i Stateme nt

Approval Type: Check appropriate box for type of approval (s) requested: [ Neighborhood Use Permit | Coastal Development Permit

[~ Neighborhood Development Permit r Site Development Permit I Planned Development Permit I‘>‘<’ Conditional Use Permit
[~ Variance [ Tentative Map I Vesting Tentative ftap [ Map Waijver [ Land Use Plan Amendment [™ Other

Project Title Project No. For City Use Only
Federal Blvd. MMCC Cout'siEx 030
Project Address:

Case # 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL

6176 Federal Blvd., San Diego, CA 92114

" Recld.
Bart |- To be complated when property is held by Individual(s) g C-73 ci
ing the Ownership Disclosure Statement, the r(s) acknowl  that an application for a permi or other matter. as identified
above, will be filed with the City of San Diego on the subject property, with the intent to record an encumbrance against the property. Please list

below the owner(s) and tenant{s) {if applicable) of the above referenced property. The list must include the names and addresses of all persons
who have an interest in the property; recorded or otherwise, and state the type of property interest {e.g., tenants who will benefit from the permit, all
individuals who own the property). A signature is required of at lgast one of T wners. Attach additional pages if needed. A signature
from the Assistant Executive Director of the San Diego Redevelopment Agency shall be required for ali project parcels for which a Disposition and
Development Agreement (DDA) has been approved / executed by the City Council. Note: The applicant is responsible for notifying the Project
Manager of any changes in ownership during the time the application is being processed or considered. Changes in ownership are to be given to
the Project Manager at least thirty days prior to any public hearing on the subiect property. Failure to provide accurate and current ownership
information could result in a delay in the hearing process.

Additional pages attached [ Yes K& No

"Name of Individual (type or print): RI&me of Individual (Lype or print):
Darryl Cotton Rebecca Berry ,
X owner | TenantLessee [ Redevelopment Agency [~ Owner [¥ Tenant/Lesses | Redevelopment Agency
Street Address: Street Address:
6176 Federal Blvd 5982 Gullstrand St
City/StatelZip: CltylStgte/Zip:
San Diego Ca 92114 San Diego / Ca /92122
Phane No: Fax No: Phone No: Fax No:
( 619,4954-4447 8589996882
Signature .| », i Date: ) Sigi E’Vi;hre ; r Date:
- i 10-31-2016 LA L P vﬁé 10-31-2016
Name’of Individual (type or print): ' Name of Individual (type ‘%“r print):
[ Owner [ Tenantlessee [ RedevelopmentAgency [~ Owner | TenantLessee | Redevelopment Agency
Street Address: Street Address:
City/State/Zip: City/State/Zip:
Phone No: Fax No: Phone No: Fax No;
Signature © Date: Signature : Date:

Brinted on recycled paper. Visit our web sile af www sandiego.govdeveiopment-senvices
Upon request, this information is available in alternative formats for persons with disabilities:

DS-318 (5-05)

WohlfeilSER-158
Trial Ex. 030-001
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Clty of San Dlago FORM

. Development Services ' . Genel‘al DS'3032

:
A S 1200 First Ave., MS-302

San Diago, CA 92101 1 i
st Application| ,...u

F 1, Approval Type: Separate electrical, plumbing and/or mechanioal permiis ave required for projects other than single-family residences
or duplexes [ Blectrical/Plumbing/Mechanical ( Sign O Structura (3 Grading O Public Right-of-Way; ') Subdivision 2 Damo-
lition/Rermoval (3 Development Approvat ] Vesting Tentative Map ™ Tentative Map [ Map Watver & Other; CUP

THE CITy oF San Dieso

2. Project Address/Lacation: Include Building or Suiie No, Projeet Title: Pr 8} ity U @,
6176 Federal Blvd, Federal Bivd, MMCC & 2‘; g/ j‘? /)/? i

Legal Desoription: (Lot, Block, Subdivision Name & Map Number) Asgegueor's Parcel Numlfbr:
TR#:2 001100 BLK 25*LOT 20 PER MAP 2121 IN* City/Muni/Twp: SAN DIEGO 543-020-02 ’

Existing Use: ([} House/Duplex [] Condominjum/Apartment/Townhouse f£) Commercial/Non-Residential [ Vacant Land
Froposed Use: (Y House/Duplex [) Condominium/Apartment/Townhouse 7} Commercial/Non-Residential [} Vacant Land

Projeet Deseription:
The project consists of the construction of a new MMCG facility

8. Property Owner/Lossee Tenant Name: Check one ] Owner [£] Lesses or Texnant Telaphona! Fax:
Rebecca Berry

Address; City: State: Zip Code: B-mail Address:
5982 Guilstrand Straet San Diego CA 92122 becky@tfcsd net

4, Permit Holder Nawme - This is the property owner, person, or entity that is granted authority by the property owner to be responsible
for scheduling inspections, receiving notices of failed inspections, permit expirations or revocation hearings, and who hag the right to
cancel the approval (in addition to the property owner), SDMC Section 113.0103.

Name: Telophone: Fux:
Rebecca Berry

Addrass: - City: State: Zip Code: E-mall Address:
5982 Gullstrand Streel San Dlego CA 92122 becky@tfosd.net
B. Licensed Deslgn Professional (if required): (check ona) i Architeet Enginesr License No.: C-19371
Name: Telephoneo: Faxi
Michael R Morton AIA

Address: City: State: Zip Code: E-mail Address:
3056 30th Strest ' San Disgo GA 92104

8. Historical Resources/Lead Hazard Prevention and Control (not required for roof mounted electricphatovoliric permits,
deferred five approvals, or campletion of expired permit approvals? . ’

a. Yaar constructed for all structures on project site: 1951 S

b, HRB Site # and/or historic distriet if property is designated or in a historic distriet (if none write N/A): N/A

¢, Does the project inctude any ;ermanent or temporary alterations or impacts to the exterior (cutting-patching-accoss-repain, roof repair
or replacement, windows added-removed-repaired-replaced, otc)? Yes No

d. Does the project include any foundation repaiy, digging, trenching or other site worl? Yeos No

I certify that the information above is correct and aceurate to the best of my knowledge, I understand that the project will be distrib-
uted/reviewed based on the information provided.

Print Name: _AUhay Schweitzer Simature&ﬁmy Date: _10/28/2016

Notice of Violation - If you have received a Notico of Violation, Givil Penalty Notice and Order, or Stipulated Judgment, a copy must be
provided at the time of project submittal, Is there an active code enforcement violation case on this site? &I No 12 Yes, copy attached
8. Applicant Name: Check one I} Property Owner [ Authorized Agent of Property Owner i Other Person per M.C, Section 112,0102

7

" Part! (Must be completed for all permits/approvals)

Telaphoner Fax:
Rebecca Berry
Addrass; City: State: Zip Code: B-mail Address:
5982 Gullstrand Street San Dlego CA 92122 becky@ifesd.hel

Applicant’s Signature: I certify that Ihave read this application and state that the above information {s correct, and that I am the property
owner, anthorized agent of the property owner, or other person having a legal right, interest, or antitlement to the use of the property that is
the subject of this application (Municipat Code Section 112,0109), 1 understand that the applicant is responsible for knowing and comply-
ing with the governing policies and regulations applicable to the proposed development or permit, The City is not iiable for any damages
or Tobs resulting from the actual or alleged failure to inform the applicant of any applicable laws or regulations, including before or during
fingl inspections, City approval of a permit application, including all related plans and docurents, is not a grant of approval o violate
any applicable poliey or regulation, nor does it constitute a waiver by the City to pursue any remedy, which may be available to enforce and
correct violations of the applicable policies and regulations. I authorize representatives of the city to enter the above-identified property for
inspection purposes. I have the authority and grant City staff and advisory bodies the right to make capies of any plans or reports submitted

for review Wﬁt processing for ghe duration of this project, )
Sigunature: 7/ Wﬂj § /M/(—Z/ Data: //-M ?/ 02()
Printed on recycledfaper. Visit our web slte at www sandiego,gov/devel :SeIVi

opmeni:servicas.
Upon request, this Information Is available In alternailve formats for persons with disabiliities.
S-3032 (08-18)

WohlfeilSER-160 L. Barron, cS
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(858) 254-9224 Mar 18
ao Thisis Lori. Thisis Ch... 01:59
(619) 450-7073 Sep 12,2018
2 Outgoing call

Natasha Lead Counsel Dec 30, 2013
ao Hey Andrew. Sometim... 00:21
(760) 726-2171 Jul 10,2013
ao Thisis a message for..  00:36

Q. 6192462844

(619) 450-7073

Type Time

A Outgoing call 3:48 PM

WohlfeilSER-162

https://voice.google.com/archive?itemld=c.PTWKUGQLYYYKTWMPINPWUHLTZUOUYGTLYLMTHKJO

X B @ @

(619) 450-7073

Date

Wednesday, Sep 12,2018

Duration

4 min 55 si

7
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M Gmaﬂ Darryl Cotton <indagrodarryl@gmail.com>
Agreement
Larry Geraci <Larry@tfcsd.net> Wed, Nov 2, 2016 at 9:13 PM

To: Darryl Cotton <darryl@inda-gro.com>

No no problem at all
Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 2, 2016, at 6:55 PM, Darryl Cotton <darryl@inda-gro.com> wrote:

Hi Larry,

Thank you for meeting today. Since we executed the Purchase Agreement in your office for
the sale price of the property 1 just noticed the 10% equity position in the dispensary was not
language added into that document. | just want to make sure that we're not missing that
language in any final agreement as it is a factored element in my decision to sell the
property. I'll be fine if you would simply acknowledge that here in a reply.

Regards.

Darryl Cotton, President

darryl@inda-gro.com
www.inda-gro.com
Ph: 877.452.2244
Cell: 619.954.4447
Skype: dc.dalbercia

6176 Federal Blvd.
San Diego, CA. 92114
USA

NOTICE: The information contained in the above message is confidential information solely for the use of the
intended recipient. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, the reader is notified that any use,
dissemination, distribution or copying of this comymunication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this
communication in error, please notify Inda-Gro immediately by telephone at 619.266.4004.

[Quoted fext hidden]

WohlfeilSER-164
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M Gm&“l Darryl Cotton <indagrodarryl@gmail.com>

(no subject)

Darryl Cotton <indagrodarryl@gmail.com> Tue, Dec 24, 2019 at 2:29 PM
To: Ken.Feldman@lewisbrisbois.com, "mphelps (mphelps@sandiego.gov)" <MPhelps@sandiego.gov>, "David S. Demian"
<ddemian@ftblaw.com>, "Austin, Gina" <gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com>, JOHNS CRANE - John Ek <johnek@aol.com>,
akohn@pettitkohn.com, natalie@nguyenlawcorp.com, crosby@crosbyattorney.com

Cc: aferris@ferrisbritton.com, "Rishi S. Bhatt" <rbhatt@ftblaw.com>, "Adam C. Witt" <awitt@ftblaw.com>, Jake Austin
<jacobaustinesg@gmail.com>, Andrew Flores <afloreslaw@gmail.com>, CynthiaM@vanstlaw.com, corina.young@Ilive.com,
biancaaimeemartinez@gmail.com, "Hoy, Cheri" <choy@sandiego.gov>, "Sokolowski, Michelle"
<msokolowski@sandiego.gov>, ekulas@ferrisbritton.com, dbarker@ferrisbritton.com, jorge.delportillo@sdcda.org,
gbraun@sandiego.gov, Joe Hurtado <j.hurtado1@gmail.com>, pfinch@ftblaw.com, "Jason R. Thornton"
<jthornton@ftblaw.com>, jbaird@ftblaw.com, stoothacre@ferrisbritton.com, matthew@shapiro.legal, "Tirandazi, Firouzeh"
<FTirandazi@sandiego.gov>, Cherlyn Cac <Ccac@sandiego.gov>, abhay@techne-us.com, jim@bartellassociates.com,
jessica@mcelfreshlaw.com, Chris Williams <Chris@xmgmedia.com>

| am sending this email on Christmas Eve to let everyone know that this past year, like the year before and the year
before that, has been another one full of crushing personal and professional hardship for me brought on by the litigation
and conspiracies you've all played a part in the theft of my property and the Fraud Upon the Court which you all, to some
degree or another, have played a part in. If you are receiving this email it's because you should know that yesterday |
filed an Ex Parte motion to unstay my Pro Se complaint in federal court

Case No: 18-cv-0325-GPC-MDD and look to have what you have all been a party to presented to a competent judge.

So while you all enjoy your Christmas with your friends, family and colleagues and welcome in the New Year, rest assured
| will not be doing so. What you have subjected me to has cost me, in addition to a $261K judgement | now owe Geraci
on a sham lawsuit, everything | have ever held dear to me as people | have known and loved abandoned me over what
they have come to decide has been my error in judgement. My failure to make a deal. My failure to read the tea leaves
and as shown in this Flowchart | created, Geraci v Cotton Flowchart my failure to bend to superior forces. What | have
expected them to believe and rely on is not only extraordinary it is, if you hadn't experienced it firsthand, unbelievable so |
guess | can't really blame them for giving up on me. But | can blame everyone who has received this email for what's
happened to me and for that | want you to be aware of the following;

Attorney Kenneth Feldman; | have been told today that it is impossible for you to be as unethical every other attorney
included in this email (except DA Jorge DelPortillo). Let me break down the conspiracy for you, it begins and ends with
attorney Jessica McElfresh, who emailed her client about how she was obstructing justice and got charged with
obstruction of justice. She had to enter a plea agreement, see attachment (1), with District Attorney Jorge DelPortillo,
cc'ed herein that specifically would have prevented her from representing Geraci in the 6220 appeal, yet she did so
anyway.

| first went to McElfresh to defend me in the suit against Geraci, not knowing she was a co-conspirator of Austin. | PAID
for her services, | have the billing statements. She referred me to David Demian of Finch, Thornton & Baird, who along
with McElfresh, are the two most corrupt and reprehensible individuals that stand out even among a vile group of violent
criminals and deceitful professionals who violate their fiduciary duties to their clients and the courts.

BOTH OF THEM WERE MY ATTORNEYS IN REPRESENTING ME AGAINST GERACI!

Demian never told me he had shared client's with Geraci's firm, Tax & Financial Center, Inc. Any doubt about Demian
being deceitful and corrupt has been stripped away by his actions when he represented me. All you have to do is review
my pro se complaint against Geraci and Berry and compare it to the first and second amended complaints filed by FTB
on my behalf! Without authorization Demian dropped the conspiracy charge against Geraci and Berry and he also
dropped the allegations that Geraci cannot own a marijuana CUP because he had previously been sanctioned for illegal
activity. Only an attorney seeking to sabotage his case would have dropped those allegations, they are case dispositive
and he cannot come up with any evidence to rationalize those actions! Geraci and Berry both testified to those very facts
at trial.

Demian also sent me an email saying | "should" say that Geraci was acting as my agent when he submitted the CUP on

my property without disclosing his or my interest in the property and he did so in Berry's name without disclosing Geraci's
name.

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1 ?ik=5050bcf73f&view=pt&searcg=a?&lplelr£1mlsg§=mslg{-;’;!3§r 975213331256598228&simpl=msg-a%3Ar1975213331... 1/4
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Demian | will ko S6tt1€ Rith3/Bi Bnd B/ 20t ahd HEPSHM be K& Whetdy ULt ®A e Ltahd along with

your criminal associates who aided and abetted you in this scheme, Witt and Bhatt will also be held accountable. As well
as the other Partners at FTB who knew about what was going on and helped you cover it up by hiring Feldman. You all
have had your chances to come clear and chose not to. Wherever you go for the rest of your careers | will make sure
everyone you work with knows that you are the type of attorneys that conspire against their own clients and lack the
integrity and morals. You are exponentially worse than the criminals you protect, you literally pervert the justice system
and make it impossible for normal people to use the justice system to achieve justice.

Contrary to Austin's testimony at trial, it is not legal for Geraci to own a MO CUP - the only reason they got away with it is
because Judge Wohlfeil is the Forrest Gump of state judges, who based on his limited intellect is being paid far beyond
what he is worth at $167K annum salary. Mr. Feldman, you pay your first year associates more than he makes after 30
years of practicing law. By the time this is over, he will be revealed for the true puppet he is being played by Weinstein
and to stupid to know it. You know you cannot rely on a judges order when you know it was procured by fraud.

| can not forgive Wobhlfeil for what he put me, my and my family through as a result of his incompetence. I'm not even a
lawyer and | know that a contract requires MUTUAL ASSENT and a LAWFUL OBJECT! Weinstein made Wohlfeil look
like a puppet dancing on his strings, too dumb to even understand what was going on in front of him. He's a disgrace of a
judge. | wonder how many innocent people Wohlfeil screwed over by his incompetence because he was played by
smarter attorneys like Weinstein? It is a truly depressing thought.

Feldman, you filed a motion to dismiss that you knew was helping hide FTB's malicious acts of conspiring against their
own client! You teach classes on ethics, if you fail to do the ethical action immediately and inform Judge Curiel, | am
naming you personally in my amended complaint. Pursuant to 42 USC Section 1986. Your failure to act is evidence of
your guilt.

| would also ask you to keep in mind that Ferris & Briton is a cesspool of legal 'professionals’ that exists for aiding their
unethical clients who want to take unethical actions and is corrupt all the way through from their managing partner,
Weinstein, to their "l was forced to take part in a malicious prosecution action by Weinstein" associates Toothacre and
Kulas, their deceitful paralegal Debra Barker, who falsified proofs of service to break the attorney-client privilege with my
attorneys, to even their scumbag client, attorney James Crosby.

Feldman, don't you think it is strange that Geraci's counsel before Judge Curiel, the only attorney STUPID enough
enough to file an Answer, is a solo practitioner who works in the same building as Ferris & Briton and is their former client
for whom they got a judgement in the hundreds of thousands of dollars! Here see attachment (2) Crosby's federal
answer. Only someone that F&B had leverage over would be stupid enough to file an Answer in the federal action when
the MSJ in state court was pending and NOT assert fraud or mistake as an affirmative defense. Crosby is the stupidest
attorney among all the attorneys here - the idiot perpetuated a fraud upon Judge Curiel, | can't wait to see him try to
explain, the way Weinstein does, that it is a "coincidence" that Geraci hired him or some other reason for why Geraci's
allegations of November 3, 2016, don't constitute affirmative defenses of fraud or mistake.

Berry submitted the CUP as part of a fraudulent scheme by not disclosing Geraci as the true owner of the CUP being
sought - she testified to this in open court. Geraci has been sanctioned. Austin testified that it is legal for Geraci to have a
CUP. But if that was true, Demian would not have dropped those allegations from my complaint. And McElfresh, if not a
scumbag attorney that destroys lives, would not have represented Geraci in the appeal and she would have raised the
daycares in the appeal. But she did not. Neither did Abhay, because it was a sham appeal to make it look like Geraci
wanted Magagna's CUP denied, when in reality he needed it denied to mitigate his damages to me by millions! McElresh
is simply a criminal and shes going to go to jail now that there is evidence she breached her plea agreement. Unless the
City wants to cover this up and allows her to knowingly break the law and not hold her accountable in an effort to sweep
all this underneath the rug. Whoever gives those orders at the City is probably the corrupt individual at the City behind the
scenes.

Attachment (3) is a settlement offer from Ferris & Britton AFTER Emperor Wohlfeil denied my MSJ. Any reasonable
attorney right now would know that having just defeated an MSJ, saying that it is 'economical’ to transfer the whole case
to federal court makes no sense! You get your judgement in state court and then you raise Res Judicata in federal court.
You don't go through the time and cost of discovery all over again in federal court.

Gina Austin:

At trial you called Joe a liar, but Chris Williams knows that you spoke with him at his event and that you confirmed the
November Document is not a sales contract. Joe and Chris, | am sorry about calling you out on this, but | am not going
to stand by and do nothing and you both have testimony | need and that proves Austin committed perjury when she
said she would not speak to Joe at your Chris's event because of attorney-client privilege. There is no privilege as there
was no litigation at that time, but even if there was, she broke it by discussing it with both of you. And Chris, you hired
Austin to speak at that event and she was your attorney and so was Abhay, so your testimony is going to make it clear
that Austin is perjuring herself as well as Abhay.
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Attorney Matt Shapiro: | have proof you sell weed for Magagna. Magagna threatened Corina Young because she
knows that you sell weed for him. Nguyen, Young's attorney, PROMISED to provide Young's testimony that Magagna
had threatened her and that Bartell was going to get the CUP at my property denied by the City. Magagna has been
represented by Austin AND Abhay Schweitzer (Geraci's Point for the CUP Contract at my 6176 proerty) on the 6220
Federal Blvd. - attached (4) Ex 147-059 are Abhay's (TECHNE) own billing statements which shows he researched the
Cuddles Day academy and absolutely knew they were located within 1,000 feet of the two daycares.

Attachment (5) are the emails between Shapiro and Jake showing what a duplicitous individual Shapiro is when he
admits that he lied about working for Magagna, and then when he realized he could not cover up the lie, began to
assassinate his clients character with statements to Jake that Young is a pothead whose testimony can't be trusted.

Attached (6) is Abhays testimony from trial (attached 4 pages 70-71) is a fraudulent attempt to deny he knew about the
Daycares. Schweitzer and McElfresh knew when they prepared the appeal that Magagna's location did not qualify, but
they left that out of the appeal. The SDMC that prohibits daycares within 1,000 feet daycares. They both knowingly failed
to do so at the public hearings even when someone mentioned the daycares at the public hearing.

Attorney Michael Weinstein: bad move trying to inflate Geraci's damages to cover up his bribes to corrupt City officials
that you could not put in the public record.

Attached is a site map report commissioned from Title Pro showing the two day care centers being within 1,000 feet of
the 6220 property! The City knew about the two daycare because someone raised it at the public hearing. Attorney
Phelps for the City is not stupid, he is just as guilty by not raising these issues to the courts attention by not speaking up,
helping a crime be committed in an attempt to cover up the City's corrupt actions in this matter. What a coincidence the
City filed a forfeiture action on my property a month after Geraci files a lawsuit, then makes me an offer which | did not
know at the time made me legally ineligible to own an interest in a MO CUP.

Attorney Michael Phelps: You are perhaps my greatest disappointment in all of this. Scumbag attorneys like Austin,
McElfresh and Weinstein are to be expected, but | reviewed my emails with you and it's obvious to me you knew Geraci's
case was frivolous, so when | communicated | was being threatened you should have told the judges that there was a
high likelihood that it was Geraci and his agents! You let them take violent actions against me, my family, and people
close to me - | am going to make it my goal to report all my communications with you to the state bar when this is over so
that after their crimes are proven, it will be clear that you have a callous disregard for the safety and lives of innocent
individuals, not just my own, and you lose your law license. Wohlfeil may be an idiot, but you are a malicious individual
that is not fit for the job you hold.

It offends deeply that you sat at my trial the entire time as a "public servant” when you were there helping Geraci defraud
me of my property using the courts. | rank you third in unethical despicable attorneys only behind McElfresh and Demian.

It was not until after trial that my attorney Andrew Flores came to the full realization you were all conspiring against me
and he could prove it, he is the real owner of the 6220 MO CUP. He found the evidence of McElfresh in the damages
receipts submitted by Geraci at trial. That was the first time we reviewed FTB's actions and realized it is not that FTB is
stupid, it is that that they they are corrupt. | went to McElfresh, a co-conspirator of Austin, for legal representation,
and she referred me to FTB. One unlucky decision that has led to all this shit.

6220 Property Owner John Ek, As you know | reached out to you is a series of phone calls and emails back in May
2018 to warn you about the litigation going on between Geraci and myself and the suspicious nature that Aaron Magagna
had contacted you and began a competing CUP application on your property. I've broken down the hearing and approval
process that occurred for The Magagna/DSD 6220 CUP Approval Process for you to consider in greater detail. The only
reason I'm taking the time to bring you up to speed on this is because | HAVE known you for better that 20 years and in
my heart of hearts want to believe you are not actively participating in this scheme with these people.

Bianca Martinez, | have our messages and so does Joe about how Geraci promised you 10% in the CUP at my property
then he screwed you. | know you have already spoken with Geraci and his attorneys, Andrew says there is no way you
sent those messages about needing a "green light" to engage in settlement discussions unless you were coached by an
attorney. And unless you told them that Joe was seeing Dr. Ploesser how else would they know to ask him if he had seen
him? You are low, disclosing someone else's mental health to get what you want. | am just letting you know that if you
deny those allegations, | am going to subpoena Matt and he will not lie for you and he knows how Bartell sexually
harassed you, how Geraci screwed you over the 10%. If you lie, | will name you as a defendant as well AND subpoena
your boyfriend Matt. There is no way he is going to risk committing perjury and ratifying a criminal conspiracy by denying
you have made those statements for years. If he does, | will name him as a defendant too and see if he is willing to help
you cover up your lies on the stand in federal court.

Attorney Natalie Nguyen: As you've already been made aware, | filed the TRO today. Note that in relief for prayer | am
going to name you in my amended complaint. You knew | NEEDED Young's testimony, you PROMISED to provide it, then
you just VIOLATED ethical duties to the court and ignored emails from my attorneys while you made time for Young to
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move out of the city so we could not serve her and compel her to testify. This was after you unilaterally canceled two
depositions without consent. That makes you a criminal. My attorney Jake Austin has all your emails attachment (7) lined
up and that you are helping deny me equal protection of the laws by obstructing justice does not get any clearer.

| DARE YOU TO RESPOND TO THIS EMAIL AND SAY THAT YOU NEVER PROMISED TO PROVIDE YOUNG'S
TESTIMONY REGARDING MAGAGNA'S THREATS TO YOUNG.

With the exception of Andrew and Jorge, you are all disgraces as attorneys that are the main reasons why everyone
hates attorneys. You will literally allow the lives of families of innocent individuals to be threatened by Geraci and his gang
of thugs rather than do what is right.

In closing | want everyone to know there is no situation where | ever give up. You are all attorneys so you should
understand this: Emperor Wohlfeil acted in excess of his jurisdiction by issuing a judgment that enforces an illegal
contract. It is void. Any and all orders issued pursuant to that judgment are void. Res Judicata will NEVER apply no
matter how many lawsuits are brought and denied by the inept Judge Wohlfeil. Sooner or later, me, Andrew, or someone
else will get the federal court to look at this substantively and you can't rely on an order from a biased judge that is void
on its face to justify your action or failure to take action when you knew my civil rights were being violated.

Attached as Exhibit 8 is an image | commissioned from Title Pro showing that 6220 is within 1,000 feet of two daycares.
Someone at the City is corrupt - the City did not accidentally approve a marijuana business! By now | hope you all
realize that | will not rest until | am vindicated which means you are all going to be exposed sooner or later.

Darryl Cotton

8 attachments

ﬂ 1) McElfresh Deferred Prosecution Agreement.pdf

166K
ﬂ 2) Geraci Answer to Federal Complaint.pdf
89K
ﬂ 3) 06-10-19-Settlement-Offer-2.pdf
320K
ﬂ 4) TECHNE BILLING STATEMENTS Ex 147-059.pdf
2717K
ﬂ 5) 05-27-18-Shapiro-emails.pdf
328K
ﬂ 6) SCHWEITZER TESTIMONY re RADIUS CK pages 70-71.pdf
940K
ﬂ 7) Nguyen-emails.pdf
846K
ﬂ 8) Title Pro 6176 Image-8-09-19.pdf
232K
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I " I Gmall Darryl Cotton <indagrodarryl@gmail.com>
Re:
Darryl Cotton <indagrodarryl@gmail.com> Fri, May 29, 2020 at 1:26 PM

To: Ken.Feldman@lewisbrisbois.com, "mphelps (mphelps@sandiego.gov)" <MPhelps@sandiego.gov>,
"David S. Demian" <ddemian@ftblaw.com>, "Austin, Gina" <gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com>, JOHNS
CRANE - John Ek <johnek@aol.com>, akohn@pettitkohn.com, Natalie Nguyen
<natalie@nguyenlawcorp.com>

Cc: aferris@ferrisbritton.com, "Rishi S. Bhatt" <rbhatt@ftblaw.com>, "Adam C. Witt" <awitt@ftblaw.com>,
Jake Austin <jacobaustinesq@gmail.com>, Andrew Flores <afloreslaw@gmail.com>,
CynthiaM@vanstlaw.com, corina.young@live.com, biancaaimeemartinez@gmail.com, "Hoy, Cheri"
<choy@sandiego.gov>, "Sokolowski, Michelle" <msokolowski@sandiego.gov>, ekulas@ferrisbritton.com,
dbarker@ferrisbritton.com, jorge.delportillo@sdcda.org, gbraun@sandiego.gov, Joe Hurtado
<j.hurtado1@gmail.com>, pfinch@ftblaw.com, "Jason R. Thornton" <jthornton@ftblaw.com>,
jpaird@ftblaw.com, stoothacre@ferrisbritton.com, matthew@shapiro.legal, "Tirandazi, Firouzeh"
<FTirandazi@sandiego.gov>, Cherlyn Cac <Ccac@sandiego.gov>, Abhay Schweitzer <abhay@techne-
us.com>, jim@bartellassociates.com, jessica@mcelfreshlaw.com, Chris Williams <Chris@xmgmedia.com>,
edeitz@grsm.com, tdupuy@gordonrees.com, dpettit@pettitkohn.com, jdalzell@pettitkohn.com,
feldman@Ibbslaw.com, Tim.Vandenheuvel@doj.ca.gov, oomordia@sandiego.gov,
jhemmerling@sandiego.gov, mskeels@sandiego.gov, cityattorney@sandiego.gov, jgsandiego@yahoo.com,
ncarnahan@chulavistaca.gov, Cynthiam@vanstlaw.com, aclaybon@messner.com,
arden@austinlegalgroup.com, Quintin Shammam <quintin@shammamlaw.com>,
steve.cline@sdcounty.ca.gov, crosby@crosbyattorney.com, Robert Bryson Il <rtbrysonlaw@gmail.com>,
dharmim@dmehtalaw.com, elyssakulas@gmail.com, Ken Malbrough <kmalbrough@att.net>, Amy Sherlock
<amyjosherlock@gmail.com>, Kym Kemp <mskymkemp@gmail.com>

All;

It may not be considered sound legal advice to communicate with the parties I'm in litigation with but I’'m not an
attorney and although I've requested court appointed counsel it has been denied. | don’t have the means to hire
an attorney so | will continue to take these matters on as a self-represented litigant until I've exhausted every
avenue available to me in my attempts to find justice.

Today is my 60th birthday. This gives me time to reflect. It has now been 3.5 years when on November 2, 2016, |
signed a 3 sentence document (See A achment 1) with Larry Geraci that in my mind was meant to acknowledge
receipt of a $10K cash deposit he was giving me that day while | awaited what Geraci had promised would be a
final written contract that his attorney, Gina Austin was in the process of preparing which would memorialize our
discussions and our oral agreements for the sale of my property and the joint venture terms as it related to Geraci
acquiring a City of San Diego Cannabis License and what was to be my interest in that joint venture.

Most everyone reading this email knows that within hours of my having signed that document, Geraci emails at
3:11 pm that signed and notarized document as an attachment which he titles “Cotton-Geraci Contract”. Geraci
describing that document as a “Contract” between us bothered me to the extent that | replied to his email that
same day @ 6:55 pm to request that he acknowledge in a reply to my email that the document we signed earlier
that day was not the final expression of our contract as | put it in my email; “in any final agreement” would contain
but in the 11/02/16 document did not. His response to my email came back hours later when at 9:13 pm, he
replied with “No no problem at all” (See A achment 2). At that time and with his response, | had every reason to
believe Geraci, being a busy guy, was working on having Gina Austin reduce the terms and conditions to written
form as had been agreed to. This is the essence of the litigation as it pertains to Geraci and me.

The arrogance of what has occurred since then with the way the law and courts have been used as a sword to deny
me of my rights is an unprecedented abuse of the power. It is my intention to see these abuses exposed. The
majority of you receiving this email are attorneys and as officers of the court should be ashamed of yourself. You
have knowingly conspired to deny the fact that there was NEVER mutual consent between Geraci and myself. The
document | signed on 11/02/16 was NOT, as the March 21, 2017 Geraci lawsuit against me claims, a fully
integrated contract with all the terms and conditions contained within and as | came to find out later, Geraci was,
as a result of his past sanctions for operating unlicensed marijuana dispensaries, ineligible to own a cannabis
license which makes ANY agreement we would have entered into illegal anyway!

https://mail.google.com/maiI/u/0?ik=5050bcf73f&view=pt&searcg=a?&lplelr£$nls!;§=]§1‘slg{-;’;!32r]7790404977336833872&simpI=msg-a%3Ar-77904049... 117
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The Geraci lawsuit was a sham lawsuit that his counsel skillfully kept alive with an inept and corrupt judge who
should not be on the bench. Judge Wohlfeil allowed this case to go on to trial and presented to a jury a question of
law not of disputed facts. Clearly, with the relative legal simplicity of the matter being described, | cannot get
justice at the state court level so it will be up to the federal courts to be the final adjudicator of the facts.

It’s now been 5 months since my Christmas Eve email was sent to you all. With today’s birthday email | am
expanding the list of recipients to include other attorneys who had a relationship with this case and who also
neglected to perform their duties to me and the courts. This correspondence is meant to provide you with an
update as to what has been occurring since the Christmas email so that at some point in the future you will not be
able claim you were unaware of these developments.

One of my previous attorney’s in the Geraci v Cotton matter was Andrew Flores. While representing me, Flores
became intimately familiar with my case and formed the opinion that Geraci and his attorneys engaged in filing a
sham lawsuit that had no legal merit. Flores was so resolute in his belief that when the opportunity came to
purchase my property so that he could pursue a cannabis license he did so. As the new owner of my property,
Flores had a right to be heard during the state court matter but Judge Wohlfiel denied him that right stating that
Flores did not have standing, Whatever. I’'m not surprised by anything Judge Wohlfeil says since hes an imbecile.
However, Flores did not let that ruling stop him from filing a complaint in federal court that in addition to mine,
lays out in proper legal form, what he has suffered as a result of the Geraci litigation. | have attached a copy of the
Flores complaint for your review (See A achment 3). What | lack as a Pro Se litigant, Flores and his co-plaintiffs
have provided the courts with a less emotional rendering of what is at stake here. DO NOT LATER CLAIM YOU WERE
NOT PROVIDED THE FACTS. THE FLORES COMPLAINT MAKE CITATIONS TO THE JUDICIAL AND EVIDENTIARY
ADMISSIONS MADE BY GERACI AND HIS ATTORNEYS.

To Petit Kohn, | received your second attempt yesterday to see my federal case dismissed against your client Gina
Austin. You have not integrity or ethics, you are literally crack whores that will do anything for money, including
seeking to destroy my life. One way or another, | will make sure you are exposed. You are breaking the law to ruin
my life. Whatever you are getting paid to defend Austin, a drug dealer, won’t be worth what you will pay when
Petit Kohn is exposed as an unethical firm.

In my First Amended Complaint (See A achment 4) it is now the second time Petit Kohn is seeking to dismiss my
case but in doing so they completely ignore the fact that their client, Gina Austin lied on the stand and said it was
not illegal for Geraci to submit an application for a cannabis license with the City under fraudulent pretenses and
testify it is not illegal to do so. Which, along the same lines, leads me to another deplorable human being, Deputy
City Attorney Michael Phelps, who will have to testify under oath as to why the City of San Diego had no obligation
in enforcing its own cannabis regulations or even just basic SDMC requirements that CUP applications not be
submitted with false information. How many innocent people’s lives have these attorneys allowed to be destroyed
in violation of the oath they took? Do you even remember that oath? Probably just words on a piece of paper like
the rest of the unethical attorneys here.

To be clear, any attorney or firm that has made the conscience decision to break the law or protect their client who
has broken the law, will be named as a defendant and if | have anything to say about it will be sanctioned and you
will lose your law license. Nothing short of that will be justice.

Over the course of the last 5 months | have had conversations with the FBI and DOJ attorneys as it relates to both
the Flores case and mine. There have been other local governments that have engaged in pay to play cannabis
licensing schemes that are very similar in scope as to what my case represents. They are looking at both of our
cases as it relates to criminal conduct that arises from Continuing Criminal Enterprises conduct that has become
prevalent in the acquisition of these licenses with the latest case | can cite to having happened in Calexico, CA, (See
A achment 5), whereby the mayor and a councilman have been brought up on bribery charges for doing the exact
same thing that has happened to me in the processing of the Geraci CUP application and which | now have three
years’ worth of evidence, trial transcripts and depositions to support my claims. To be clear, | will willingly assist
any agency (See A achment 6) in exposing the corruption that exists amongst lawyers, lobbyists and/or local and
state government when it comes to how these licenses are illegally procured.

| really am astonished at how such a tiny little property like mine and a relatively simply business transaction has
resulted in where we find ourselves today. Don’t lay the blame on me for where we're at today. Blame Geraci and
all those who were in on this fraud. | have absolutely no choice to defend my legal rights as failure is not an option
as a failure would be leaving me with nothing to show after a lifetimes work. | am not, nor have | ever been, the
source of your problems.

On Tue, Dec 24, 2019 at 2:29 PM Darryl Cotton <indagrodarryl@gmail.com> wrote:
I am sending this email on Christmas Eve to let everyone know that this past year, like the year before
and the year before that, has been another one full of crushing personal and professional hardship for
me brought on by the litigation and conspiracies you've all played a part in the theft of my property and

IfellSER-
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the Fraud Upon the Court which you all, to some degree or another, have played a part in. If you are
receiving this email it's because you should know that yesterday | filed an Ex Parte motion to unstay

my Pro Se complaint in federal court

Case No: 18-cv-0325-GPC-MDD and look to have what you have all been a party to presented to a

competent judge.

So while you all enjoy your Christmas with your friends, family and colleagues and welcome in the New
Year, rest assured | will not be doing so. What you have subjected me to has cost me, in addition to a
$261K judgement | now owe Geraci on a sham lawsuit, everything | have ever held dear to me as
people | have known and loved abandoned me over what they have come to decide has been my error
in judgement. My failure to make a deal. My failure to read the tea leaves and as shown in this
Flowchart | created, Geraci v Cotton Flowchart my failure to bend to superior forces. What | have
expected them to believe and rely on is not only extraordinary it is, if you hadn't experienced it
firsthand, unbelievable so | guess | can't really blame them for giving up on me. But | can blame
everyone who has received this email for what's happened to me and for that | want you to be aware of
the following;

Attorney Kenneth Feldman; | have been told today that it is impossible for you to be as unethical
every other attorney included in this email (except DA Jorge DelPortillo). Let me break down the
conspiracy for you, it begins and ends with attorney Jessica McElfresh, who emailed her client about
how she was obstructing justice and got charged with obstruction of justice. She had to enter a plea
agreement, see attachment (1), with District Attorney Jorge DelPortillo, cc'ed herein that specifically
would have prevented her from representing Geraci in the 6220 appeal, yet she did so anyway.

| first went to McElfresh to defend me in the suit against Geraci, not knowing she was a co-conspirator
of Austin. | PAID for her services, | have the billing statements. She referred me to David Demian of
Finch, Thornton & Baird, who along with McElfresh, are the two most corrupt and reprehensible
individuals that stand out even among a vile group of violent criminals and deceitful professionals who
violate their fiduciary duties to their clients and the courts.

BOTH OF THEM WERE MY ATTORNEYS IN REPRESENTING ME AGAINST GERACI!

Demian never told me he had shared client's with Geraci's firm, Tax & Financial Center, Inc. Any doubt
about Demian being deceitful and corrupt has been stripped away by his actions when he represented
me. All you have to do is review my pro se complaint against Geraci and Berry and compare it to the
first and second amended complaints filed by FTB on my behalf! Without authorization Demian
dropped the conspiracy charge against Geraci and Berry and he also dropped the allegations that
Geraci cannot own a marijuana CUP because he had previously been sanctioned for illegal activity.
Only an attorney seeking to sabotage his case would have dropped those allegations, they are case
dispositive and he cannot come up with any evidence to rationalize those actions! Geraci and Berry
both testified to those very facts at trial.

Demian also sent me an email saying | "should" say that Geraci was acting as my agent when he
submitted the CUP on my property without disclosing his or my interest in the property and he did so in
Berry's name without disclosing Geraci's name.

Demian | will not settle with you under any conditions and there will be a day where you will be on the
stand along with your criminal associates who aided and abetted you in this scheme, Witt and Bhatt will
also be held accountable. As well as the other Partners at FTB who knew about what was going on
and helped you cover it up by hiring Feldman. You all have had your chances to come clear and chose
not to. Wherever you go for the rest of your careers | will make sure everyone you work with knows
that you are the type of attorneys that conspire against their own clients and lack the integrity and
morals. You are exponentially worse than the criminals you protect, you literally pervert the justice
system and make it impossible for normal people to use the justice system to achieve justice.

Contrary to Austin's testimony at trial, it is not legal for Geraci to own a MO CUP - the only reason they
got away with it is because Judge Wohlfeil is the Forrest Gump of state judges, who based on his
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limited intellect is being paid far beyond what he is worth at $167K annum salary. Mr. Feldman, you
pay your first year associates more than he makes after 30 years of practicing law. By the time this is
over, he will be revealed for the true puppet he is being played by Weinstein and to stupid to know it.
You know you cannot rely on a judges order when you know it was procured by fraud.

I can not forgive Wohlfeil for what he put me, my and my family through as a result of his
incompetence. I'm not even a lawyer and | know that a contract requires MUTUAL ASSENT and a
LAWFUL OBJECT! Weinstein made Wohlfeil look like a puppet dancing on his strings, too dumb to
even understand what was going on in front of him. He's a disgrace of a judge. | wonder how many
innocent people Wohlfeil screwed over by his incompetence because he was played by smarter
attorneys like Weinstein? It is a truly depressing thought.

Feldman, you filed a motion to dismiss that you knew was helping hide FTB's malicious acts of
conspiring against their own client! You teach classes on ethics, if you fail to do the ethical action
immediately and inform Judge Curiel, | am naming you personally in my amended complaint. Pursuant
to 42 USC Section 1986. Your failure to act is evidence of your guilt.

| would also ask you to keep in mind that Ferris & Briton is a cesspool of legal 'professionals' that exists
for aiding their unethical clients who want to take unethical actions and is corrupt all the way through
from their managing partner, Weinstein, to their "l was forced to take part in a malicious prosecution
action by Weinstein" associates Toothacre and Kulas, their deceitful paralegal Debra Barker, who
falsified proofs of service to break the attorney-client privilege with my attorneys, to even their scumbag
client, attorney James Crosby.

Feldman, don't you think it is strange that Geraci's counsel before Judge Curiel, the only attorney
STUPID enough enough to file an Answer, is a solo practitioner who works in the same building as
Ferris & Briton and is their former client for whom they got a judgement in the hundreds of thousands of
dollars! Here see attachment (2) Crosby's federal answer. Only someone that F&B had leverage over
would be stupid enough to file an Answer in the federal action when the MSJ in state court was
pending and NOT assert fraud or mistake as an affirmative defense. Crosby is the stupidest attorney
among all the attorneys here - the idiot perpetuated a fraud upon Judge Curiel, | can't wait to see him
try to explain, the way Weinstein does, that it is a "coincidence" that Geraci hired him or some other
reason for why Geraci's allegations of November 3, 2016, don't constitute affirmative defenses of fraud
or mistake.

Berry submitted the CUP as part of a fraudulent scheme by not disclosing Geraci as the true owner of
the CUP being sought - she testified to this in open court. Geraci has been sanctioned. Austin testified
that it is legal for Geraci to have a CUP. But if that was true, Demian would not have dropped those
allegations from my complaint. And McElfresh, if not a scumbag attorney that destroys lives, would not
have represented Geraci in the appeal and she would have raised the daycares in the appeal. But she
did not. Neither did Abhay, because it was a sham appeal to make it look like Geraci wanted
Magagna's CUP denied, when in reality he needed it denied to mitigate his damages to me by millions!
McElresh is simply a criminal and shes going to go to jail now that there is evidence she breached her
plea agreement. Unless the City wants to cover this up and allows her to knowingly break the law and
not hold her accountable in an effort to sweep all this underneath the rug. Whoever gives those orders
at the City is probably the corrupt individual at the City behind the scenes.

Attachment (3) is a settlement offer from Ferris & Britton AFTER Emperor Wohlfeil denied my MSJ.
Any reasonable attorney right now would know that having just defeated an MSJ, saying that it is
‘economical’ to transfer the whole case to federal court makes no sense! You get your judgement in
state court and then you raise Res Judicata in federal court. You don't go through the time and cost of
discovery all over again in federal court.

Gina Austin:

At trial you called Joe a liar, but Chris Williams knows that you spoke with him at his event and that you
confirmed the November Document is not a sales contract. Joe and Chris, | am sorry about calling you
out on this, but | am not going to stand by and do nothing and you both have testimony | need and
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that proves Austin committed perjury when she said she would not speak to Joe at your Chris's event
because of attorney-client privilege. There is no privilege as there was no litigation at that time, but
even if there was, she broke it by discussing it with both of you. And Chris, you hired Austin to speak at
that event and she was your attorney and so was Abhay, so your testimony is going to make it clear
that Austin is perjuring herself as well as Abhay.

Attorney Matt Shapiro: | have proof you sell weed for Magagna. Magagna threatened Corina
Young because she knows that you sell weed for him. Nguyen, Young's attorney, PROMISED to
provide Young's testimony that Magagna had threatened her and that Bartell was going to get the CUP
at my property denied by the City. Magagna has been represented by Austin AND Abhay Schweitzer
(Geraci's Point for the CUP Contract at my 6176 proerty) on the 6220 Federal Blvd. - attached (4) Ex
147-059 are Abhay's (TECHNE) own billing statements which shows he researched the Cuddles Day
academy and absolutely knew they were located within 1,000 feet of the two daycares.

Attachment (5) are the emails between Shapiro and Jake showing what a duplicitous individual
Shapiro is when he admits that he lied about working for Magagna, and then when he realized he could
not cover up the lie, began to assassinate his clients character with statements to Jake that Young is a
pothead whose testimony can't be trusted.

Attached (6) is Abhays testimony from trial (attached 4 pages 70-71) is a fraudulent attempt to deny
he knew about the Daycares. Schweitzer and McElfresh knew when they prepared the appeal that
Magagna's location did not qualify, but they left that out of the appeal. The SDMC that prohibits
daycares within 1,000 feet daycares. They both knowingly failed to do so at the public hearings even
when someone mentioned the daycares at the public hearing.

Attorney Michael Weinstein: bad move trying to inflate Geraci's damages to cover up his bribes to
corrupt City officials that you could not put in the public record.

Attached is a site map report commissioned from Title Pro showing the two day care centers being
within 1,000 feet of the 6220 property! The City knew about the two daycare because someone raised
it at the public hearing. Attorney Phelps for the City is not stupid, he is just as guilty by not raising these
issues to the courts attention by not speaking up, helping a crime be committed in an attempt to cover
up the City's corrupt actions in this matter. What a coincidence the City filed a forfeiture action on my
property a month after Geraci files a lawsuit, then makes me an offer which | did not know at the time
made me legally ineligible to own an interest in a MO CUP.

Attorney Michael Phelps: You are perhaps my greatest disappointment in all of this. Scumbag
attorneys like Austin, McElfresh and Weinstein are to be expected, but | reviewed my emails with you
and it's obvious to me you knew Geraci's case was frivolous, so when | communicated | was being
threatened you should have told the judges that there was a high likelihood that it was Geraci and his
agents! You let them take violent actions against me, my family, and people close to me - | am going to
make it my goal to report all my communications with you to the state bar when this is over so that after
their crimes are proven, it will be clear that you have a callous disregard for the safety and lives of
innocent individuals, not just my own, and you lose your law license. Wohlfeil may be an idiot, but you
are a malicious individual that is not fit for the job you hold.

It offends deeply that you sat at my trial the entire time as a "public servant" when you were there
helping Geraci defraud me of my property using the courts. | rank you third in unethical despicable
attorneys only behind McElfresh and Demian.

It was not until after trial that my attorney Andrew Flores came to the full realization you were all
conspiring against me and he could prove it, he is the real owner of the 6220 MO CUP. He found the
evidence of McElfresh in the damages receipts submitted by Geraci at trial. That was the first time we
reviewed FTB's actions and realized it is not that FTB is stupid, it is that that they they are corrupt. |
went to McElfresh, a co-conspirator of Austin, for legal representation, and she referred me to
FTB. One unlucky decision that has led to all this shit.
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6220 Property Owner John Ek, As you know | reached out to you is a series of phone calls and
emails back in May 2018 to warn you about the litigation going on between Geraci and myself and the
suspicious nature that Aaron Magagna had contacted you and began a competing CUP application on
your property. I've broken down the hearing and approval process that occurred for The
Magagna/DSD 6220 CUP Approval Process for you to consider in greater detail. The only reason I'm
taking the time to bring you up to speed on this is because | HAVE known you for better that 20 years
and in my heart of hearts want to believe you are not actively participating in this scheme with these
people.

Bianca Martinez, | have our messages and so does Joe about how Geraci promised you 10% in the
CUP at my property then he screwed you. | know you have already spoken with Geraci and his
attorneys, Andrew says there is no way you sent those messages about needing a "green light" to
engage in settlement discussions unless you were coached by an attorney. And unless you told them
that Joe was seeing Dr. Ploesser how else would they know to ask him if he had seen him? You are
low, disclosing someone else's mental health to get what you want. | am just letting you know that if
you deny those allegations, | am going to subpoena Matt and he will not lie for you and he knows how
Bartell sexually harassed you, how Geraci screwed you over the 10%. If you lie, | will name you as a
defendant as well AND subpoena your boyfriend Matt. There is no way he is going to risk committing
perjury and ratifying a criminal conspiracy by denying you have made those statements for years. If he
does, | will name him as a defendant too and see if he is willing to help you cover up your lies on the
stand in federal court.

Attorney Natalie Nguyen: As you've already been made aware, | filed the TRO today. Note that in
relief for prayer | am going to name you in my amended complaint. You knew | NEEDED Young's
testimony, you PROMISED to provide it, then you just VIOLATED ethical duties to the court and
ignored emails from my attorneys while you made time for Young to move out of the city so we could
not serve her and compel her to testify. This was after you unilaterally canceled two depositions without
consent. That makes you a criminal. My attorney Jake Austin has all your emails attachment (7) lined
up and that you are helping deny me equal protection of the laws by obstructing justice does not get
any clearer.

| DARE YOU TO RESPOND TO THIS EMAIL AND SAY THAT YOU NEVER PROMISED TO
PROVIDE YOUNG'S TESTIMONY REGARDING MAGAGNA'S THREATS TO YOUNG.

With the exception of Andrew and Jorge, you are all disgraces as attorneys that are the main reasons
why everyone hates attorneys. You will literally allow the lives of families of innocent individuals to be
threatened by Geraci and his gang of thugs rather than do what is right.

In closing | want everyone to know there is no situation where | ever give up. You are all attorneys so
you should understand this: Emperor Wohlfeil acted in excess of his jurisdiction by issuing a judgment
that enforces an illegal contract. It is void. Any and all orders issued pursuant to that judgment are void.
Res Judicata will NEVER apply no matter how many lawsuits are brought and denied by the inept
Judge Wohlfeil. Sooner or later, me, Andrew, or someone else will get the federal court to look at this
substantively and you can't rely on an order from a biased judge that is void on its face to justify your
action or failure to take action when you knew my civil rights were being violated.

Attached as Exhibit 8 is an image | commissioned from Title Pro showing that 6220 is within 1,000 feet
of two daycares. Someone at the City is corrupt - the City did not accidentally approve a marijuana
business! By now | hope you all realize that | will not rest until | am vindicated which means you are
all going to be exposed sooner or later.

Darryl Cotton

IfellSER-,
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6 attachments

= (1) The November Document.pdf

366K

9 (2) Confirmation Email.pdf
447K

= (3) Flores v Austin et al .pdf
2293K

9 (4) Cotton v Geraci et al First Amendeded Complaint.pdf
1394K

= (5) USA v Romero and Suarez-Soto.pdf
258K

9 (6) USA v Razuki Witness List.pdf
157K
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